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KEY FINANCIAL AND OPERATION SUMMARY

Financial Summary

2016 2015 Change

HK$’000 HK$’000

(Restated)

Results

Turnover 4,061,024 5,231,023 –22.4%

Gross profit 2,135,894 2,937,657 –27.3%

EBITDA(Note 1) 3,043,694 4,073,152 –25.3%

Profit/(loss) for the year 960,353 (2,950,620) N/A

Profit/(loss) attributable to owners of the Company 965,008 (2,943,674) N/A

Basic earnings/(loss) per share (HK cents) 4.90 (17.43) N/A

Key items in Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

Equity attributable to owners of the Company 10,400,217 6,811,894 +52.7%

Total assets 15,496,639 13,713,810 +13.0%

Net assets 10,423,544 6,841,609 +52.4%
    

Operation Summary

Pakistan Assets 2016 2015 Change

Operation

Average Daily Net Production (boed) 64,252 64,464 –0.3%

Oil & Liquids Ratio(Note 2) 10.8% 22.4% –11.6%

Reserve

Net 1P Reserve at the year end (mmboe) 95.6 95.0 +0.6%

Net 1P Reserve Replacement Ratio 102% 146% –44%

Exploration & Development Activity

Rig Workovers 10 8 +25.0%

Exploration wells 17 24 –29.2%

Development wells 9 7 +28.6%
    

Notes:

1. EBITDA represents the profit before finance costs, income tax expense, depreciation and amortisation, impairment and written off losses on 
intangible assets and property, plant and equipment, allowance for trade and other receivables, reversal of allowance for other receivables, gain/
loss on disposals of property, plant and equipment, gain on disposal of subsidiaries and loss for the year from discontinued operation.

2. Oil & Liquids including Crude Oil, Condensate & LPG.





CHAIRMAN’S 
STATEMENT



6 UNITED ENERGY GROUP LIMITED

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

Year 2016 was stunned by scenes of political turbulence around the globe. We have seen the rise of several 
unexpected leaders from the world’s most influential economies and they were often associated with big waves in 
the global financial markets on their occurrence. After all, people’s desire for changes was the driving force behind 
these outcomes, but they gave place to a new normal phenomenon which often overturned past convention. United 
Energy Group Limited (“United Energy” or the “Company”, and together with its subsidiaries collectively “the 
Group”) is an entity that always thinks beyond conventional realm, we must always revolve to get on top of the ever-
changing commercial environment.

2016 Results Review
The upstream oil and gas sector encountered significant headwinds in 2016 caused by the downswing of 
international oil prices. United Energy has navigated through these headwinds with the bearing in mind of 
sustainable investment principles. The Group recorded net profit attributable to owners of the company for the year 
ended 31 December 2016 (the “reporting period”) of approximately HK$965,008,000, compared to a net loss of 
approximately HK$2,943,674,000 for the year ended 31 December 2015 (“last year”). The turnaround of financial 
performance in 2016 was due to significantly lower impairment and written off losses as opposed to last year.
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Chairman’s Statement (Continued)

The slide of oil price has made a dent on turnover of the Group for the reporting period, declined by 22.4% to 
approximately HK$4,061,024,000. This corresponded to 16.8% decline in the average Brent oil price for the same 
comparative period. In addition, the increase in production mix of natural gas which had lower average selling price 
per barrel of oil equivalent (“boe”) has resulted in lower revenue. To tackle the impact of low oil price environment, 
the Group has maintained stable production and successfully implemented efficiency improvement and cost 
optimization which have resulted in saving on both operating expenses and capital costs.

In spite of the widespread hardship encountered by the whole industry, the Group has demonstrated its resilience 
and delivered strong net cash generated from operating activities of approximately HK$3,023,408,000 and a 
healthy EBITDA of approximately HK$3,043,694,000. Our financial position was further strengthened by the open 
offer that was completed in August 2016 where the Group successfully raised net proceeds of approximately 
HK$2,584,098,000 from equity (“Open Offer”). Part of the net proceeds has been applied towards the repayment of 
mature borrowings during the reporting period to bring down indebtedness in light of rising interest costs.

Pakistan Assets – the Resilient Operation Unit
The average daily net production of Pakistan Assets for the reporting period was in line with our targeted range of 
62,000 to 66,000 boe, though slightly lower than Last Year. The Composite Average Sales Price Before Government 
Take was US$24.9 per boe, decreased by 22.7% compared to last year. The oil and liquid ratio has further declined 
to 10.8% as more gas was produced from our MKK blocks. Net 1P reserve added during the reporting period was 
approximately 24.1 mmboe, representing a net 1P reserve replacement ratio of approximately 102%.

Being a leading investor in the upstream oil and gas sector in Pakistan, the Group has over the past 5 years invested 
the most capital in exploration drilling and which in turn rendered the Group an accelerated production growth rate 
that is far outpacing our peers in the local market. Year 2016 marked an important milestone as the Group embarked 
on a paradigm shift of exploration strategy transitioning from conventional structure to technically challenging, 
high-risked stratigraphic pools. During the reporting period, we drilled a total of 26 wells in Badin and MKK blocks, 
comprising 17 exploration wells and 9 development wells. As a result, we have made a few important discoveries 
and the learnings from these discoveries are useful for us to delineate our future exploration plan.

For surface work, we have installed a skid mounted amine plant with a capacity of 30 million cubic feet per day 
(“mmcfd”) at our existing Bukhari facility in Badin. This plant was built to process high CO2 gas from various Badin 
fields to ensure on-specification gas sales to our customer. In addition, the Group has commenced a LPG plant 
upgrade project in Naimat with an aim to increase its processing capacity from 50 to 100 mmcfd as well improving 
the recovery factor from ~50% to ~95% via the construction of a turbo expander. The revamped LPG plant is 
expected to complete in the second half of 2017.
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Chairman’s Statement (Continued)

Apart from investment in the exploration and development of our existing assets, we have been evaluating new 
business development opportunities to grow the business. During the reporting period, we have pursued an 
opportunity to farm in 50% working interest of the Kotri North block with Pakistan Petroleum Limited (“PPL”), a 
national oil company of Pakistan. The Kotri North block provides acreage of approximately 2,400 square kilometers 
and located adjacent to MKK block in the Sindh province. It provides exploration opportunities in the Lower Indus 
Basin where the Group has achieved significant success and developed a deep understanding and expertise. The 
Group will become operator of the block upon completion of the transaction.

Oilfield Supporting Services
International oil prices play an important role to the application of fireflood technology. The Group will closely 
monitor the potential business risk of abated demand under weak international oil prices and seek potential business 
cooperation.

Discontinued Business Segment – Liaohe EOR Project
The oil exploitation business segment has been operating under pressure amid low international oil prices. On 
20 May 2016, the Group received a notice from China National Petroleum Corporation (“CNPC”) confirming and 
agreeing to our proposed abandonment of the Liaohe EOR Project. We will continue to work with CNPC to finalize 
the terms of the abandonment agreement in accordance with the EOR Contract.
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Chairman’s Statement (Continued)

Health, Safety and Environment (HSE)
The Group remains steadfast to its values of which the 
commitment to HSE performance is a core principle. 
Our business is conducted in a safe, efficient manner 
with due regard to the interests of the diverse 
stakeholders involved and affected by operations. 
Compliance to HSE standards in the year 2016 was 
exemplary and all performance objectives were 
delivered. The Group continues to strive for excellence 
in HSE and other disciplines in order to comply with 
local as well as international standards.

Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR)
The Group take pride in operating as a responsible 
corporate citizen. We have invested in a vibrant Social 
Investment Programme because along with growing 
our business, we care deeply about the well-being of 
all our stakeholders, including the communities among 
which we operate. Our CSR projects focus on three 
strategic areas, including education, healthcare and 
capacity building for sustainable and enhanced income 
generation.

In 2016, our social investment projects continued 
to set new milestones. Schools were built in remote 
villages of interior Sindh in partnership with the 
celebrated NGO The Citizen Foundation. 2016 
witnessed the inauguration of a landmark health centre 
devoted to combating maternal and infant mortality 
and built a partnership with Aga Khan University. To 
boost female literacy rates in remote areas, we funded 
the construction of additional classrooms at a girls’ 
college in MKK. Dilapidated government schools 
received financing for much needed repairs. Through 
these interventions, we strive to enhance the living 
standards of the local communities and leave a positive 
legacy in the areas we work.
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Chairman’s Statement (Continued)

Outlook
Tremendous uncertainties are overhanging as we step into 2017. We see the emergence of trade protectionism and 
radical policies changes from some of the world’s leading economies which try to re-shape a new playing field for 
themselves, but intensifying tension with other nations. In addition, the hike of interest rate on US dollar borrowings 
is weighing on firms’ finance cost, especially if interest rate escalates too fast. While the Group’s operation is mainly 
located in South Asia, we have to take on a broader view to take into accounts of these risks elements alongside our 
expansion plan.

International oil prices have always been an exogenous risk factor for upstream operators that we have seen even 
some of the largest international oil companies are incapable of curtaining off the price slump in last year with their 
financial performance being substantially hindered. For the 2017 oil price outlook, following the implementation of 
supply cut by Organization of the Petroleum Exporting Countries (“OPEC”) and non-OPEC participating countries, 
and coupled with a high level of conformity in January 2017, it is very likely to support an average Brent oil price of 
above US$50 per boe if the high conformity level can be maintained. In addition, it is going to be a a new impetus 
for international oil price if the participating countries agree to further extend the supply cut period to the second 
half of 2017.

While we are unable to control an exogenous factor, the Group has delineated a clear plan to achieve our targets for 
2017. We target to maintain average daily net production in the range of 62,000 to 63,000 barrels of oil equivalent 
(“boe”). 1P reserve replacement ratio is projected to be about 100%. In order to achieve the production and reserve 
replacement ratio targets, the Group have identified a total of 32 drilling locations for the Pakistan operation in 
2017.

The demand for energy in Pakistan is expected to grow stronger on the backdrop of faster economic growth. 
Despite the government’s effort to close the supply gap deficit in recent years by increasing infrastructure for the 
import of liquefied natural gas (“LNG”), domestically produced natural gas has its absolute advantage comparing 
to imported LNG. The Group, being one of the largest independent producers in the country with over 80% of its 
proven reserve in natural gas, is in an advantageous position to capture this supply deficit.

Our 2017 exploration drilling campaign focuses on expanding the stratigraphic play and other new play types in the 
sands of Cretaceous age both in Badin and MKK blocks. The new play tests are essential for the Group to sustain our 
long-term growth strategies. We will ride on the past success and learning to target significant reserve adds especially 
through the stratigraphic plays. Upon completion of the Kotri North block transaction, we will roll out aggressive 
exploration plan including the drilling of 2 exploration wells in 2017.

The Group has clear merger and acquisition (“M&A”) principles and only targets selected high quality assets that 
suit our requirements. Riding on our successful M&A model in the past and the existing operation track record with 
the heritage of an international standard of HSE, experienced management and technical teams, the Group can 
rapidly replicate its past success in any new takeover. In 2017, more resources will be deployed to this area to seize 
suitable opportunities globally so as to broaden our asset portfolio.
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Chairman’s Statement (Continued)

Our M&A strategies are well supported by the strong cash reserve. As at 31 December 2016, the Group’s bank 
and cash balances amounted to approximately HK$5,850 million, an increase of 170.6% from last year. During the 
reporting period, the Group has significantly de-levered its financial position through repayment of the SGD100 
million medium term notes and several bank loans, thus bringing total borrowings down to HK$3,269 million as at 
31 December 2016, representing 28.6% decrease from last year.

In the past few years, United Energy’s rapid development in Pakistan not only made a contribution to alleviate the 
energy crisis in Pakistan, but also enhance friendship, economic cooperation and cultural exchange between China 
and Pakistan. Chinese government and Pakistan government highly valued and appreciated the important role of 
the Group in the economic cooperation between China and Pakistan and gave utmost support to the Group in 
terms of business development. The Group expands its success in the “China-Pakistan Economic Corridor” and to 
promote oil and gas projects to be incorporated in the corridor planning. The Group also searches for oil and gas 
exploration assets and other cooperative opportunities in Pakistan in order to create synergy to the overall business 
of the Group.

Riding on the “Belt and Road” strategic development of Chinese government, the Group targets on new oil and gas 
exploration and development projects in those countries covered by the “Belt and Road” policy, strive to accelerate 
business development and eye on new growth and in-depth regional cooperation opportunities. New acquisitions 
can also diverse geographical concentration of our assets and revenue base in order to achieve risk diversification. 
Nevertheless, profit contribution and growth opportunity remain to be the key elements in our evaluation process.

In 2016, volatile international oil prices and market conditions have affected the Group’s different business 
segments. Nonetheless, the Group has demonstrated its resilience and ability to navigate through these headwinds 
in a sustainable manner while maintaining a strong balance sheet with a healthy level of debt and liquidity. Looking 
into 2017, international oil prices are expected to recover if OPEC and non-OPEC countries continue to firmly 
comply with their supply cut commitment. The Group will maintain a stable production level and have a clear plan 
to invest in the Pakistan Assets to unlock its potentials. In addition, the Group has been actively evaluating and 
pursuing suitable opportunities to expand our asset portfolio to bring growth and sustainability to our shareholders. 
I, on behalf of the Board, would like to thank all the shareholders and investors for their continued support, in 
particular to the Open Offer that was completed in the end of August 2016. I would also like to extend my gratitude 
to all the employees for their hard work and contribution for the year past.

Zhang Hong Wei
Chairman
20 March 2017
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Financial Review
The Group reported a profit attributable to owners of the Company of approximately HK$965,008,000 for the year 
ended 31 December 2016 (the “reporting period”), compared to a net loss of approximately HK$2,943,674,000 
for the year ended 31 December 2015 (“last year”). The turnaround from net loss to net profit was mainly due 
to significantly lower impairment and written off losses during the reporting period as opposed to last year. The 
average net daily production of Pakistan Assets was approximately 64,252 barrels of oil equivalent (“boe”), declined 
slightly by 0.3% compared to last year.

Turnover

The Group’s turnover for the reporting period was approximately HK$4,061,024,000, representing a decrease of 
22.4% as compared with the turnover of approximately HK$5,231,023,000 (as restated) for last year. The decrease in 
turnover was mainly attributed to lower realized selling prices of oil and gas commodities.
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Notes: 

1.  Turnover represents sales after government take.

2.  UEG’s Pakistan operation in 2011 only covered the period from 16 September 2011 to 31 December 2011.

3.  Liaohe EOR Project was classified as discontinued operation. The turnover in 2015 and 2016 did not include turnover from Liaohe EOR Project (2015: HK$187 million; 
2016: HK$23 million).
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Cost of sales and services rendered

The Group’s cost of sales and services rendered decreased from approximately HK$2,293,366,000 (as restated) for 
last year to approximately HK$1,925,130,000 for the reporting period. The decrease in cost of sales and services 
rendered was contributed by the successful implementation of efficiency improvement and cost optimization 
measures which resulted in cost savings during the reporting period and the reduction in depreciation and 
amortization expenses contributed by the continuous improvement in drilling performance. The cost of sales and 
services rendered included depreciation and amortisation of approximately HK$1,361,510,000 (31 December 2015: 
approximately HK$1,587,902,000 (as restated)). The lifting cost, which is defined as the cost of sales excluding 
depreciation and amortization and sales expenses, of Pakistan Assets was further lowered to US$2.9 per boe (31 
December 2015: US$3.6 per boe).

Gross profit

The Group’s gross profit was approximately HK$2,135,894,000 (gross profit ratio 52.6%) which represented a 
decrease of 27.3% as compared with gross profit of approximately HK$2,937,657,000 (as restated) (gross profit 
ratio 56.2%) for last year. The decrease in gross profit was associated with weaker international oil price during the 
reporting period.

Exploration expenses

The Group’s exploration expenses for the reporting period was approximately HK$165,749,000 (31 December 2015: 
approximately HK$946,712,000) which was incurred mainly for geological and geophysical studies, expenses for 
surface use rights, obligatory expenses such as marine research and training as well as the cost of dry exploratory 
wells for Pakistan Assets. The decline in exploration expenses was attributed to lower written off losses arising from 
dry exploration wells in the Pakistan Assets during the reporting period.

Administrative expenses

The Group’s administrative expenses for the reporting period was approximately HK$380,401,000 (31 December 
2015: approximately HK$386,612,000 (as restated)), representing 9.4% (31 December 2015: 7.4%) of turnover.
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1. Lifting Cost represent cost of sales & services rendered excluding depreciation and amortization, sales expenses and government tax.

2. UEG’s Pakistan operation in 2011 only covered the period from 16 September 2011 to 31 December 2011.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Finance costs

The Group’s finance costs for the reporting period was approximately HK$232,447,000, representing 8.4% decrease 
compared with the finance costs of approximately HK$253,815,000 for last year. The decrease in finance costs was 
mainly due to lower total borrowings as compared to the corresponding period of last year. The average interest 
rate of borrowings for the reporting period was 5.69% (31 December 2015: 5.07%).

Income tax expense

The Group’s income tax expense for the reporting period was approximately HK$176,662,000 (31 December 
2015: approximately HK$117,429,000 (as restated)), representing an increase of 50.4% from last year, attributed to 
the decrease in tax losses available for offsetting the taxable income and the decrease in written off losses for tax 
deduction.

EBITDA

EBITDA represents the profit before finance costs, income tax expense, depreciation and amortization, impairment 
and written off losses on intangible assets and property, plant and equipment, allowances for trade and other 
receivables, reversal of allowance for other receivables, gain/loss on disposals of property, plant and equipment, 
gain on disposals of subsidiaries, and loss for the year from discontinued operation. It shall be noted that EBITDA 
is not a measure of operating performance or liquidity defined by generally accepted accounting principles and 
may not be comparable to similarly titled measures presented by other companies. The EBITDA for the reporting 
period was approximately HK$3,043,694,000, decreased by 25.3% from the corresponding period of last year of 
approximately HK$4,073,152,000 (as restated). The drop in EBITDA was mainly due to lower realized selling prices 
of oil and gas commodities.
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Note: 

1. EBITDA represents the profit before finance costs, income tax expense, depreciation and amortization, impairment and written off losses on intangible assets and 
property, plant and equipment, allowances for trade and other receivables, reversal of allowance for other receivables, gain/loss on disposals of property, plant and 
equipment, gain on disposal of subsidiaries and loss for the year from discontinued operation.

2. Others represent corporate and administrative expenses.

3. UEG’s Pakistan operation in 2011 only covered the period from 16 September 2011 to 31 December 2011.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Business Review
The Group is one of the largest independent upstream oil and gas corporations listed in Hong Kong, with business 
presence in South Asia. The Group is principally engaged in the investment and operation of upstream oil, natural 
gas and other energy related businesses. Leveraging on management’s extensive experience in the oil and gas 
exploration, the Group has successfully grown its business into one of the major players in the upstream oil and gas 
industry. Based on the latest available information gathered by the Group, the Group is ranked as one of the largest 
independent upstream oil and gas operators listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange in terms of net production 
volume. The Group has established a sound track record of growing its business through both acquisition and 
aggressive capital investment.

The upstream oil and gas sector suffered significant headwinds in 2016 brought by volatile market conditions and 
unstable global political environment. Despite Brent oil price picked up some gains during the year, the average 
Brent oil price was still approximately 16.8% lower comparing to 2015, according to data from the U.S. Energy 
Information Administration (“EIA”). The Group reported a net profit attributable to the owners of the Company of 
approximately HK$965,008,000, a turnaround from last year’s net loss of approximately HK$2,943,674,000. The 
turnaround of net profit was mainly due to the absence of significant impairment and written off charges such as 
the discontinuance of oil exploitation segment in 2015. On the other hand, the Group’s EBITDA, which excludes 
contribution from discontinued business segment and non-recurring items, was approximately HK$3,043,694,000 for 
the reporting period, declined by 25.3% from last year as hindered by lowered realized selling prices. Against the 
backdrop of a low oil price environment, the Group continued to look into various measures, such as broadening 
our supplier base to introduce competition, reducing the number of drilling days through efficiency improvement 
and the introduction of new technologies and equipment. These measures have resulted in apparent savings in both 
operating expenses and capital costs.

Cost of sales and services rendered by the Group for the reporting period was approximately HK$1,925,130,000 
(Pakistan Assets: approximately HK$1,901,376,000, Oilfield Support Services: approximately HK$23,755,000), and 
the Group invested approximately HK$1,192,137,000 of capital expenditure in oil exploration, development and 
production activities in Pakistan Assets.

Following the abandonment of Liaohe Enhanced Oil Recovery (“EOR”) Project, Pakistan Assets become the Group’s 
sole upstream oil and gas business segment. During the reporting period, production of the Pakistan Assets was 
kept at about the same level as last year and the assets continued to generate strong cash inflow in light of low 
oil price environment. Net cash generated from operating activities of the Group amounted to approximately 
HK$3,023,408,000 for year 2016. In order to strengthen our financial position, the Group successfully completed 
an open offer in August 2016 by raising approximately HK$2,620,399,000 in gross proceeds (or net proceeds after 
deduction of related expenses of approximately HK$2,584,098,000) (the “Open Offer”). As a result, bank and cash 
balances of the Group were boosted to approximately HK$5,850,098,000 as at 31 December 2016, increased by 
170.6% comparing with the end of last year.

The net proceeds of the Open Offer are earmarked for capital expenditure of the Pakistan Assets (approximately 
HK$1,033,639,000), repayment of debt and interest expenses (approximately HK$1,033,639,000) as well as reserve 
for potential acquisition (approximately HK$516,820,000). As at 31 December 2016, approximately HK$509,496,000, 
HK$1,033,639,000 and HK$17,449,000 of the net proceeds have been used for capital expenditure of the Pakistan 
Assets, repayment of debt and interest expenses of the Group and spending on acquisition respectively.

Pakistan Assets:

For the year ended 31 December 2016, the Pakistan Assets achieved an average daily net production of 
approximately 64,252 boe, decreased slightly by 0.3% compared to last year. The Pakistan Assets has an oil and 
liquids ratio of 10.8%. Composite Average Sales Price Before Government Take amounted to US$24.9 per boe, 
dropped by approximately 22.7% compared to last year. Net 1P reserve added during the reporting period was 
approximately 24.1 mmboe, representing a net 1P reserve replacement ratio of approximately 102%.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

The Group has been a leading investor in the upstream oil and gas sector in Pakistan since 2012. According to data 
from Pakistan Petroleum Information Services, an information service provider of Pakistan’s upstream exploration 
activities, the Group have drilled the highest number of exploration wells between 2012 and 2016, significantly 
higher than those drilled by the Pakistan state-own peers such as Pakistan Petroleum Limited (“PPL”) and Oil & Gas 
Development Company Limited. Our aggressive investment in exploration has resulted in an accelerated production 
growth rate that is far outpacing our peers in Pakistan.

During the reporting period, the Group drilled a total of 26 wells, comprising 17 exploration wells and 9 
development wells which are located within the Badin and MKK blocks. 2016 marked a year of exploration frontier 
where we witnessed the transitioning from conventional medium to small pools to technically challenging high-
risked stratigraphic opportunities. The Group made a number of breakthroughs during the year, including:

• Dang – the first oil discovery in eastern MKK,

• Rawat – the first stratigraphic oil discovery in MKK,

• Ali-2 – the first stratigraphic gas discovery in MKK,

• Bhanoki & Makrani – new upper basal sand gas discoveries in MKK, and

• Chaman – gas condensate discovery in middle sand of Badin.
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In-house and external studies have been carried out to delineate the potentials of new plays in existing assets and 
a number of business development opportunities were evaluated and pursued. During the reporting period, United 
Energy Pakistan Limited (“UEPL”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, was proceeding with PPL to acquire 
its 50% working interest of the Kotri North block which has acreage of approximately 2,400 square kilometers and 
located adjacent to MKK block in the Sindh province. The Kotri North block provides exploration opportunities in 
the Lower Indus Basin where the Group have achieved significant success and developed a deep understanding and 
expertise. The Group will become operator of the block upon completion of the transaction.

During 2016, the Group successfully installed a skid mounted amine plant with a capacity of 30 million cubic feet 
per day (“mmcfd”) at its existing Bukhari facility in Badin. The plant was built and commissioned in a record time of 
5 months. The plant was built to process high CO2 gas from various Badin fields to ensure on-specification gas sales 
to our customer. This plant is skid mounted and if high CO2 gas declines in Badin, the plant can be relocated to any 
other concession area, hence giving a degree of flexibility to the Pakistan operations.

In addition, the Group has commenced a LPG plant upgrade project in Naimat with an aim to increase its processing 
capacity from 50 to 100 mmcfd as well as improving the recovery factor from ~50% to ~95% via the construction of 
a turbo expander. Construction work is currently underway and the revamped plant is expected to complete in the 
second half of 2017. The LPG plant feeds natural gas and which is reprocessed into LPG for higher selling value.

In light of prolonged low oil price environment, the Group continued to implement cost optimisation measures in 
the reporting period to improve both capital and operating efficiency. As a result, lifting cost and 1P reserve finding 
and development cost per boe were reduced by 19.1% and 6.7% to US$2.9 and US$5.6 respectively. The total 
exported sales of oil and condensate was approximately 1,430,000 boe for the reporting period, representing a 
decline of 48.4% from last year which was due to fewer oil and condensate produced.
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Liaohe EOR Project, China:

The Group’s Liaohe EOR Project adopts our patented fireflood technology to enhance oil recovery in mature and 
retiring oil fields located in Liaohe, China. Enhanced oil recovery project is classified as secondary recovery in the oil 
and gas industry. It carries high cost structure compares to our Pakistan Assets.

Impacted by the dramatic decline of international oil prices in 2015, the Group has strategically scaled down its 
capital investment for production and re-assessed the corresponding economic benefits under low oil prices. As 
a result, the Board on 23 February 2016 procured United Petroleum & Natural Gas Investments Limited (“United 
Petroleum”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, to issue a notice to China National Petroleum Corporation 
(“CNPC”), the joint venture partner of the Liaohe EOR Project, to propose the abandonment of the Liaohe EOR 
Project. Accordingly, all of the non-current assets of Liaohe EOR Project have been impaired in accordance with 
terms of the EOR contract and relevant financial reporting standards in the financial year ended 31 December 2015. 
On 20 May 2016, the Group received a notice from CNPC confirming and agreeing the abandonment. The parties 
have mutually agreed to set the abandonment date on 31 March 2016 and the Group will continue to work with 
CNPC to finalize the terms of the abandonment agreement in accordance with the EOR Contract.

Oilfield Support Services:

As a leading fireflood technology company in 
China, the Group plans to maintain its leadership 
by conducting research in fireflood technology. 
Through providing patented technology support 
services to oilfields, the Group will contribute to 
enhancing the residual values of abolished or 
retiring oilfields through increasing their ultimate 
recovery ratios and thereby creating greater 
economic values.
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Similar to the conventional oil and gas upstream operation, international oil prices play an important role to 
the application of fireflood technology. This is because oil price strongly correlates with the incremental returns 
generated from the application and hence affects the incentive of retiring oilfields to adopt its application. The 
Group will closely monitor the potential business risk of abated demand under weak international oil prices.

Business and market outlook
As of early 2017, Brent oil prices were stabilized in the 50s level while market participants were observing whether 
members of the Organization of the Petroleum Exporting Countries (“OPEC”) and non-OPEC producers will comply 
with their supply cut commitments. The steadfast implementation of the cartel and non-OPEC producers’ supply 
cut commitment is essential to support Brent oil at the current price level. According to OPEC’s Monthly Oil Market 
Report released on 14 March 2017 (“MOM Report”), production of OPEC and Non-OPEC producers in January 
2017 achieved a conformity level of over 86%. Although the supply cut commitment is for a period of six months 
and extendable by another six months, the high compliance rate at least helped stabilized oil price at the current 
level. In view of these developments, the Group is optimistic of the short-to-medium term oil prices performance.

Following several years of successful exploration and development activities, the Pakistan Assets achieved significant 
breakthrough in terms of production and reserve growth. In order to maintain the growth spectrum, upstream 
oil and gas companies must over the time acquire new assets to broaden its asset portfolio. The Group has clear 
merger and acquisition principles and will target selected high quality fields that suit our requirements. Over the 
past 6 years, the Group has built a successful takeover model in Pakistan Assets with the heritage of an international 
standard of Health, Safety and Environment (“HSE”), well-integrated management and technical teams. These are 
important assets of the Group and the success in Pakistan Assets will be readily replicated in any newly acquired 
assets. The Group has been actively looking at opportunities in the global market to identify suitable targets. More 
resources will be deployed to this area in 2017 to bring our plans to materiality. This is particularly essential to 
support the Group’s long-term growth strategy.

The Group reported a strong financial position at the end of 2016 with bank and cash balances of approximately 
HK$5,850 million, ballooned by 170.6% compared with approximately HK$2,162 million at the end of last year. This 
is attributable to the strong cash flow generation of the Pakistan Assets and the successful completion of the Open 
Offer in August 2016. Coupled with the ongoing support from our relationship banks, the Group has rather flexible 
funding structure to support our future capital investment as well as the acquisition of oil and gas assets.

Pakistan Assets:

Pakistan upstream oil and gas sector is characterized by production from mature basins where significant unlicensed 
and under-explored areas exist. Pakistan national oil companies are the largest operators and have the majority 
of hydrocarbon reserves. However, there is also significant presence of international oil companies such as United 
Energy, Eni SpA, OMV AG and MOL Group which have sizeable interests.
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The countrywide oil and gas production in Pakistan was kept at around 4 billion cubic feet per day (“bcfd”) in the 
recent 10 years while demand has accelerated at much faster pace causing a supply deficit of approximately 1.2 
bcfd in 2015 and the gap is expected to widen further in future years, according to projection by Petroleum Institute 
of Pakistan. In light of the energy shortage, the Pakistan government has in 2016 signed an agreement to purchase 
natural gas of 180 billion cubic feet per year from Qatar and planned to build more LNG terminals to significantly 
increase gas import infrastructure over the next few years. In addition, pipeline projects to import natural gas from 
neighboring countries are underway though they involved security risks and technical challenges. The Group, being 
one of the largest foreign energy companies with solid and reputable brand in Pakistan, is in an advantageous 
position to capture the growing domestic demand.

For year 2017, the Group expects average daily net production of the Pakistan Assets to be in the range of 62,000 
to 63,000 boe. Net 1P reserve replacement ratio of the Pakistan Assets is expected to be about 100%. The 2017 
exploration drilling campaign focuses on expanding Rawat-alike stratigraphic play and other new play types in sands 
of Cretaceous age both in Badin and MKK blocks. Successes and learning from 2016 coupled with results from on-
going studies would be carried on for 2017 to target significant reserve adds especially through stratigraphic plays. 
Upon completion of the Kotri North Block transaction, we will roll out aggressive exploration plan including the 
drilling of 2 exploration wells in 2017.

The new play tests are essential long-term exploration strategies of the Group so as to sustain the current production 
level. The Group plans to drill a total of 24 exploration wells and 8 development wells in 2017. Aggregate capital 
expenditure for 2017 is estimated to be approximately US$230 million (equivalent to approximately HK$1,794 
million). Lifting cost and net 1P reserve finding and development cost per boe is expected to be in the range of 
US$3.0 to US$4.0 and US$8.0 to US$11.0 respectively. The increase in finding and development cost per boe is due 
to high-risked exploration activities and smaller reserve pool size in existing assets.

Conclusion
2016 was another challenging year where volatile international oil prices and market conditions have affected the 
Group’s different business segments. Nonetheless, the Group has demonstrated its resilience and ability to navigate 
through these headwinds in a sustainable manner while maintaining a strong balance sheet with a healthy level of 
debt and liquidity. In spite of the exploration achievement in 2016, the Group has planned for more aggressive 
activities in 2017 to support our growth trajectory. The Group targets to maintain a stable production level for 2017 
and will deploy more resources to look for suitable new opportunities. We are committed to deliver growth and 
sustainable return to our stakeholders.

Material Acquisition and Disposal
Except the discontinued operation disclosed in note 16 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in this 
report, the Group and the Company do not have material acquisition and disposal during the reporting period.

Segment Information
Particulars of the Group’s segment information are set out in note 11 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial 
Statements in this report.

Liquidity and Financial Resources
The Group maintained its strong financial position for the reporting period, with bank and cash balances amounting 
to approximately HK$5,850,098,000 as at 31 December 2016 (2015: approximately HK$2,161,630,000).
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As at 31 December 2016, the outstanding balance of the bank loan from China Development Bank Corporation 
Hong Kong Branch for acquisition of the Pakistan upstream oilfield assets from British Petroleum in September 
2011 was US$400,000,000, equivalent to approximately HK$3,120,000,000 (2015: US$480,000,000, equivalent to 
approximately HK$3,744,000,000).

On 25 June 2015, a facility letter was entered between United Energy International Trading Limited (“UEIT”), 
a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, as borrower (the “Borrower”) and Haitong International Securities 
Company Limited as lender (the “Lender”), pursuant to which the Lender agreed to make available to the Borrower 
a loan facility of up to HK$150,000,000 (the “Facility”) for subscription of a Haitong Multi-Tranche Investment 
Fund II S.P. (the “Fund”) in the amount of approximately HK$199,321,000. UEIT provided remaining balance of 
HK$50,000,000 from internal resources of the Group. The objective of the Fund is to generate capital gains. As at 31 
December 2016, the outstanding amount of the loan was approximately HK$149,268,000 (as at 31 December 2015: 
approximately HK$149,268,000).

On 22 July 2015, United Energy International Finance Limited (“UEIFL”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, 
entered into a facility agreement with Industrial and Commercial Bank of China Limited – Abu Dhabi Branch (“ICBC”). 
On 4 August 2015, United Petroleum & Natural Gas (Panjin) Limited (“United Petroleum (Panjin)”), a wholly-owned 
subsidiary of the Company, entered into a financing guarantee agreement with China Citic Bank (Shenyang Branch) 
in which United Petroleum (Panjin) deposited cash of approximately RMB122,300,000 (equivalent to approximately 
HK$146,038,000) as pledge for issuing a financing guarantee to ICBC. As such, ICBC granted UEIFL a one-year loan 
facility with limit of US$18,500,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$144,300,000) at fixed interest rate of 1.90% 
per annum. The purpose of this loan facility was for settlement of trade payables of the Group. On 4 August 2015, 
UEIFL has drawdown the loan in the amount of US$18,500,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$144,300,000) for 
settlement of trade payables of the Group with same value. On 1 August 2016, the loan has been fully repaid.

On 8 October 2014, United Energy Financing (Bermuda) Limited (“UEFBL”) (or the “Issuer”), a wholly-owned 
subsidiary of the Company, has established the S$1,000,000,000 multicurrency medium term notes programme 
(the “Programme”) under which it may issue the medium term notes (the “Notes”) to institutional investors and/
or professional investors, as applicable, in series of aggregate principal amount of up to S$1,000,000,000 (or its 
equivalent in other currencies). The Notes are expected to be issued by the Issuer and guaranteed by the Company. 
The Issuer has appointed CIMB Bank Berhad as arranger and dealer under the Programme. On 17 October 2014, 
the issue of the S$100,000,000, 6.85% per annum Notes due on 17 October 2016 under the Programme (the “First 
Drawdown Notes”) was completed. The First Drawdown Notes were admitted to the Official List of the Singapore 
Exchange Securities Trading Limited with effect from 20 October 2014. The net proceeds from the issue of the First 
Drawdown Notes under the Programme, after deducting the costs and expenses relating to the issue of the First 
Drawdown Notes, will be used for general corporate purposes of the Group. The First Drawdown Notes have been 
expired and fully repaid and redeemed on 17 October 2016.

On 22 July 2016, a shareholder resolution was passed in the special general meeting of the Company to approve 
for the proposed issue of 13,101,994,107 offer shares to the qualifying shareholders at the subscription price of 
HK$0.20 per share on the basis of one share for every one share in issue (“Open Offer”). The Open Offer was 
completed on 30 August 2016 and total of 13,101,994,107 shares were allotted under the Open Offer. The net 
proceeds of the Open Offer after the deduction of related expenses were approximately HK$2,584,098,000.
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As at 31 December 2016, the gearing ratio was approximately 21.1% (2015: approximately 33.4%), based 
on borrowings under current liabilities and non-current liabilities of approximately HK$773,268,000 (2015: 
approximately HK$1,460,224,000) and HK$2,496,000,000 (2015: approximately HK$3,120,000,000) respectively and 
total assets of approximately HK$15,496,639,000 (2015: approximately HK$13,713,810,000). As at 31 December 
2016, the current ratio was approximately 3.92 times (2015: approximately 1.69 times), based on current assets of 
approximately HK$7,380,487,000 (2015: approximately HK$5,039,985,000) and current liabilities of approximately 
HK$1,880,386,000 (2015: approximately HK$2,976,627,000).

As at 31 December 2016, the Group’s total borrowings amounted to approximately HK$3,269,268,000 (2015: 
approximately HK$4,580,224,000), including secured bank loans of approximately HK$3,120,000,000 (2015: 
approximately HK$3,888,300,000), medium term notes of Nil (2015: approximately HK$542,656,000) and other 
secured loans of approximately HK$149,268,000 (2015: approximately HK$149,268,000). The carrying value of 
the secured bank loans is denominated in United States dollars and the carrying value of the other secured loan is 
denominated in Hong Kong dollars. The secured bank loans are arranged at floating interest rates and the average 
effective interest rate for the reporting period was 5.35% (2015: 4.74%).

Capital Structure
During the reporting period, the changes of the share capital structure of the Company are as follows:

On 12 July 2016, the Company resolved to award 16,272,730 new ordinary shares as the scheme shares to Pakistan 
employees under the employees’ performance share schemes adopted by the Company on 28 December 2012. The 
allotment of the 16,272,730 scheme shares was completed on 25 July 2016.

On 22 July 2016, a shareholder resolution was passed in the special general meeting of the Company to approve 
for the proposed issue of 13,101,994,107 offer shares to the qualifying shareholders at the subscription price of 
HK$0.20 per share on the basis of one share for every one share in issue (“Open Offer”). The Open Offer was 
completed on 30 August 2016 and total of 13,101,994,107 shares were allotted under the Open Offer.

On 11 November 2016, the Company resolved to award 21,703,384 new shares as the scheme shares to 557 
Pakistan employees under the Share Match Scheme approved and adopted by the Company for Pakistan employees 
on 16 September 2011. The allotment of the 21,703,384 scheme shares was completed on 23 November 2016.

After completion of the above allotment of shares during the reporting period, the total number of issued shares 
of the Company was increased from 13,085,721,377 shares as at 1 January 2016 to 26,225,691,598 shares as at 31 
December 2016.

Employees
As at 31 December 2016, the Group employed a total of 920 full time employees, located in Hong Kong, the PRC 
and Pakistan. Employees’ remuneration packages have been reviewed periodically and determined with reference 
to the performance of the individual and prevailing market practices. Remuneration packages include base salaries, 
year-end bonuses, medical benefits and a contributory provident fund.

Contingent Liabilities
Particulars of the Group’s contingent liabilities are set out in the note 40 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial 
Statements in this report.
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Exposure to Fluctuations in Exchange Rates and Related Hedges
The Group’s monetary assets and transactions are mainly denominated in Hong Kong dollars, United States dollars, 
Renminbi and Pakistan Rupee and British Sterling Pound. As i) the exchange rates of United States dollars and 
Renminbi against Hong Kong dollars were relatively stable, ii) the exchange rate risk of British Sterling Pound and 
Pakistan Rupee for the Group is relatively insignificant and iii) the Pakistan sales and purchase transactions are 
mainly settled in United States dollars, the Group did not use financial instruments for hedging purposes during the 
reporting period but the Group will keep closely monitoring on the effect on the fluctuation of the exchange rate 
of British Sterling Pound, Renminbi and Pakistan Rupee and apply appropriate action to prevent any impact to the 
Group.

Major Customers and Suppliers
In 2016, the Group’s five largest customers represented 98.4% of total turnover (2015: 96.5%) and the Group’s five 
largest suppliers represented 38.4% of total cost of sales and services rendered (2015: 47.8%).
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SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION ON OIL AND GAS EXPLORATION, 
DEVELOPMENT AND PRODUCTION ACTIVITIES
This section provides supplemental information on oil and gas activities in accordance with the Chapter 18 of the 
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock 
Exchange”).

A. Information on Crude Oil and Natural Gas Reserves
The Group has adopted the SPE/WPC/AAPG/SPEE Petroleum Resources Management System (“SPE-PRMS”) 
in reserves estimation. Reserves are determined through analysis of geological and engineering data which 
appear, with reasonable certainty, to be economically producible in the future from known and discovered 
oil and natural gas reservoirs under existing economic and operating conditions. Both deterministic and 
probabilistic methods are used in reserves estimation. When probabilistic method is used, there should be 
at least a 90% probability (for Proved Reserve or “1P”) that the quantities actually recovered will equal or 
exceed the estimate. The estimation of reserves is based on the estimation of production for future years 
from existing wells and new development wells. The estimation is subject to economic limit test to satisfy 
the commerciality requirements of SPE-PRMS. The selling prices for oil, condensate and LPG used in the 
economic limit test are based on the forecast of market Brent oil price in future years, subject to discount 
or premium derived from historical realized price in reporting period applicable to the particular fields. The 
gas prices in Pakistan Assets are regulated by Government Authority. The selling prices for gas used in the 
economic limit test are projected based on the historical realized gas price of each field in reporting period.

For the year ended 31 December 2016, the Group engaged an independent third party consulting firm 
(“Consulting Firm”) to perform audit and review on the reserves estimates. The Consulting Firm has audited 
15 major fields in Pakistan Assets in total representing over 87% of the Group’s total 1P reserves. The 
Consulting Firm also completed a high level review of the reasonableness of the process used by the Group 
on the remaining 127 fields in Pakistan Assets and its opinion stated that the estimates are reasonable.

The following table set out the estimates of Group’s net interest reserves.

Pakistan Assets
   

Net proved reserves

Oil, 
Condensate 

and LPG Sales Gas Total
(MMbbl) (Bcf) (MMboe)

As at 31 December 2015 16.2 457.2 95.0
Production (2.5) (121.7) (23.5)
Discoveries & revisions 1.7 129.5 24.1

    

As at 31 December 2016 15.4 465.0 95.6
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Notes:

1. Boe is calculated using a conversion ratio of 5,800 Scf/Boe.

2. The forecast of Brent oil price used in the estimation is provided in following table:

Brent Market 
Crude

(US$/Bbl)

2017 52.76
2018 60.00
2019 70.00
2020 70.00
2021 71.40
2022 72.83
Thereafter Escalated at 2% p.a.

  

3. The Group’s net interest reserves represent the Group’s net entitlement under fiscal and contractual terms in various concession 
agreements in Pakistan.

B. Major Exploration, Development and Production Activities
The following table summarized the major exploration, development and production activities during the 
reporting period:

Pakistan Assets

Exploration activities: • 17 Exploration wells

Development activities: • 9 Development wells
• 10 Rig workovers

Production activities: • Average daily net production of 64,252 boe
  

C. Group’s Share of Costs Incurred on Exploration, Development and Production 
Activities
The following table summarized the Group’s share of costs incurred on exploration, development and 
production activities for the year ended 2016:

Pakistan
Assets

(HK$’000)

Exploration costs 670,544
Development costs 592,947
Production costs (Note) 539,797

  

Note: Production costs recognized in cost of sales excluding depreciation and amortization and sales expenses.



28 UNITED ENERGY GROUP LIMITED

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Sound corporate governance practices are crucial to the smooth, effective and transparent operation of a company 
and its ability to attract investment, protect rights of shareholders and stakeholders, and enhance shareholder 
value. The Company is committed to maintain good corporate governance standard and procedures to ensure the 
integrity, transparency, openness and accountability to our shareholders. This Corporate Government Report is 
prepared in material compliance of the reporting requirements as contained in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules on 
The Stock Exchange.

Corporate Governance Practices
For the year ended 31 December 2016, the Company has applied the principles and complied with the code 
provisions as set out in the Code on Corporate Governance Practices (the “Code”) contained in Appendix 14 of the 
Listing Rules, save for the deviations which are explained below.

1. The Code A.2.1 – the Company has the post of chief executive officer but it is still vacant; and

2. The Code A.4.1 – the independent non-executive Directors have not been appointed for any specific terms as 
they are subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years in accordance with the Company’s 
Bye-laws.

Although the Company has separated the duties between the chairman and chief executive officer, the post of 
the chief executive officer is still vacant. In this connection, the executive function of the Company is performed by 
the executive Directors and management of the Company. Thus, significant decision of the Company is made by 
the Board. The Board considers that such structure will not affect the balance of power and authority between the 
chairman and the executive Directors.

Code provision A.4.1 of the Code provides that non-executive Directors should be appointed for a specific term, 
subject to re-election. None of the independent non-executive Directors has entered into any service contracts with 
the Company or its subsidiaries. In view of the fact that the independent non-executive Directors are subject to 
retirement by rotation at least once every three years though they have no set term of office, the Board considers 
that the quality of good corporate governance will not be impaired.

Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors
The Group has adopted the code of conduct with respect to the dealings in securities of the Company by the 
Directors as set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules (the “Model Code”).

Having made specific enquiry with all Directors, each of whom has confirmed compliance with the required standard 
set out in the Model Code during the year ended 31 December 2016.

Directors and Officers Insurance
Appropriate insurance covers on Directors’ and officers’ liabilities have been in force to protect the Directors and 
officers of the Group from their risk exposure arising from the business of the Group.
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Board of Directors
Composition

The Board of Directors (the “Board”) of the Company comprises six members and Mr. Zhang Hong Wei acts as the 
Chairman of the Board. The other executive Directors are Mr. Zhu Jun and Ms. Zhang Meiying. The Company has 
three independent non-executive Directors, Mr. Chau Siu Wai, Mr. San Fung and Mr. Zhu Chengwu, one of whom 
namely, Mr. Zhu Chengwu has appropriate professional accounting experience and expertise.

Board Members
Board of 
Directors

Audit 
Committee

Remuneration 
Committee

Nomination 
Committee

Executive Directors
Mr. Zhang Hong Wei C
Mr. Zhu Jun M
Ms. Zhang Meiying M M M

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Chau Siu Wai M M M M
Mr. San Fung M C C C
Mr. Zhu Chengwu M M

     

Notes:

C – Chairman of the Board or relevant Board committees

M – Member of the Board or relevant Board committees

All Directors have distinguished themselves in their field of expertise, and have exhibited high standards of personal 
and professional ethics and integrity. The biographical details of each Director are disclosed on pages 45 to 46 of 
this annual report.

During the year ended 31 December 2016, the Board has at all times met the requirements of the Listing Rules 
relating to the appointment of at least three independent non-executive Directors (representing at least one-third of 
the Board), with at least one independent non-executive Director possessing appropriate professional qualifications 
and accounting and related financial management expertise.

Each independent non-executive Director has pursuant to the Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, confirmed that he is 
independent of the Company and the Company also considers that they are independent.

Save as the family relationship between Mr. Zhang Hong Wei, chairman of the Board, and Ms. Zhang Meiying, 
executive Director and daughter of the Chairman, there are no relationships among members of the Board. Except 
for the above, the Board considers that all Directors are free from any relationship that interfere the exercise of 
individual independent judgment.
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Function

The Board, led by the Chairman, is responsible for formulation and approval of the Group’s development and 
business strategies, key operational proposals, financial control procedures, material acquisition and disposal of 
investments, major funding decisions, financial announcements, interim report, annual reports, share issuance/
repurchase, nomination of Directors, appointment of key management personnel, related party transactions, 
remuneration to Directors and key management, ensures appropriate human and financial resources are 
appropriately applied and the performance for the achievement of results is evaluated periodically and other 
significant transactions in accordance with the rules governing the meeting of the Board, Bye-laws and rules 
governing the meeting of shareholders.

The executive Directors are responsible for day-to-day management of the Company’s operations. These executive 
Directors conduct regular meetings with the senior management of the Company, its subsidiaries and associated 
companies, at which operational issues and financial performance are evaluated.

The Bye-laws of the Company contain description of responsibilities and operation procedures of the Board. The 
Board holds regular meeting to discuss and consider significant matters relating to existing operations and proposals 
of new operations and projects. Board meetings formally hold at least 4 times a year.

The Chairman ensures that Board meetings are being held whenever necessary. Though the Chairman is responsible 
to set the Board meeting agenda, all Board members are encouraged to participate to include matters in the 
agenda. The Board conducts meeting on a regular basis and extra meetings are convened when circumstances 
require. The Bye-Laws of the Company allow a Board meeting to be conducted by way of a tele-conference.

There are 14 meetings being held during the year ended 31 December 2016 and the attendance of individual 
Directors is as follows:

Board Meetings

Zhang Hong Wei 14/14
Zhu Jun 14/14
Zhang Meiying 14/14
Chau Siu Wai 14/14
San Fung 14/14
Zhu Chengwu 14/14

  

The attendance records of individual Directors of the Annual General Meeting held on 27 May 2016 (“AGM”) and 
the Special General Meeting held on 22 July 2016 (“SGM”) are set out below:

AGM SGM

Zhang Hong Wei 1/1 1/1
Zhu Jun 1/1 1/1
Zhang Meiying 1/1 1/1
Chau Siu Wai 1/1 0/1
San Fung 1/1 1/1
Zhu Chengwu 1/1 1/1

   



312016 ANNUAL REPORT

Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

Training and Support for Directors

Directors keep abreast of responsibilities as a Director of the Company and of the conduct, business activities and 
development of the Company.

Each newly appointed Director receives induction on the first occasion of his/her appointment, so as to ensure 
that he/she has appropriate understanding of the business and operations of the Company and that he/she is fully 
aware of his/her responsibilities and obligations under the Listing Rules and relevant regulatory requirements. Such 
induction is normally supplemented with visits to the Group’s key business sites and/or meetings with the senior 
management of the Company.

Under code provision A.6.5, Directors should participate in appropriate continuous professional development to 
develop and refresh their knowledge and skills to ensure that their contribution to the Board remains informed and 
relevant. Internally facilitated briefings for Directors will be arranged and reading material on relevant topics will 
be issued to Directors where appropriate. All Directors are encouraged to attend relevant training courses at the 
Company’s expenses.

During the year ended 31 December 2016, the Company provided reading materials on corporate governance, 
Directors’ duties and responsibilities and regulatory update on the Listing Rules amendments to all the Directors 
for their reference and studying. Besides, all Directors attended other seminars and training sessions arranged by 
other professional firms/institutions. All Directors had provided the Company their training records for the reporting 
period. The Directors and officers are indemnified under a Directors’ and officers’ liability insurance against any 
liability incurred by them in discharge of their duties while holding office as the Directors and officers of the 
Company. The Directors and officers shall not be indemnified where there is any fraud, breach of duty or breach of 
trust proven against them.

Responsibilities

In the course of discharging their duties, the Directors act in good faith, with due diligence and care, and in the best 
interests of the Company and its shareholders. Their responsibilities include (1) attending regular Board meetings 
focusing on business strategy, operational issues and financial performance; (2) monitoring the quality, timeliness, 
relevance and reliability of internal and external reporting; (3) monitoring and managing potential conflicts of interest 
of management, Board members and shareholders, including misuse of corporate assets and abuse in connected 
transaction; and (4) ensuing processes are in place to maintain the overall integrity of the Company, including 
financial statements, relationships with suppliers, customers and other stakeholders, and compliance with all laws 
and ethics.

Directors’ Responsibilities for the Consolidated Financial Statements

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements of the 
Group and ensure that the consolidated financial statements are in accordance with statutory requirements and 
applicable accounting standards. The Directors also ensure the timely publication of the consolidated financial 
statements of the Group. In preparing the accounts for the year ended 31 December 2016, the Directors have, 
among other things:

• Selected suitable accounting policies and applied them consistently;

• Approved adoption of all Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) which are in conformity with 
the International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”); and

• Made judgments and estimates that are prudent and reasonable; and have prepared the accounts on the 
going concern basis.
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The Directors confirm that, to the best of their knowledge, information and belief, having made all reasonable 
enquiries, they are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that may cast significant 
doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

Delegation by the Board

The Board has established Board committees, namely Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and Nomination 
Committee to oversee particular aspects of the Company’s affairs and to assist in sharing the Board’s responsibilities. 
All the Board committees have clear written terms of reference and have to report to the Board regularly on 
their decisions and recommendations. The day-to-day running of the Company, including implementation of the 
strategies and plans adopted by the Board and its committees, is delegated to the management with divisional 
heads responsible for different aspects of the business.

Audit Committee

The Company formulated written terms of reference for the Audit Committee in accordance with the requirements 
of the Listing Rules. The Audit Committee consists of the all independent non-executive Directors, namely Messrs. 
Chau Siu Wai, San Fung and Zhu Chengwu. It is chaired by Mr. San Fung.

The Audit Committee reports directly to the Board and reviews the matters relating to the work of the external 
auditor, financial statements, risk management and internal controls. The Audit Committee meets with the 
Company’s external auditor to ensure the objectivity and credibility of financial reporting, risk management and 
internal control procedures as well as to maintain an appropriate relationship with the external auditors of the 
Company.

During the year ended 31 December 2016, there are 2 audit committee meetings being held and the external 
auditor of the Company has attended 2 audit committee meetings. The individual attendance of each member is as 
follows:

Audit Committee Meetings

Chau Siu Wai 2/2
San Fung 2/2
Zhu Chengwu 2/2

  

The members of Audit Committee have full access to and co-operation from the management and they have full 
discretion to invite any Director or executive to attend the meeting. The Audit Committee has performed the 
following function during the year ended 31 December 2016: (1) reviewed the annual audit plan of external auditors, 
their audited reports and matters incidental thereto; (2) approved the appointment of external auditors including the 
terms of engagement; (3) discussed the risk management and internal control issues; (4) examined the application 
of funds; (5) reviewed the interested party transactions; and (6) reviewed the periodic financial statements of the 
Company and made recommendation to the Board for approval and evaluated the performance and independence 
of the external auditors.

Remuneration Committee

With effect from 17 July 2006, a remuneration committee has been set up with written terms of reference to review 
the remuneration package, performance-based remuneration and termination compensation of Directors and senior 
management of the Group. The Remuneration Committee comprises Mr. Chau Siu Wai, Mr. San Fung and Ms. 
Zhang Meiying. It is chaired by Mr. San Fung.
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The major responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee are to make recommendation to the Board on the 
Company’s policy and structure for remuneration of Directors and senior management, to determine remuneration 
packages of all executive Directors and senior management including benefits in kind, pension rights and 
compensation payments. The Remuneration Committee takes into consideration on factors such as salaries paid by 
comparable companies, time commitment and responsibilities of the Directors and senior management.

The Remuneration Committee held 1 meeting in 2016 at which all committee members were present. At the 
meeting, the Remuneration Committee reviewed and discussed the remuneration policy, the remuneration package 
and bonus arrangements.

Nomination Committee

With effective from 30 March 2012, a nomination committee, comprising Mr. San Fung, independent non-
executive Director of the Company, as its Chairman with Mr. Chau Siu Wai, independent non-executive Director of 
the Company, and Ms. Zhang Meiying, executive Director of the Company, as its members, has been set up with 
written terms of reference in accordance with the requirements of the Listing Rules. The Nomination Committee is 
responsible for nomination of Directors, structure of the Board, number of Directors, the composition of the Board 
and review the Board Diversity Policy of the Company. The nominations of Directors were made in accordance with 
the Nomination Policy and the objective criteria (including without limitation, gender, age, cultural and educational 
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service), with due regard for the 
benefits of diversity under the Board Diversity Policy of the Company. According to the Board Diversity Policy of the 
Company, selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity perspectives, including but not limited to 
gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and length 
of service. The ultimate decision will be based on merit and contribution that the selected candidates will bring to 
the Board.

The Nomination Committee held 1 meeting in 2016 at which all committee members were present. At the meeting, 
the Nomination Committee: (1) reviewed the structure, size and composition of the Board; (2) reviewed the 
Company’s board diversity policy; (3) discussed the causal vacancies for the resigned Directors during the year; and (4) 
assessed the independence of independent non-executive Directors.

Responsibilities and Remuneration of External Auditors
The statement of the external auditors of the Company, Messrs. RSM Hong Kong, about their reporting 
responsibilities on the consolidated financial statements of the Group is set out in the Independent Auditor Report 
on pages 47 to 51.

During the year, remuneration paid to the Company’s auditors, Messrs. RSM Hong Kong and other RSM network 
firms, is as follows:

Services rendered: HK$

– audit services 2,073,000
– interim financial review 110,000
– non-audit services 496,000

  

Risk Management and Internal Control
The Board is responsible for maintaining an adequate system of risk management and internal controls within the 
Group and for reviewing their effectiveness. The system of risk management and internal controls is designed to 
facilitate effective and efficient operations, to safeguard assets and to ensure the quality of internal and external 
reportings and compliance with applicable laws and regulations. It is also designed to provide reasonable, but not 
absolute, assurance that material misstatement or loss can be avoided, and to manage and minimize risks of failure 
in operation systems.
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The Group has established an internal audit and risk management department (the “IARM Department”), which 
will report to the Board, to conduct annual review of the Group’s risk management and internal control systems 
to ensure its effectiveness and the interest of shareholders is safeguarded. During the reporting period, the IARM 
Department has conducted annual review of the Group’s risk management and internal control systems with 
implementation of stricter and regulated risk management and internal control procedures. After discussing with the 
IARM Department, the Board considered that such the Group’s risk management and internal control systems had 
been implemented effectively. The annual reviews covered all material controls, including financial, operational and 
compliance controls and risk management functions.

Company Secretary
Mr. Hung Lap Kay is the company secretary of the Company since March 2010. During the year ended 31 December 
2016, Mr. Hung has taken no less than 15 hours of relevant professional trainings to update his skill and knowledge.

Communication with Shareholders
The objective of shareholder communication is to provide our shareholders with detailed information about the 
Company so that they can exercise their rights as shareholders in an informed manner.

The Company uses a range of communication tools to ensure its shareholders are kept well informed of key business 
imperatives. These include general meeting, annual report, various notices, announcements, circulars and via the 
Company’s website to provide an electronic means of communication. The poll voting procedures and the rights of 
shareholders to demand a poll were included in all circulars accompanying notice convening general meeting and 
the detail procedures for conducting a poll have been read out by the Chairman at general meeting.

The annual general meeting provides a useful forum for shareholders to exchange views with the Board. The 
Chairman, Directors, Board Committees’ Chairman/Members and external auditor, where appropriate, are available 
to answer questions at the meeting.

To safeguard shareholders’ interests and rights, separate resolutions are proposed at shareholders’ meetings on 
each substantial issue, including the election of individual Directors, for shareholders’ consideration and voting. 
Besides, pursuant to the Articles of Association, shareholder(s) holding not less than one-tenth of the paid-up 
capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings may request the Company to convene an 
extraordinary general meeting by sending a written requisition to the Board or the Company Secretary. The objects 
of the meeting must be stated in the written requisition.

Shareholders may send written enquiries to the Company for putting forward any enquiries or proposals to the 
Board of the Company. Contact details are as follows:

Address: Suite 2505, 25/F, Two Pacific Place, 88 Queensway, Admiralty, Hong Kong 
(For the attention of the General Manager of the Investor Relations Department)

Fax: 852–2522 6938
Email: ir@uegl.com.hk
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For the avoidance of doubt, shareholder(s) must deposit and send the original duly signed written requisition, notice 
or statement, or enquiry (as the case may be) to the above address and provide their full name, contact details and 
identification in order to give effect thereto. Shareholders’ information may be disclosed as required by law.

During the reporting period, the Company has not made any changes to its Articles of Association. An up to date 
version of the Articles of Association is available on the Company’s website and the Stock Exchange’s website. 
Shareholders may refer to the Articles of Association for further details of their rights.

All resolutions put forward at shareholders’ meetings will be voted by poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and the 
poll voting results will be posted on the websites of the Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk) and the Company 
(www.uegl.com.hk) immediately after the relevant general meetings.
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The Directors present their annual report and the audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 
December 2016.

Principal Activities
The Company acts as an investment holding company. The principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 
44 to the consolidated financial statements of this annual report.

Business Review

General

For the review of the business of the Group including the future development in the Group’s business and the 
analysis of financial key performance indicators, please refer to the section headed “Management Discussion and 
Analysis” on pages 12 to 25 of this report.

Principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group

The following section lists out the key risks and uncertainties faced by the Group. It is a non-exhaustive list and there 
may be other risks and uncertainties further to the key risk areas outlined below. Besides, this annual report does not 
constitute a recommendation or an advice for anyone to invest in the securities of the Company and investors are 
advised to make their own judgment or consult their own investment advisors before making any investment in the 
securities of the Company.

Risks pertaining to the changes in oil and gas prices in international market

Prices for crude oil and natural gas may fluctuate widely in response to changes in the supply and demand for 
crude oil and natural gas, overall economic and political instability, natural disasters and weather conditions that 
are beyond our control. Changes in oil and gas prices could have a material effect on the Group’s cash flows and 
earnings. The prolonged low oil and gas prices may also result in the impairment of our oil and gas properties.

Risks pertaining to the oil & gas market in Pakistan

The Group’s financial performance is subject to tax and fiscal regime applicable to oil and gas industry in Pakistan. 
Any changes in the tax and fiscal regime in this country may increase our tax burden and have an adverse effect on 
our financial performance. The Group’s business may also be affected by the economic, political and environmental 
conditions of the country that beyond our control.

Risks pertaining to exploration and replacement of reserves

Our exploration and development activities have inherent risk of not discovering commercial oil and gas reserves. 
Exploration and development of reserves are capital intensive. Failure in discovery of reserves may result in incurring 
of written off or impairment losses. The reliability of reserve estimates depends on the quality and quantity of 
technical and economic data, the production performance of reservoir, the market prices of oil and natural gas, 
extensive engineering judgements, consistency in tax and fiscal regime. Many of the factors, assumptions and 
variables involved in estimating reserves are beyond our control. The quantities of crude oil and reserves that are 
ultimately recovered could differ from the Group’s reserve estimates.

Risks pertaining to operation

The Group’s exploration, development and production activities involve numerous health, safety, security and 
environment risks that are common among upstream oil and gas companies. Accidents may happen despite systems 
and policies set up for their prevention which may lead to financial loss, operation interruption and litigation.

The Group is subject to extensive environmental protection laws and regulations of countries with operation. If there 
are changes in the environmental protection laws and regulations, we may incur additional costs for environmental 
compliance matters.
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Risks pertaining to mergers and acquisitions

The Group may require acquisitions of new assets under its business development plans to continue its business 
expansion. There is no assurance that mergers and acquisitions may succeed due to various reasons, such as the 
availability of external financings and outcomes differing from key assumptions.

Past performance and forward looking statements

The performance and the results of operation of the Group as set out in this annual report are historical in 
nature and past performance is not a guarantee of future performance. This annual report may contain forward-
looking statements and opinions that involve risks and uncertainties. Actual results may also differ materially from 
expectations discussed in such forward-looking statements and opinions. Neither the Group nor the Directors, 
employees or agents of the Group assume any obligations or liabilities in the event that any of the forward-looking 
statements or opinions does not materialize or turns out to be incorrect.

Environmental policies and performance

The Group remains steadfast to its values, of which the commitment to health, safety and environmental (“HSE”) 
performance is a core principle. All operations are conducted in a safe and efficient manner governing by our HSE 
policy. Key HSE performance indicators are included in the performance appraisal scheme. During the reporting 
period, all HSE performance objectives were delivered. The Group continues to strive for excellence in HSE in order 
to remain at par with local as well as international standards.

Compliance with Laws and Regulations

The Group continues to update the requirement of the relevant laws and regulations in various countries, particularly 
in Pakistan, the PRC, Hong Kong and Bermuda, applicable to it to ensure compliance. Substantially a majority of the 
Group’s operations are in Pakistan. The Group has been listing on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong since 8 April 
1992. During the reporting period, the Group complied with the relevant laws and regulations in various countries 
applicable to it in all material respects.

Key relationship with major stakeholders

The Group places value to develop mutually beneficial relationships with its stakeholders, including its shareholders, 
employees, government and local communities, customers and suppliers. Details of communication with 
shareholders are included in Corporate Governance Report of this annual report on page 34.

Employees are remunerated equitably and competitively. Continuing training and development opportunities are 
provided to equip them to deliver their performance.

The Group’s business strives to create a win-win situation with government and local communities. Our strategic 
plan to explore new reserves can partially ease the energy supply deficit problem in Pakistan. The local communities 
also benefit from our sustainable social investment projects. During the reporting period, our strategic areas in the 
social investment projects were healthcare, education and capacity building.

The Group’s major customers are state-owned enterprises. Sales agreement is entered with customers and gas is 
delivered to customer through pipeline connected to our facilities.

The Group uses suppliers to reflect its value and commitment on HSE performance. Site visit and panel discussion 
have always been conducted in exchange of technical knowledge and skills.

Results and Dividends
The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2016 and the state of affairs of the Group at that date are 
set out in the consolidated financial statements on pages 52 to 139 of this annual report. No dividend has been paid 
or declared by the Company during the year ended 31 December 2016.
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Major Customers and Suppliers
The information in respect of the sales and purchases attributable to the major customers and suppliers of the Group 
respectively during the financial year is as follows:

Percentage of the Group’s total
Sales Purchases

The largest customer 82.0% N/A
Five largest customers 98.4% N/A
The largest supplier N/A 19.3%
Five largest suppliers N/A 38.4%

   

At no time during the year have the Directors, their associates or any shareholder of the Company (which to the best 
knowledge of the Directors, owns more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) had any interest in these 
major customers and suppliers.

Share Premium and Reserves
Details of movements in the share premium and reserves and a statement of the reserves available for distribution to 
shareholders of the Company and the Group during the reporting period are set out in note 36 to the consolidated 
financial statements and page 56 of this annual report.

Segment Information
The segment information of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2016 is set out in note 11 to the 
consolidated financial statements of this annual report.

Financial Summary
A summary of the results and of the assets, liabilities and non-controlling interests of the Group for the last five 
financial years, as extracted from the audited consolidated financial statements, is set out on page 140 of this annual 
report. This summary is for information only and does not form part of the audited consolidated financial statements.

Property, Plant and Equipment
Details of movements in property, plant and equipment of the Group during the reporting period are set out in note 
19 to the consolidated financial statements of this annual report.

Bank Loans and Other Borrowings
Details of bank loans and other borrowings during the reporting period are set out in note 31 to the consolidated 
financial statements of this annual report.

Permitted Indemnity Provision
Under the Bye-laws of the Company, generally, the Directors shall be indemnified out of the assets and profits of the 
Company from and against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses for acts done, concurred in or 
omitted in when discharging their duties in the affairs of the Company, other than any matter in respect of any fraud 
or dishonesty.

In addition, the Company has taken out and maintained insurance for the Directors against liabilities to third parties 
that maybe incurred in the course of performing their duties as at the date of this report.
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Directors and Directors’ Service Contracts
The Directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors:

Zhang Hong Wei – Chairman
Zhu Jun
Zhang Meiying

Independent non-executive Directors:

Chau Siu Wai
San Fung
Zhu Chengwu

Pursuant to Bye-laws 87(1) and 87(2), Ms. Zhang Meiying and Mr. Chau Siu Wai shall retire by rotation and being 
eligible, will offer themselves for re-election at the Annual General Meeting to be held in 2017.

There is no service contract entered into between the Company and the independent non-executive Director and 
independent non-executive Directors and they are not appointed for a specific term. However, all Directors are 
subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years pursuant to the Bye-laws of the Company.

Share Option Scheme
The Company’s share option scheme (the “Old Scheme”) with the maximum number of 9,598,537 shares of the 
Company to be issued upon on the exercise of share options under the Old Scheme (the “Old Scheme Limit”) was 
adopted pursuant to the shareholders’ resolution passed on 11 May 2006 for the primary purpose of providing 
opportunity to Directors, employees and consultants to acquire proprietary interests of the Group. On 3 December 
2007, the Old Scheme Limit was approved to be refreshed to the maximum number of 1,277,709,163 shares of 
the Company to be issued upon on the exercise of share options under the Old Scheme by shareholders of the 
Company (the “Refreshed Old Scheme Limit”). The corresponding listing approval for the Refreshed Old Scheme 
Limit was granted by the Stock Exchange on 28 February 2008. The Old Scheme has been expired on 10 May 2016.

The new share option scheme of the Company (the “New Scheme”) with the maximum number of 1,308,572,137 
shares of the Company to be issued on the exercise of share options under the New Scheme (the “New Scheme 
Limit”) was adopted pursuant to the shareholders’ resolution passed on 27 May 2016 for the primary purpose of 
providing opportunity to Directors, employees and consultants to acquire proprietary interests of the Group.

The total number of shares in respect of which options may be granted under the New Scheme is not permitted to 
exceed 30% of the shares of the Company in issue from time to time. The number of shares issued and to be issued 
in respect of which options granted and may be granted to any individual is not permitted to exceed 10% of the 
shares of the Company in issue from time to time.

During the reporting period, no share options were granted, exercised, lapsed or cancelled under both the Old 
Scheme and the New Scheme. As at 31 December 2016, 627,452,526 shares under the Refreshed Old Scheme Limit 
were not used for granting share option under the Old Scheme (“Unused Refreshed Old Scheme Limit”) and the 
total adjusted outstanding share options granted under the Old Scheme but not exercised was 23,256,637 units 
of the share options (“Outstanding Option Not Exercised”). The ratio of Unused Refreshed Old Scheme Limit and 
the Outstanding Option Not Exercised to the total issued shares of the Company of 26,225,691,598 shares as at 31 
December 2016 was 2.48%.



40 UNITED ENERGY GROUP LIMITED

Report of the Directors (Continued)

As at 31 December 2016, details of outstanding share options granted but not exercised under the Old Scheme are as 
follows:

Adjusted
Exercise 

Price
(Note)

Adjusted Number of Share Options (Note)  

Grant Date Vesting Period Exercisable Period
As at 

1.1.2016 Granted Exercised Lapsed Cancelled
As at 

31.12.2016
 HK$

Employees
29.8.2012 0.93 29.8.2012 to 28.8.2013 29.8.2013 to 28.8.2022 6,976,991 – – – – 6,976,991
29.8.2012 0.93 29.8.2012 to 28.8.2014 29.8.2014 to 28.8.2022 4,651,327 – – – – 4,651,327
29.8.2012 0.93 29.8.2012 to 28.8.2015 29.8.2015 to 28.8.2022 4,651,327 – – – – 4,651,327
29.8.2012 0.93 29.8.2012 to 28.8.2016 29.8.2016 to 28.8.2022 6,976,992 – – – – 6,976,992

          

Total 23,256,637 – – – – 23,256,637
          

Note:  Upon completion of Open Offer on 30 August 2016, the exercise price and the number of shares that can be subscribed for upon the 
exercise of the outstanding share options was adjusted from HK$1.20 to HK$0.93 and 18,000,000 shares to 23,256,637 shares respectively.

Disclosure of Interests
Director’s interests and short positions in the securities of the Company and its associated 
corporations

As at 31 December 2016, the following Director had or was deemed to have interests or short positions in the 
shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company and its associated corporations (within the meaning of 
Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”)) (i) which were required to be notified to the Company 
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions 
which they were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); or (ii) which were required, pursuant to 
section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein; or (iii) or which were otherwise required to 
notify the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code:

Number of Shares

Name of Director Name of Company Nature of interest
Long 

Position
Short 

Position
Approximate % 

shareholding

Zhang Hong Wei The Company Attributable interest of 
controlled corporation

18,754,300,230 – 71.51 (Note 1)

Zhu Jun The Company Beneficial owner 1,443,000 – 0.01
      

Note:

1. Out of the 18,754,300,230 shares, 10,657,758,250 shares were beneficially held by He Fu International Limited, 4,447,453,416 shares were 
beneficially held by United Petroleum & Natural Gas Holdings Limited, and 3,649,088,564 shares were beneficially held by United Energy 
Holdings Limited. He Fu International Limited, United Petroleum & Natural Gas Holdings Limited and United Energy Holdings Limited are 
companies wholly-owned by Mr. Zhang Hong Wei. Therefore, Mr. Zhang Hong Wei is deemed to be interested in those 18,754,300,230 
shares.
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2016, none of the Directors and chief executives of the Company and 
their respective associates had or is deemed to have any interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares 
or debentures of the Company or its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were 
required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the 
SFO (including interests and short positions which the Directors and chief executives of the Company are taken or 
deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or were required to be recorded in the register required to be 
kept by the Company pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, or which will be required, pursuant to the Model Code, to 
be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange.

Substantial Shareholders

Persons who have an interest or short position which is discloseable under Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the 
SFO and substantial Shareholders

So far as is known to the Directors, as at 31 December 2016, the following person (not being Directors or chief 
executive of the Company) had, or was deemed to have, interests or short positions in the Shares or underlying 
Shares which would fall to be disclosed to the Company and the Stock Exchange under the provisions of Divisions 2 
and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or who were directly or indirectly interested in 10% or more of the nominal value of any 
class of share capital carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at general meetings of any member of the Group:

Name Capacity and nature of interest
Number of 

Shares
Approximate %

 shareholding

He Fu International Limited(Note 1) Beneficial owner 10,657,758,250(L) 40.64%(L)

United Petroleum & Natural Gas Holdings 
Limited(Note 1)

Beneficial owner 4,447,453,416(L) 16.96%(L)

United Energy Holdings Limited(Note 1) Beneficial owner 3,649,088,564(L) 13.91%(L)

Haitong International Holdings Limited Beneficial Owner 5,207,718,268(L) 19.87%(L)

Haitong International New Energy 
VIII Limited

Beneficial Owner 5,207,718,268(L) 19.87%(L)

Haitong International Securities Group 
Limited

Beneficial Owner 5,207,718,268(L) 19.87%(L)

Haitong Securities Co., Ltd. Beneficial Owner 5,207,718,268(L) 19.87%(L)

    

Note:

1. These companies are wholly owned by Mr. Zhang Hong Wei.

2. (L) denotes long position and (S) denotes short position

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2016, the Directors were not aware of any other person (other than the 
Directors and the chief executive of the Company) who had, or was deemed to have, interests or short positions in 
the Shares or underlying Shares (including any interests in options in respect of such capital), which would fall to be 
disclosed to the Company and the Stock Exchange under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, 
or who was directly or indirectly interested in 10% or more of the nominal value of any class of share capital carrying 
rights to vote in all circumstances at general meetings of any member of the Group.

Share Capital
Particulars of the Company’s share capital are set out in note 34 to the consolidated financial statements of this 
annual report. Details of newly issued shares of the Company during the reporting period are set out in the section 
headed “Management Discussion and Analysis – Capital Structure” on page 24 of this annual report.
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Arrangements to Purchase Shares or Debentures
At no time during the reporting period was the Company, its subsidiaries, a party to any arrangements to enable 
the Directors of the Company to acquire benefits by means of acquisition of shares in, or debt securities (including 
debentures) of, the Company or any other body corporate.

Directors’ Material Interests in Transactions, Arrangements and Contracts of Significance
No transactions, arrangements and contracts of significance in relation to the Group’s business to which the 
Company, its subsidiaries or holding company was a party and in which a Director of the Company had a material 
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the period or at any time during the reporting period, 
except as announced.

Emolument Policy
The emolument policy for the employees of the Group is set up by the Board on the basis of their merit, 
qualifications and competence. The Company has adopted the share option scheme as an incentive to qualified 
employees (with the meanings in the share option scheme of the Company). Details of the scheme are set out in the 
section headed “Share Option Scheme” on page 39 to 40 and note 37 to the consolidated financial statements of 
this annual report.

The emoluments of the Directors of the Company are decided by the Board, having regard to the Company’s 
operating results, individual performance and comparable market statistics. Details of the remuneration of the 
Directors and those of the five highest paid individuals are set out in note 15 to the consolidated financial statements 
of this annual report. There has been no arrangement under which any Director has waived or agreed to waive any 
emoluments.

Management Contracts
Other than Directors’ service contracts and employment contracts with the Group’s senior management in full-time 
employment, no contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole or any substantial part of 
the business of the Group were entered into or in existence during the year ended 31 December 2016.

Directors’ Interests in Competing Business
During the year ended 31 December 2016, none of the Directors or their respective associates had engaged in or 
had any interest in any business which competes or may compete with the business of the Group.

Pre-Emptive Rights
There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s Bye-laws or the laws of Bermuda, which would 
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.

Appointment of Independent Non-Executive Directors
The Company has received, from each of the independent non-executive Directors, an annual confirmation of his 
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Rules Governing the Listing Securities on The Stock Exchange. The 
Company considers all of the independent non-executive Directors are independent.
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Report of the Directors (Continued)

Compliance with the Model Code of the Listing Rules
The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules. Having made specific 
enquiry with the Directors, all the Directors confirmed that they have complied with the required standard as set out 
in the Model Code throughout the financial year for the year ended 31 December 2016.

The Company has also established written guidelines regarding securities transaction on no less exacting terms of 
the Model Code for senior management and specific individual who may have access to price sensitive information 
in relation to the securities of the Company.

Related Party Transactions
The related party transactions conducted during the reporting period are set out in note 39 to the consolidated 
financial statements of this annual report.

Save as disclosed below under the paragraph “Connected Transactions”, the related party transactions as set out in 
note 39 to the consolidated financial statements of this annual report do not fall under the definition of “connected 
transactions” or “continuing connected transactions” under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules during the year ended 
31 December 2016.

Connected Transactions
Save as disclosed below, the Group had not entered into any connected transactions or continuing connected 
transactions which are required to be disclosed in compliance with the requirements of Chapter 14A of the Listing 
Rules during the year ended 31 December 2016.

Pursuant to the shareholder agreement dated 25 November 2016, the Company, Orient Group Investment Holding 
Limited (“OGIHL”) and Orient Group Co., Ltd. (“Orient Group”) agreed to jointly incorporate a company, Orient 
Art Limited (“Orient Art Beijing”) in Beijing with registered capital of approximately HK$111,590,000 (equivalent 
to RMB100,000,000) and a company, Orient Art Limited (“Orient Art BVI”) in British Virgin Islands with registered 
capital of HK$350,000,000. As the ultimate substantial shareholder of OGIHL is Mr. Zhang Hong Wei who holds 
approximate 94% controlling shareholdings of OGIHL and Mr. Zhang Hong Wei is the Chairman and Director of the 
Company, OGIHL is a connected person of the Company and so the incorporation of Orient Art Beijing and Orient 
Art BVI are deemed to be a connected transaction of the Company. According to the shareholder agreement, the 
ratio of capital contribution and shareholdings of each of Orient Art Beijing and Orient Art BVI are 40% for Orient 
Group or its subsidiary, 40% for OGIHL or its subsidiary and 20% for the Company or its subsidiary respectively. The 
Company is committed to contribute approximately HK$22,318,000 (equivalent to approximately RMB20,000,000) as 
20% registered share capital of Orient Art Beijing and HK$70,000,000 as 20% registered share capital of Orient Art 
BVI. Orient Art BVI has been incorporated on 29 November 2016 and United Energy International Trading Limited, a 
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, has contributed HK$70,000,000 as 20% registered share capital of Orient 
Art BVI. At 31 December 2016, the incorporation of Orient Art Beijing was still under process and the Company 
has yet to make the contribution. Details of the transaction are set out in the Company’s announcement dated 25 
November 2016.
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Corporate Governance
In the opinion of the Directors, the Company has complied throughout the financial year for the year ended 31 
December 2016 with the Code, except for code provisions A.2.1 and A.4.1 as set out in the Code contained in 
Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules. Please refer to the Corporate Governance Report on pages 28 to 35 for details.

Details of the audit committee, remuneration committee and nomination committee are set out in the Corporate 
Governance Report.

Closure of Register of Members
The register of members of the Company will be closed from 22 May 2017 to 26 May 2017, both days inclusive, 
in order to determine the identity of the Shareholders who are entitled to attend the forthcoming annual general 
meeting to be held on 26 May 2017 (the “AGM”). In order to be eligible to attend and vote at the forthcoming 
AGM, all transfer accompanied by the relevant share certificates and transfer forms must be lodged with the 
Company’s share registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor Secretaries Limited, at Level 22, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s 
Road East, Hong Kong before 4:30 p.m. on 19 May 2017.

Sufficiency of Public Float
Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge of the Directors, the 
Company has maintained a sufficient public float throughout the financial year ended 31 December 2016.

Purchase, Sale or Redemption of Shares
The Company has not redeemed any of its shares nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased or sold any of the 
Company’s shares during the year ended 31 December 2016.

Events After Reporting Period
The Group and the Company do not have material events happened after the reporting period.

Auditors
At the Company’s last annual general meeting held on 27 May 2016, RSM Hong Kong was re-appointed as auditor 
of the Company. RSM Hong Kong retires, and, being eligible, offers themselves for re-appointment. A resolution for 
the reappointment of RSM Hong Kong will be put at the forthcoming AGM.

By order of the Board
United Energy Group Limited

Zhang Hong Wei
Chairman
Hong Kong, 20 March 2017



452016 ANNUAL REPORT

BIOGRAPHY OF DIRECTORS 
AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
Executive Directors
Mr. Zhang Hong Wei, aged 62, joined the Company on 27 February 1998. Mr. Zhang is the Chairman of the Group. 
Mr. Zhang is also the chairman and president of Orient Group Inc. and the Deputy Chairman of China Minsheng 
Banking Corporation Ltd., a joint-stock bank listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange and on the Stock Exchange 
of Hong Kong Limited. Mr. Zhang has 30 more years of experience in management in the PRC. As at the date of 
this annual report, Mr. Zhang is beneficially interested in 18,754,300,230 shares of the Company, representing 
approximately 71.51% of the existing issued share capital of the Company, and is the Controlling shareholder of the 
Company. Mr. Zhang is the father of Ms. Zhang Meiying, an executive Director appointed on 19 June 2006.

Mr. Zhu Jun, aged 51, joined the Company on 20 October 2005 as an executive Director. He is currently an 
executive Director of China International Holdings Limited (formerly known as China Infrastructure Holdings Limited), 
the shares of which are listed on The Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited. After graduation from the 
Peking University with a bachelor degree and a master degree in economics, Mr. Zhu Jun has had over 23 years 
of experience in corporate finance, investment and management. As at the date of this annual report, Mr. Zhu Jun 
directly holds 1,443,000 shares of the Company, representing approximately 0.01% of the existing issued share 
capital of the Company.

Ms. Zhang Meiying, aged 38, joined the Company on 19 June 2006 as an executive Director. Ms. Zhang previously 
worked in Citigroup Investment Banking Division (Hong Kong), China Minsheng Banking Corporation Limited and 
America Orient Group, Inc. and has over 13 years of experience in banking and financial management. Ms. Zhang 
Meiying holds a BBA degree in Finance and International Business from the George Washington University, USA. Ms. 
Zhang has not held any directorship with other listed companies in the last 3 years. Ms. Zhang is the daughter of Mr. 
Zhang Hong Wei, the Chairman, executive Director and controlling shareholder of the Company.

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. San Fung, aged 52, joined the Company on 9 November 2004 as an independent non-executive Director. Mr. 
San Fung completed a course in Master of Business Administration from the International Eastwestern University 
of the United States and a course of EMBA from Cheung Kong Graduate School of Business and was awarded a 
master degree. He specialized in financial analysis in infrastructure project and has over 19 years of experience 
in management and business operation. Mr. San is currently the chairman of Shenzhen Jin Xun Investment 
Development Company Limited.

Mr. Chau Siu Wai, aged 47, joined the Company on 9 November 2004 as an independent non-executive Director. 
He obtained a master degree in business administration from Murdoch University in Australia. Mr. Chau has over 13 
years of experience in financial reporting and investment analysis and is now the Managing Director of an investment 
company.

Mr. Zhu Chengwu, aged 47, joined the Company on 5 December 2005 as an independent non-executive Director. 
Mr. Zhu graduated from the Lanzhou Commercial College with a bachelor degree in finance. Mr. Zhu also acquired 
the intermediate-level accountant certificate jointly issued by the Ministry of Finance and the Ministry of Personnel 
of the PRC on 30 May 2000. Mr. Zhu had held senior financial positions in several PRC companies including chief 
financial officer of the Shanghai head office of Everbright Securities Company Limited and director and chief financial 
officer of Shenzhen Techo Telecom Co., Ltd. (“Shenzhen Techo”). Through his past experience, in particular, as 
the Director of Shenzhen Techo, Mr. Zhu has gained much experience in (a) preparing and conducting review and 
internal audit of financial statements and reports; and (b) internal control and procedures for financial reporting in 
respect of public companies and possesses such knowledge, experience and expertise of an independent non-
executive Director as required under Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules. Mr. Zhu is considered to be an independent 
non-executive Director under Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.
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Biography of Directors and Senior Management (Continued)

Senior Management
Mr. Song Yu, aged 40, joined the Company in October 2009 as Investment Controller and promoted as Chief 
Operation Officer of the Company in October 2011. Mr. Song graduated from the Tsinghua University and obtained 
a bachelor’s degree in physics and master’s degree in law in International Economic Law. Before joining the 
Company, Mr. Song worked in different subsidiaries of Sinopec Group during the period from 2004 to 2009. During 
that time, Mr. Song served various positions including the general director in a subsidiary of Sinopec Group and 
focused on oil trading, procurement and technical services in relation to petroleum exploration and production, and 
in-house legal consultant and head of legal in other subsidiaries of Sinopec Group.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
UNITED ENERGY GROUP LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands and continued in Bermuda with limited liability)

Opinion
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of United Energy Group Limited (the “Company”) and its 
subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 52 to 139, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial 
position as at 31 December 2016, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement 
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the 
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, 
including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position 
of the Group as at 31 December 2016, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows 
for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the 
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance 
with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. 
Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of 
the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with 
the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key Audit Matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the 
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit 
of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a 
separate opinion on these matters. The key audit matters we identified are:

1. Impairment of intangible assets and property, plant and equipment

2. Estimate of oil and gas reserves
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

Key Audit Matters (Continued)

Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

Impairment of intangible assets and property, 
plant and equipment of exploration and production 
segment

Refer to Note 19 and Note 20 to the consolidated 
financial statements and the accounting policies on 
pages 67 to 69 and 76.

The exploration and production segment represents 
the Group’s upstream oil and natural gas businesses 
in Pakistan. As at 31 December 2016, the Group 
had intangible assets and property, plant and 
equipment with carrying values of approximately 
HK$2,514,303,000 and HK$5,317,361,000 respectively 
attributable to the exploration and production 
segment.

During the year, the international oil and gas market 
remained weak and the international oil prices stayed 
at a low level. This increased the risk that the carrying 
values of the exploration and production intangible 
assets and property, plant and equipment could be 
impaired.

Management carried out an impairment review 
having regard to the current market conditions. The 
review also took into consideration the depletion 
of commercial oil and gas reserves due to current 
product ion and technica l  eva luat ions of  the 
commercial viability of those oil and gas fields with 
marginal production. Management considered certain 
oil and gas fields were no longer economical and that 
the related assets should be fully written off. Write-
offs of exploration and production intangible assets 
and property, plant and equipment of approximately 
HK$3,383,000 and HK$184,122,000 respectively were 
recognised during the year.

The determination of the recoverable amounts of 
exploration and production intangible assets and 
property, plant and equipment requires management 
to exercise significant judgement in respect of 
future oil and gas prices, oil and gas reserves, future 
production levels, future operating/capital costs and 
appropriate discount rates.

Audit procedures performed by the component 
auditors in Pakistan and by the Group audit 
engagement team included:

• Understanding management’s impairment 
assessment process.

• Meet ing  w i th  ope ra t ions  and  f i nance 
management to discuss asset performance, 
production and reserves data and future plans 
in order to identify any performance-related 
indicators of impairment.

• For those oil  and gas f ields which were 
considered no longer commercially viable with 
marginal or no production, we obtained the list 
of written off assets and their carrying values 
and:

– Assessed the mathematical accuracy of 
the write-off amounts;

– Assessed the written off assets performance 
by inspecting supporting evidence such 
as reserves estimates, current production 
information and future production plans;

– Reviewed the reserves estimates report 
and current production information to 
ensure all cash generating units with 
indications of no commercial viability 
had been considered; and

– Assessed the adequacy of the disclosures 
in the financial statements in relation to 
the write off of exploration and production 
assets.
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Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

Estimate of oil and gas reserves

Refer to the key sources of estimation uncertainty on 
pages 77 to 78.

The estimation of oil and gas reserves is a significant 
area of judgement due to the technical uncertainty 
in assessing quantities and complex contractual 
arrangements dictat ing the Group’s share of 
reportable volumes.

These estimates have a significant impact on the 
financial statements, in particular in the determination 
of impairment losses and depreciation, depletion and 
amortisation charges.

Audit procedures performed by the component 
auditors in Pakistan and by the Group audit 
engagement team included:

• Performing walk through procedures to 
understand management’s internal processes 
and controls over estimates of oil and gas 
reserves.

• Assessing the professional competence, 
objectivity and capabilities of the independent 
external expert engaged by the Group to audit 
the Group’s estimates of oil and gas reserves 
and ensuring that the scope of work undertaken 
by the expert was appropriate.

• Reviewing the reports of the independent 
external experts on their audit of the reserves 
shared by the Group and ensuring that the 
updated estimates of oil and gas reserves were 
properly included in the Group’s impairment 
assessment and in accounting for depreciation, 
depletion and amortisation.

  

Other Information
The directors are responsible for the Other Information. The Other Information comprises all of the information 
included in the annual report other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the Other Information and we do not express 
any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the Other 
Information and, in doing so, consider whether the Other Information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated 
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this Other 
Information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Key Audit Matters (Continued)
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

Responsibilities of Directors for the Consolidated Financial Statements
The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and 
fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong 
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the 
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability 
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going 
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have 
no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee assists the directors in discharging their responsibility for overseeing the Group’s financial 
reporting process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes 
our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with section 90 of the Companies Act 
1981 of Bermuda and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other 
person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance 
with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error 
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the 
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional 
skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due 
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence 
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material 
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, 
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of 
the Group’s internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 
and related disclosures made by the directors.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
• Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based 

on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that 
may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a 
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures 
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our 
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future 
events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including 
the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and 
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business 
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible 
for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit 
opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the 
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during 
our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements 
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be 
thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine those matters that were of most 
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key 
audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure 
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated 
in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public 
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Wong Tak Man, Stephen.

RSM Hong Kong
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

20 March 2017
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
For the year ended 31 December 2016

2016 2015
Note HK$’000 HK$’000

(Restated)

Continuing operations

Turnover 8 4,061,024 5,231,023

Cost of sales and services rendered (1,925,130) (2,293,366)
    

Gross profit 2,135,894 2,937,657

Investment and other income 9 31,021 33,229
Other gains and losses 10 (83,396) (641,392)
Exploration expenses (165,749) (946,712)
Administrative expenses (380,401) (386,612)
Other operating expenses (103,344) (100,651)

    

Profit from operations 1,434,025 895,519

Finance costs 12 (232,447) (253,815)
Share of losses of an associate (3) –

    

Profit before tax 1,201,575 641,704

Income tax expense 14 (176,662) (117,429)
    

Profit for the year from continuing operations 13 1,024,913 524,275

Discontinued operation
Loss for the year from discontinued operation 16 (64,560) (3,474,895)

    

Profit/(loss) for the year 960,353 (2,950,620)
    

Attributable to:
Owners of the Company

Profit for the year from continuing operations 1,029,568 531,221
Loss for the year from discontinued operation (64,560) (3,474,895)

    

965,008 (2,943,674)
Non-controlling interests

Loss for the year from continuing operations (4,655) (6,946)
    

960,353 (2,950,620)
    

Earnings/(loss) per share 17

From continuing and discontinued operations
Basic (cents per share) 4.90 (17.43)

    

Diluted (cents per share) N/A N/A
    

From continuing operations
Basic (cents per share) 5.23 3.14

    

Diluted (cents per share) N/A N/A
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
For the year ended 31 December 2016

2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$’000

(Restated)

Profit/(loss) for the year 960,353 (2,950,620)
   

Other comprehensive income after tax:
Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss:
Exchange differences on translating foreign operations 20,082 8,993
Exchange gains reclassified to profit or loss on disposal of subsidiaries – (54,158)
   

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax 20,082 (45,165)
   

Total comprehensive income for the year 980,435 (2,995,785)
   

Attributable to:
Owners of the Company

Profit for the year from continuing operations 1,051,383 487,809
Loss for the year from discontinued operation (64,560) (3,474,895)

   

986,823 (2,987,086)
   

Non-controlling interests
Loss for the year from continuing operations (6,388) (8,699)

   

980,435 (2,995,785)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
At 31 December 2016

2016 2015
Note HK$’000 HK$’000

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 19 5,350,975 5,479,120
Intangible assets 20 2,514,303 2,781,833
Investment in an associate 21 69,997 –
Available-for-sale financial assets 22 4,914 –
Advances, deposits and prepayments 23 62,072 98,213
Pledged bank deposits 28(b) – 146,038
Deferred tax assets 33 113,891 168,621

    

8,116,152 8,673,825
    

Current assets

Restricted deposits 24 – 412,001
Inventories 25 207,794 223,703
Trade and other receivables 26 724,587 1,704,047
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 27 259,771 201,831
Current tax assets 337,114 305,215
Pledged bank deposits 28(b) 1,123 31,558
Bank and cash balances 28(a) 5,850,098 2,161,630

    

7,380,487 5,039,985
    

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 29 1,078,943 1,495,940
Due to directors 30 9,558 8,324
Borrowings 31 773,268 1,460,224
Current tax liabilities 18,617 12,139

    

1,880,386 2,976,627
    

Net current assets 5,500,101 2,063,358
    

Total assets less current liabilities 13,616,253 10,737,183
    

Non-current liabilities

Trade and other payables 29 – 89,859
Borrowings 31 2,496,000 3,120,000
Provisions 32 291,268 287,696
Deferred tax liabilities 33 405,441 398,019

    

3,192,709 3,895,574
    

NET ASSETS 10,423,544 6,841,609
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position (Continued)
At 31 December 2016

2016 2015
Note HK$’000 HK$’000

Capital and reserves

Share capital 34 262,256 130,857
Reserves 36(a) 10,137,961 6,681,037

    

Equity attributable to owners of the Company 10,400,217 6,811,894

Non-controlling interests 23,327 29,715
    

TOTAL EQUITY 10,423,544 6,841,609
    

Approved by the Board of Directors on 20 March 2017 and are signed on its behalf by:

Zhang Hong Wei Zhu Jun
Director Director



56 UNITED ENERGY GROUP LIMITED

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
For the year ended 31 December 2016

Attributable to owners of the Company 

Share 
capital

Share 
premium 
account

Merger 
reserve

Contributed 
surplus 
reserve

Capital 
reserve

Foreign 
currency 

translation 
reserve

Share-
based 
capital 

reserve
Accumulated 

losses Total

Non-
controlling 

interests
Total 

equity
(note 34) (note 36(c)) (note 36(c)) (note 36(c)) (note 36(c)) (note 36(c)) (note 36(c))
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 January 2015 130,681 13,312,566 (2,286,000) – 155,580 75,728 14,258 (1,623,855) 9,778,958 38,414 9,817,372
            

Total comprehensive income 
for the year – – – – – (43,412) – (2,943,674) (2,987,086) (8,699) (2,995,785)

Recognition of share-based 
payments – – – – – – 1,906 – 1,906 – 1,906

Expired of share-based 
payments – – – – – – (2,043) 2,043 – – –

Transfer – (13,312,566) – 13,312,566 – – – – – – –
Release upon the disposal of 

subsidiaries (note 38(b)) – – – – (155,580) – – 155,580 – – –
Issue of shares under 

employees performance 
share schemes (note 34(a)) 104 11,579 – – – – – – 11,683 – 11,683

Issue of shares under share 
match scheme (note 34(b)) 72 6,361 – – – – – – 6,433 – 6,433

            

Changes in equity for the year 176 (13,294,626) – 13,312,566 (155,580) (43,412) (137) (2,786,051) (2,967,064) (8,699) (2,975,763)
            

At 31 December 2015 130,857 17,940 (2,286,000) 13,312,566 – 32,316 14,121 (4,409,906) 6,811,894 29,715 6,841,609
            

At 1 January 2016 130,857 17,940 (2,286,000) 13,312,566 – 32,316 14,121 (4,409,906) 6,811,894 29,715 6,841,609
            

Total comprehensive income 
for the year – – – – – 21,815 – 965,008 986,823 (6,388) 980,435

Recognition of share-based 
payments – – – – – – 803 – 803 – 803

Issue of shares under 
employees performance 
share schemes (note 34(a)) 162 10,903 – – – – – – 11,065 – 11,065

Issue of shares under share 
match scheme (note 34(b)) 217 5,317 – – – – – – 5,534 – 5,534

Issue of shares under open 
offer (note 34(c)) 131,020 2,453,078 – – – – – – 2,584,098 – 2,584,098

            

Changes in equity for the year 131,399 2,469,298 – – – 21,815 803 965,008 3,588,323 (6,388) 3,581,935
            

At 31 December 2016 262,256 2,487,238 (2,286,000) 13,312,566 – 54,131 14,924 (3,444,898) 10,400,217 23,327 10,423,544
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
For the year ended 31 December 2016

2016 2015
Note HK$’000 HK$’000

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Profit/(loss) before tax
Continuing operations 1,201,575 641,704
Discontinued operation (64,560) (4,416,227)

    

1,137,015 (3,774,523)
Adjustments for:

Allowance for inventories – 4,872
Allowance for trade and other receivables – 19,326
Depreciation and amortisation 1,420,862 1,805,246
Fair value (gains)/losses on financial assets at fair value through 

profit or loss (135) 515
Finance costs 232,447 253,815
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries 38(b) – (54,158)
Impairment losses on advances, deposits and prepayments – 271
Impairment losses on intangible assets – 3,864,048
Impairment losses on property, plant and equipment – 693,323
Investment income (20,047) (25,948)
Loss/(gain) on disposals of property, plant and equipment 3,441 (31,816)
Reversal of allowance for other receivables (2,136) –
Share-based payments 10,780 10,754
Share of losses of an associate 3 –
Written off of intangible assets 3,383 134,567
Written off of property, plant and equipment 184,122 1,129,075

    

Operating profit before working capital changes 2,969,735 4,029,367
Decrease in inventories 15,477 76,443
Decrease in trade and other receivables 979,867 143,093
Increase in advances, deposits and prepayments (55) (774)
Increase in financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (57,804) (50,000)
Decrease in trade and other payables (486,877) (443,384)
Increase in due to directors 1,234 731
Decrease in provisions (28,425) (14,597)

    

Cash generated from operations 3,393,152 3,740,879
Interest paid (229,578) (244,500)
Income taxes paid (140,166) (94,208)

    

Net cash generated from operating activities 3,023,408 3,402,171
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (Continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2016

2016 2015
Note HK$’000 HK$’000

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Decrease in term deposits 142,669 27,347
Decrease/(increase) in pledged bank deposits 172,613 (177,895)
Decrease/(increase) in deposit paid for acquisition of property, plant 

and equipment 36,084 (17,395)
Refund/(placement) of restricted deposits 412,001 (412,001)
Investment in an associate (70,000) –
Redemption of held-to-maturity investments – 154,803
Purchases of property, plant and equipment (1,197,765) (2,661,896)
Purchase of available-for-sale financial assets (4,914) –
Proceeds from disposals of property, plant and equipment 569 183
Interest received 19,880 20,117

    

Net cash used in investing activities (488,863) (3,066,737)
    

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from issue of shares under share match scheme 5,534 6,433
Net proceeds from issue of shares under open offer 2,584,098 –
Dividends received 167 164
Bank loans raised – 144,300
Repayment of bank loans (768,300) (768,310)
Repayment of medium term notes (569,957) –

    

Net cash generated from/(used in) financing activities 1,251,542 (617,413)
    

NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 3,786,087 (281,979)

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes 49,132 (16,155)

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT 1 JANUARY 2,001,238 2,299,372
    

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT 31 DECEMBER 5,836,457 2,001,238
    

ANALYSIS OF CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Bank and cash balances 5,850,098 2,161,630
Less: term deposits matured over 3 months but within 1 year (13,641) (160,392)

    

Cash and cash equivalents 28(a) 5,836,457 2,001,238
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2016

1. General Information
The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands and redomiciled to Bermuda as an exempted 
company with limited liability under the Companies Act of Bermuda. The address of its registered office is 
Clarendon House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton HM11, Bermuda. The address of its principal place of business is 
Unit 2505, 25/F, Two Pacific Place, 88 Queensway, Hong Kong. The Company’s shares are listed on the Main 
Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 
44 to the consolidated financial statements.

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, Mr. Zhang Hong Wei is the ultimate controlling party of the 
Company.

2. Basis of Preparation
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with all applicable Hong 
Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public 
Accountants (the “HKICPA”). HKFRSs comprise Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRS”); Hong 
Kong Accounting Standards (“HKAS”); and Interpretations. These consolidated financial statements also 
comply with the applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the 
Stock Exchange and with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622). 
Significant accounting policies adopted by the Group are disclosed below.

The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised HKFRSs that are first effective or available for early adoption 
for the current accounting period of the Group. Note 3 provides information on any changes in accounting 
policies resulting from initial application of these developments to the extent that they are relevant to the 
Group for the current and prior accounting periods reflected in these consolidated financial statements.

3. Adoption of New and Revised Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(a) Application of new and revised HKFRSs

The HKICPA has issued a number of new and revised HKFRSs that are first effective for annual periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2016. None of these developments have had a material effect on 
how the Group’s results and financial position for the current or prior periods have been prepared or 
presented.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2016

3. Adoption of New and Revised Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (Continued)
(b) New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied new and revised HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet 
effective for the financial year beginning 1 January 2016. These new and revised HKFRSs include the 
following which may be relevant to the Group.

Effective for
accounting

periods
beginning on

or after

Amendments to HKAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows: Disclosure initiative 1 January 2017

Amendments to HKAS 12 Income Taxes: Recognition of deferred tax 
assets for unrealised losses 1 January 2017

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments 1 January 2018

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers 1 January 2018

Amendments to HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment: Classification and 
measurement of share-based payment transactions 1 January 2018

Amendments to HKFRS 4 Applying HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments with
HKFRS 4 Insurance Contracts 1 January 2018

HKFRS 16 Leases 1 January 2019

Amendments to HKFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements and
HKAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures: Sale or
contribution of assets between an investor and its associate or 
joint venture To be determined

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of what the impact of these amendments and 
new standards is expected to be in the period of initial application. So far the Group has identified 
some aspects of the new standards which may have a significant impact on the consolidated financial 
statements. Further details of the expected impacts are discussed below. As the Group has not 
completed its assessment, further impacts may be identified in due course.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2016

3. Adoption of New and Revised Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (Continued)
(b) New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective (Continued)

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments

The standard replaces HKAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement.

The standard introduces a new approach to the classification of financial assets which is based on 
cash flow characteristics and the business model in which the asset is held. A debt instrument that 
is held within a business model whose objective is to collect the contractual cash flows and that has 
contractual cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal outstanding is 
measured at amortised cost. A debt instrument that is held within a business model whose objective 
is achieved by both collecting the contractual cash flows and selling the instruments and that has 
contractual cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal outstanding 
is measured at fair value through other comprehensive income. All other debt instruments are 
measured at fair value through profit or loss. Equity instruments are generally measured at fair value 
through profit or loss. However, an entity may make an irrevocable election on an instrument-by-
instrument basis to measure equity instruments that are not held for trading at fair value through other 
comprehensive income.

The requirements for the classification and measurement of financial liabilities are carried forward 
largely unchanged from HKAS 39 except that when the fair value option is applied changes in fair 
value attributable to changes in own credit risk are recognised in other comprehensive income unless 
this creates an accounting mismatch.

HKFRS 9 introduces a new expected-loss impairment model to replace the incurred-loss impairment 
model in HKAS 39. It is no longer necessary for a credit event or impairment trigger to have occurred 
before impairment losses are recognised. For financial assets measured at amortised cost or fair 
value through other comprehensive income, an entity will generally recognise 12-month expected 
credit losses. If there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, an entity 
will recognise lifetime expected credit losses. The standard includes a simplified approach for trade 
receivables to always recognise the lifetime expected credit losses.

The de-recognition requirements in HKAS 39 are carried forward largely unchanged.

HKFRS 9 substantially overhauls the hedge accounting requirements in HKAS 39 to align hedge 
accounting more closely with risk management and establish a more principle based approach.

The Group’s financial assets that are currently classified as available-for-sale include unlisted equity 
securities. The Group expects to irrevocably designate these equity securities as fair value through 
other comprehensive income. This will give rise to a change in accounting policy. The unlisted equity 
securities are currently measured at cost less impairment with any impairment losses recognised in 
profit or loss. HKFRS 9 requires fair value measurement with fair value changes recognised in other 
comprehensive income without recycling.

The Group is unable to quantify the impact until a more detailed assessment is completed.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2016

3. Adoption of New and Revised Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (Continued)
(b) New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective (Continued)

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

HKFRS 15 replaces all existing revenue standards and interpretations.

The core principle of the standard is that an entity recognises revenue to depict the transfer of goods 
and services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to 
become entitled in exchange for those goods and services.

An entity recognises revenue in accordance with the core principle by applying a 5-step model:

1. Identify the contract with a customer

2. Identify the performance obligations in the contract

3. Determine the transaction price

4. Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract

5. Recognise revenue when or as the entity satisfies a performance obligation

The standard also includes comprehensive disclosure requirements relating to revenue.

The standard is not effective until 1 January 2018. The Group is currently assessing the effects of 
applying the new standard on the Group’s consolidated financial statements. At this stage, the Group 
is unable to estimate the impact of the new standard on the consolidated financial statements until a 
more detailed analysis is completed. The Group does not expect to adopt the new standard before 1 
January 2018.

HKFRS 16 Leases

HKFRS 16 replaces HKAS 17 Leases and related interpretations. The new standard introduces a 
single accounting model for lessees. For lessees the distinction between operating and finance 
leases is removed and lessees will recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for all leases (with 
optional exemptions for short-term leases and leases of low value assets). HKFRS 16 carries forward 
the accounting requirements for lessors in HKAS 17 substantially unchanged. Lessors will therefore 
continue to classify leases as operating or financing leases.

The Group’s office property leases are currently classified as operating leases and the lease payments 
(net of any incentives received from the lessor) are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis 
over the lease term. Under HKFRS 16 the Group may need to recognise and measure a liability at the 
present value of the future minimum lease payments and recognise a corresponding right-of-use asset 
for these leases. The interest expense on the lease liability and depreciation on the right-of-use asset 
will be recognised in profit or loss. The Group’s assets and liabilities will increase and the timing of 
expense recognition will also be impacted as a result.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2016

3. Adoption of New and Revised Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (Continued)
(b) New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective (Continued)

HKFRS 16 Leases (Continued)

As disclosed in note 42, the Group’s future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating 
leases for its office premises, staff quarters, motor vehicles and plant and machinery amounted to 
approximately HK$36,372,000 as at 31 December 2016. The Group will need to perform a more 
detailed assessment in order to determine the new assets and liabilities arising from these operating 
leases commitments after taking into account the transition reliefs available in HKFRS 16 and the 
effects of discounting.

4. Significant Accounting Policies
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, unless 
mentioned otherwise in the accounting policies below (e.g. financial instruments that are measured at fair 
value).

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with HKFRS requires the use of certain critical 
accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the 
Group’s accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where 
assumptions and estimates are significant to the consolidated financial statements are disclosed in note 5.

The significant accounting policies applied in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements are 
set out below.

(a) Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the Company and its 
subsidiaries made up to 31 December. Subsidiaries are entities over which the Group has control. The 
Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with 
the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity. The Group has 
power over an entity when the Group has existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the 
relevant activities, i.e. activities that significantly affect the entity’s returns.

When assessing control, the Group considers its potential voting rights as well as potential voting 
rights held by other parties. A potential voting right is considered only if the holder has the practical 
ability to exercise that right.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group. They are de-
consolidated from the date the control ceases.

The gain or loss on the disposal of a subsidiary that results in a loss of control represents the difference 
between (i) the fair value of the consideration of the sale plus the fair value of any investment retained 
in that subsidiary and (ii) the Company’s share of the net assets of that subsidiary plus any remaining 
goodwill and any accumulated foreign currency translation reserve relating to that subsidiary.

Intragroup transactions, balances and unrealised profits are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also 
eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred. 
Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with 
the policies adopted by the Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2016

4. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
(a) Consolidation (Continued)

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in subsidiaries not attributable, directly or indirectly, 
to the Company. Non-controlling interests are presented in the consolidated statement of financial 
position and consolidated statement of changes in equity within equity. Non-controlling interests are 
presented in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and consolidated statement of profit or loss 
and other comprehensive income as an allocation of profit or loss and total comprehensive income for 
the year between the non-controlling shareholders and owners of the Company.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of the 
Company and to the non-controlling shareholders even if this results in the non-controlling interests 
having a deficit balance.

Changes in the Company’s ownership interest in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are 
accounted for as equity transactions (i.e. transactions with owners in their capacity as owners). The 
carrying amounts of the controlling and non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes 
in their relative interests in the subsidiary. Any difference between the amount by which the non-
controlling interests are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or received is recognised 
directly in equity and attributed to the owners of the Company.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, an investment in a subsidiary is stated at cost less 
impairment loss, unless the investment is classified as held for sale (or included in a disposal group 
that is classified as held for sale).

(b) Associates

Associates are entities over which the Group has significant influence. Significant influence is the 
power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of an entity but is not control or 
joint control over those policies. The existence and effect of potential voting rights that are currently 
exercisable or convertible, including potential voting rights held by other entities, are considered 
when assessing whether the Group has significant influence. In assessing whether a potential voting 
right contributes to significant influence, the holder’s intention and financial ability to exercise or 
convert that right is not considered.

Investment in an associate is accounted for in the consolidated financial statements by the equity 
method and is initially recognised at cost. Identifiable assets and liabilities of the associate in an 
acquisition are measured at their fair values at the acquisition date. The excess of the cost of the 
investment over the Group’s share of the net fair value of the associate’s identifiable assets and 
liabilities is recorded as goodwill. The goodwill is included in the carrying amount of the investment 
and is tested for impairment together with the investment at the end of each reporting period when 
there is objective evidence that the investment is impaired. Any excess of the Group’s share of the 
net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of acquisition is recognised in 
consolidated profit or loss.

The Group’s share of an associate’s post-acquisition profits or losses and other comprehensive income 
is recognised in consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. When the 
Group’s share of losses in an associate equals or exceeds its interest in the associate (which includes 
any long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the Group’s net investment in the associate), 
the Group does not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made payments on 
behalf of the associate. If the associate subsequently reports profits, the Group resumes recognising 
its share of those profits only after its share of the profits equals the share of losses not recognised.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2016

4. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
(b) Associates (Continued)

The gain or loss on the disposal of an associate that results in a loss of significant influence represents 
the difference between (i) the fair value of the consideration of the sale plus the fair value of any 
investment retained in that associate and (ii) the Group’s entire carrying amount of that associate 
(including goodwill) and any related accumulated foreign currency translation reserve. If an investment 
in an associate becomes an investment in a joint venture, the Group continues to apply the equity 
method and does not remeasure the retained interest.

Unrealised profits on transactions between the Group and its associates are eliminated to the extent 
of the Group’s interests in the associates. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction 
provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of associates have 
been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

(c) Joint arrangements

A joint arrangement is an arrangement of which two or more parties have joint control. Joint control is 
the contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions about 
the relevant activities require the unanimous consent of the parties sharing control. Relevant activities 
are activities that significantly affect the returns of the arrangement. When assessing joint control, the 
Group considers its potential voting rights as well as potential voting rights held by other parties. A 
potential voting right is considered only if the holder has the practical ability to exercise that right.

A joint arrangement is either a joint operation or a joint venture. A joint operation is a joint 
arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the assets, 
and obligations for the liabilities, relating to the arrangement. A joint venture is a joint arrangement 
whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net assets of the 
arrangement. The Group has assessed the type of each of its joint arrangements and determined them 
to all be joint operations.

In relation to its interest in a joint operation, the Group recognises in its consolidated financial 
statements in accordance with the HKFRSs applicable to the particular assets, liabilities, revenues and 
expenses: its assets, including its share of any assets held jointly; its liabilities, including its share of 
any liabilities incurred jointly; its revenue from the sale of its share of the output arising from the joint 
operation; its share of the revenue from the sale of the output by the joint operation; and its expenses, 
including its share of any expenses incurred jointly.
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4. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
(d) Foreign currency translation

(i) Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities are measured using 
the currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (the “functional 
currency”). The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars, which is 
the Company’s functional and presentation currency.

(ii) Transactions and balances in each entity’s financial statements

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the functional currency on initial 
recognition using the exchange rates prevailing on the transaction dates. Monetary assets and 
liabilities in foreign currencies are translated at the exchange rates at the end of each reporting 
period. Gains and losses resulting from this translation policy are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair value in foreign currencies are translated using 
the exchange rates at the dates when the fair values are determined.

When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised in other comprehensive income, any 
exchange component of that gain or loss is recognised in other comprehensive income. When 
a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised in profit or loss, any exchange component 
of that gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.

(iii) Translation on consolidation

The results and financial position of all the Group entities that have a functional currency 
different from the Company’s presentation currency are translated into the Company’s 
presentation currency as follows:

– Assets and liabilities for each statement of financial position presented are translated at 
the closing rate at the date of that statement of financial position;

– Income and expenses are translated at average exchange rates for the period (unless 
this average is not a reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates 
prevailing on the transaction dates, in which case income and expenses are translated at 
the exchange rates on the transaction dates); and

– All resulting exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive income and 
accumulated in the foreign currency translation reserve.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation of monetary items that form 
part of the net investment in foreign entities are recognised in other comprehensive income 
and accumulated in the foreign currency translation reserve. When a foreign operation is sold, 
such exchange differences are reclassified to the consolidated profit or loss as part of the gain 
or loss on disposal.
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4. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
(e) Property, plant and equipment (other than oil and gas properties and exploration and 

evaluation expenditures)

Property, plant and equipment held for use in the production or supply of goods or services, or 
for administrative purposes (other than freehold land, construction in progress and spare parts 
as described below), are stated in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost, less 
subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as 
appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow 
to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are 
recognised in profit or loss during the year in which they are incurred.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is calculated at rates sufficient to write off their cost 
less their residual values over the estimated useful lives on a straight-line basis. The principal annual 
rates are as follows:

Buildings 5%
Leasehold improvements 5%
Motor vehicles 25%
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 20%–33.33%
Plant and machinery 20%

The residual values, useful lives and depreciation method are reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate, at 
the end of each reporting period.

Freehold land is stated at cost less subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Construction in progress represents plant and machinery pending installation and costs of property, 
plant and equipment under construction, and is stated at cost less impairment losses. Depreciation 
begins when the relevant assets are available for use.

Spare parts are classified as property, plant and equipment rather than inventories when they meet the 
definition of property, plant and equipment. Upon utilisation, capital spares and serving equipment 
are depreciated as part of the principal asset.

The gain or loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment is the difference between the net sales 
proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset, and is recognised in profit or loss.



68 UNITED ENERGY GROUP LIMITED

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2016

4. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
(f) Oil and gas properties and exploration and evaluation expenditures

Oil and gas properties are accounted for using the successful efforts method of accounting. Under 
this method, all costs for development wells, support equipment and facilities, and proved mineral 
interests in oil and gas properties are capitalised. Geological and geophysical costs are expensed 
when incurred. Exploratory expenses are capitalised as exploration and evaluation expenditures 
in property, plant and equipment pending determination of whether the exploratory wells find 
commercial reserves. Commercial reserves are the estimated quantities of crude oil and natural gas 
which geological and engineering data demonstrate with reasonable certainty to be recoverable in 
future years from known reservoirs under existing economic and operating conditions, i.e., prices and 
costs as of the date the estimate is made.

Exploratory wells in areas not requiring major capital expenditures are evaluated for economic 
viability within one year of completion of drilling. The related well costs are expensed as dry holes 
if it is determined that such economic viability is not attained. Otherwise, the related well costs are 
reclassified to oil and gas properties and subject to impairment review. For exploratory wells that are 
found to have economically viable reserves in areas where major capital expenditure will be required 
before production can commence, the related well costs remain capitalised only if additional drilling is 
under way or firmly planned. Otherwise the related well costs are expensed as dry holes.

Oil and gas properties are stated at cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation and any 
subsequent impairment losses. The cost of oil and gas properties (including decommissioning cost 
and future capital expenditures) is depreciated at the field level based on the unit-of-production 
method over the proved and probable reserves of petroleum.

Exploration and evaluation expenditures are stated at cost less impairment losses. Depreciation 
begins when the relevant assets are transferred to oil and gas properties and available for use.

(g) Decommissioning cost

Decommissioning cost represents cost for the future abandonment of oil and gas production facilities, 
representing the legal obligations, at the end of their economic lives. Decommissioning activities 
may include facility decommissioning and dismantling, removal or treatment of waste materials, land 
rehabilitation, and site restoration.

The Group makes provision for its share of the full decommissioning cost on the declaration 
of commercial discovery of the reserves of each field, to fulfil the legal obligation. The amount 
recognised as part of the cost of oil and gas properties is the estimated cost of decommissioning, 
discounted to its net present value. The timing and amount of future expenditure are reviewed 
annually together with the interest rate to be used in discounting the cash flows. Any change in the 
present value of the estimated expenditure is dealt with prospectively and reflected as an adjustment 
to the provision and a corresponding adjustment to property, plant and equipment – oil and gas 
properties.

Decommissioning costs are depreciated as part of the cost of oil and gas properties using the unit-
of-production method over the proved and probable reserves. The unwinding of discount of the 
provision of decommissioning cost is recognised as finance costs in the consolidated profit or loss.
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4. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
(h) Leases

Leases that do not substantially transfer to the Group all the risks and rewards of ownership of assets 
are accounted for as operating leases. Lease payments (net of any incentives received from the lessor) 
are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

(i) Intangible assets

Intangible assets that are acquired in business combinations are recognised at fair value on initial 
recognition. After initial recognition, intangible assets are carried at cost less subsequent accumulated 
amortisation and any subsequent accumulated impairment losses.

Amortisation of intangible assets with finite useful lives is charged to consolidated profit or loss on 
a straight-line basis over the assets’ estimated useful lives, except for oil exploitation rights and 
concession and lease rights which are amortised using the unit-of-production method over the proved 
and probable reserves of petroleum.

The following intangible assets with finite useful lives are amortised from the date they are available 
for use and their estimated useful lives are as follows:

Estimated
useful lives

Technical know-how 8 years
Contractual rights in oil exploitation projects 3 years

Both the period and method of amortisation are reviewed annually.

(j) Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Costs of inventories represent 
purchase or production cost of goods and are determined using the weighted average basis. Net 
realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the estimated 
costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

(k) Recognition and derecognition of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the consolidated statement of financial 
position when the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instruments.

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights to receive cash flows from the assets 
expire; the Group transfers substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the assets; or the 
Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the assets but 
has not retained control on the assets. On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between 
the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the consideration received and the cumulative gain or loss 
that had been recognised in other comprehensive income is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation specified in the relevant contract is 
discharged, cancelled or expires. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability 
derecognised and the consideration paid is recognised in profit or loss.
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4. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
(l) Financial assets

Financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis where the purchase or sale 
of an financial asset is under a contract whose terms require delivery of the financial assets within the 
timeframe established by the market concerned, and are initially measured at fair value, plus directly 
attributable transaction costs except in the case of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.

The Group classifies its financial assets in the following categories: at fair value through profit or loss, 
loans and receivables and available-for-sale. The classification depends on the purpose for which the 
financial assets were acquired. Management determines the classification of its financial assets at initial 
recognition.

(i) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are either financial assets classified as held 
for trading or designated as at fair value through profit or loss upon initial recognition. These 
financial assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Gains or losses arising from changes in 
fair value of these financial assets are recognised in profit or loss.

(ii) Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments 
that are not quoted in an active market. These assets are carried at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method (except for short-term receivables where interest is immaterial) minus 
any reduction for impairment or uncollectibility. Typically trade and other receivables, bank 
balances and cash are classified in this category.

(iii) Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivative financial assets that are not classified as 
loans and receivables, held-to-maturity investments or financial assets at fair value through 
profit or loss. Available-for-sale financial assets are subsequently measured at fair value. 
Gains or losses arising from changes in fair value of these investments are recognised in other 
comprehensive income and accumulated in the investment revaluation reserve, until the 
investments are disposed of or there is objective evidence that the investments are impaired, 
at which time the cumulative gains or losses previously recognised in other comprehensive 
income are reclassified from equity to profit or loss. Interest calculated using the effective 
interest method and dividends on available-for-sale equity investments are recognised in profit 
or loss.

Investments in equity instruments that do not have a quoted market price in an active market 
and whose fair value cannot be reliably measured and derivatives that are linked to and 
must be settled by delivery of such unquoted equity instruments, are measured at cost less 
impairment losses.
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4. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
(m) Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for merchandise sold or services performed in the 
ordinary course of business. If collection of trade and other receivables is expected in one year or less 
(or in the normal operating cycle of the business if longer), they are classified as current assets. If not, 
they are presented as non-current assets.

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at 
amortised cost using the effective interest method, less allowance for impairment.

(n) Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents represent 
cash at bank and on hand, demand deposits with banks and other financial institutions, and short-
term highly liquid investments which are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and subject 
to an insignificant risk of change in value. Bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form 
an integral part of the Group’s cash management are also included as a component of cash and cash 
equivalents.

(o) Discontinued operation

A discontinued operation is a component of the Group (i.e. the operations and cash flows of which 
can be clearly distinguished from the rest of the Group) that either has been disposed of, or is 
classified as held for sale, and which represents a separate major line of business or geographical area 
of operations, or is part of a single co-ordinated plan to dispose of a separate major line of business or 
geographical area of operations, or is a subsidiary acquired exclusively with a view to resale.

Classification as a discontinued operation occurs upon disposal or when the component meets the 
criteria to be classified as held for sale in accordance with HKFRS 5, if earlier. It also occurs when the 
component is abandoned.

When an operation is classified as discontinued, a single amount is presented in the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss, which comprises:

– The post-tax profit or loss of the discontinued operation; and

– The post-tax gain or loss recognised on the measurement to fair value less costs to sell, or on 
the disposal, of the assets or disposal group constituting the discontinued operation.

(p) Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified according to the substance of the contractual 
arrangements entered into and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument under 
HKFRSs. An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the 
Group after deducting all of its liabilities. The accounting policies adopted for specific financial 
liabilities and equity instruments are set out below.

(q) Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred, and subsequently 
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer 
settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period.
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4. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
(r) Financial guarantee contract liabilities

Financial guarantee contract liabilities are measured initially at their fair value and are subsequently 
measured at the higher of:

– the amount of the obligations under the contracts, as determined in accordance with HKAS 37 
“Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets”; and

– the amount initially recognised less cumulative amortisation recognised in profit or loss on a 
straight-line basis over the terms of the guarantee contracts.

(s) Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at their fair value and subsequently measured 
at amortised cost using the effective interest method unless the effect of discounting would be 
immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.

(t) Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue 
costs.

(u) Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable and is recognised 
when it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the amount of revenue can 
be measured reliably.

Revenue from the sales and production of crude oil, condensate, gas and liquefied petroleum gas 
and provision of patented technology support services to oilfield in which the Group has an interest 
with other producers is recognised based on the Group’s working interest and the terms of the 
relevant production sharing contracts/petroleum concession agreements and on the transfer of 
significant risks and rewards of ownership, which generally coincides with the time when the crude oil, 
condensate, gas and liquefied petroleum gas are delivered and the title has passed to the customers. 
This generally occurs when crude oil, condensate, gas and liquefied petroleum gas are physically 
transferred into an oil tanker, pipe or other delivery mechanism.

Interest income is recognised on a time-proportion basis using the effective interest method.

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’ rights to receive payment are established.

Management fee income is recognised when the management services are rendered.

Investment income is recognised when the rights to receive payments are established.



732016 ANNUAL REPORT

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2016

4. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
(v) Employee benefits

(i) Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave and long service leave are recognised when they accrue 
to employees. A provision is made for the estimated liability for annual leave and long service 
leave as a result of services rendered by employees up to the end of the reporting period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave are not recognised until the time of 
leave.

(ii) Pension obligations

The Group contributes to defined contribution retirement schemes which are available to all 
employees. Contributions to the schemes by the Group and employees are calculated as a 
percentage of employees’ basic salaries. The retirement benefit scheme cost charged to profit 
or loss represents contributions payable by the Group to the funds.

(iii) Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of the dates when the Group can no longer 
withdraw the offer of those benefits and when the Group recognises restructuring costs and 
involves the payment of termination benefits.

(w) Share-based payments

The Group issues equity-settled and cash-settled share-based payments to certain employees and 
consultants.

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees are measured at the fair value (excluding the effect 
of non-market based vesting conditions) of the equity instruments at the date of grant. The fair value 
determined at the grant date of the equity-settled share-based payments is expensed on a straight-
line basis over the vesting period, based on the Group’s estimate of shares that will eventually vest 
and adjusted for the effect of non-market based vesting conditions.

Equity-settled share-based payments to consultants are measured at the fair value of the services 
rendered or, if the fair value of the services rendered cannot be reliably measured, at the fair value of 
the equity instruments granted. The fair value is measured at the date the Group receives the services 
and is recognised as an expense.

For cash-settled share-based payments, the Group measures the goods or services acquired and 
the liability incurred at the fair value of the liability. At the end of each reporting period, the liability 
is remeasured at its fair value until the liability is settled, with any changes in fair value recognised in 
profit or loss.

(x) Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, 
which are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use 
or sale, are capitalised as part of the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially 
ready for their intended use or sale. Investment income earned on the temporary investment of 
specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing 
costs eligible for capitalisation.
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4. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
(x) Borrowing costs (Continued)

To the extent that funds are borrowed generally and used for the purpose of obtaining a qualifying 
asset, the amount of borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation is determined by applying a 
capitalisation rate to the expenditures on that asset. The capitalisation rate is the weighted average of 
the borrowing costs applicable to the borrowings of the Group that are outstanding during the period, 
other than borrowings made specifically for the purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred.

(y) Taxation

Income tax represents the sum of the current tax and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from profit 
recognised in profit or loss because of items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible 
in other years and items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is 
calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting 
period.

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the 
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable 
profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences and 
deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available 
against which deductible temporary differences, unused tax losses or unused tax credits can be 
utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from goodwill 
or from the initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of other assets and liabilities in a 
transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences arising on investments in 
subsidiaries and associates, and interests in joint arrangements, except where the Group is able to 
control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will 
not reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and 
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to 
allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the liability is 
settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by 
the end of the reporting period. Deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except when it relates to 
items recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case the deferred tax is 
also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

The measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities reflects the tax consequences that would follow 
from the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle 
the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current 
tax assets against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same 
taxation authority and the Group intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.
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(z) Related parties

A related party is a person or entity that is related to the Group.

(A) A person or a close member of that person’s family is related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(ii) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of the Company.

(B) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following conditions applies:

(i) The entity and the Company are members of the same group (which means that each 
parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

(ii) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or an associate or joint 
venture of a member of a group of which the other entity is a member).

(iii) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

(iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of the 
third entity.

(v) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of either the 
Group or an entity related to the Group. If the Group is itself such a plan, the sponsoring 
employers are also related to the Group.

(vi) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in (A).

(vii) A person identified in (A)(i) has significant influence over the entity or is a member of the 
key management personnel of the entity.

(viii) The entity, or any member of the Group of which it is a part, provides key management 
personnel services to the reporting entity or to the parent of the reporting entity.
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(aa) Impairment of non-financial assets

The carrying amounts of non-financial assets are reviewed at each reporting date for indications of 
impairment and where an asset is impaired, it is written down as an expense through the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss to its estimated recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is determined 
for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of 
those from other assets or groups of assets. If this is the case, recoverable amount is determined for 
the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. Recoverable amount is the higher of value in use 
and the fair value less costs of disposal of the individual asset or the cash-generating unit.

Value in use is the present value of the estimated future cash flows of the asset/cash-generating unit. 
Present values are computed using pre-tax discount rates that reflect the time value of money and the 
risks specific to the asset/cash-generating unit whose impairment is being measured.

Impairment losses for cash-generating units are allocated first against the goodwill of the unit and 
then pro rata amongst the other assets of the cash-generating unit. Subsequent increases in the 
recoverable amount caused by changes in estimates are credited to profit or loss to the extent that 
they reverse the impairment.

(bb) Impairment of financial assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group assesses whether its financial assets (other than those 
at fair value through profit or loss) are impaired, based on objective evidence that, as a result of one 
or more events that occurred after the initial recognition, the estimated future cash flows of the (group 
of) financial asset(s) have been affected.

For available-for-sale equity instruments, a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of the 
investment below its cost is considered also to be objective evidence of impairment.

In addition, for trade receivables that are assessed not to be impaired individually, the Group assesses 
them collectively for impairment, based on the Group’s past experience of collecting payments, an 
increase in the delayed payments in the portfolio, observable changes in economic conditions that 
correlate with default on receivables, etc.

Only for trade receivables, the carrying amount is reduced through the use of an allowance account 
and subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited against the allowance 
account. Changes in the carrying amount of the allowance account are recognised in profit or loss.

For all other financial assets, the carrying amount is directly reduced by the impairment loss.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if the amount of the impairment loss decreases in 
a subsequent period and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the 
impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed (either directly or 
by adjusting the allowance account for trade receivables) through profit or loss. However, the reversal 
must not result in a carrying amount that exceeds what the amortised cost of the financial asset would 
have been had the impairment not been recognised at the date the impairment is reversed.
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4. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
(cc) Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or amount when the Group has a present 
legal or constructive obligation arising as a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of 
economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made. Where 
the time value of money is material, provisions are stated at the present value of the expenditures 
expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required, or the amount cannot 
be estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the probability of 
outflow is remote. Possible obligations, whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence 
or non-occurrence of one or more future events are also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the 
probability of outflow is remote.

(dd) Events after the reporting period

Events after the reporting period that provide additional information about the Group’s position at 
the end of the reporting period are adjusting events and are reflected in the consolidated financial 
statements. Events after the reporting period that are not adjusting events are disclosed in the notes 
to the consolidated financial statements when material.

5. Critical Judgements and Key Estimates
Critical judgements in applying accounting policies

In the process of applying the accounting policies, the directors have made the following judgement that has 
the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements (apart from 
those involving estimations, which are dealt with below).

Joint control assessment

The Group holds more than 50% of the interests in most of its joint arrangements (note 45). The directors 
have determined that the Group has joint control over these arrangements as under the contractual 
agreements, it appears that unanimous consent is required from all parties to the agreements for all relevant 
activities.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the 
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets 
and liabilities within the next financial year, are discussed below.

(a) Estimation of crude oil and gas reserves

Crude oil and gas reserves are key elements in the Group’s investment decision-making process. 
They are also an important element in determining the amount of amortisation of the concession 
and lease rights included in intangible assets and depreciation of oil and gas properties included in 
property, plant and equipment, and in testing for impairment. Changes in proved and probable oil 
and gas reserves will affect unit-of-production amortisation, depreciation and depletion recorded 
in the Group’s consolidated financial statements for the concession and lease rights and oil and gas 
properties related to oil and gas production activities.
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5. Critical Judgements and Key Estimates (Continued)
Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(a) Estimation of crude oil and gas reserves (Continued)

Proved and probable reserve estimates are subject to revision, either upward or downward, based 
on new information, such as from development drilling and production activities or from changes in 
economic factors, including product prices, contract terms, evolution of technology or development 
plans. In general, changes in the technical maturity of oil and gas reserves resulting from new 
information becoming available from development and production activities tend to be the most 
significant cause of annual revisions.

(b) Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

The Group determines the estimated useful lives, residual values and related depreciation charges 
for the Group’s property, plant and equipment other than oil and gas properties. This estimate is 
based on the historical experience of the actual useful lives and residual values of property, plant and 
equipment of similar nature and functions. The Group will revise the depreciation charge where useful 
lives and residual values are different to those previously estimated, or it will write-off or write-down 
technically obsolete or non-strategic assets that have been abandoned.

The carrying amount of property, plant and equipment other than oil and gas properties as at 31 
December 2016 was approximately HK$1,651,607,000 (2015: HK$1,907,830,000).

(c) Estimated impairment of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets

Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets are reviewed for possible impairment when 
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. 
Determination as to whether and how much an asset is impaired involves management estimates 
and judgements such as future prices of crude oil or gas and production profile. The impairment 
reviews and calculation are based on assumptions that are consistent with the Group’s business plans. 
Favourable changes to some assumptions may allow the Group to avoid the need to impair any assets 
in these years or reverse previous impairments, whereas unfavourable changes may cause the assets 
to be impaired.

During the year, no impairment loss was provided for intangible assets and property, plant and 
equipment (2015: approximately HK$3,864,048,000 and HK$693,323,000 respectively).

(d) Decommissioning cost

Provision is recognised for the future decommissioning and restoration of oil and gas properties. The 
amounts of the provision recognised are the present values of the estimated future expenditures. The 
ultimate decommissioning costs are uncertain and cost estimates can vary in response to many factors 
including changes to relevant legal requirements, discount rates, inflation factor, the emergence of 
new restoration techniques or experience at other production sites. The expected timing and amount 
of expenditure can also change, for example, in response to changes in reserves or changes in laws 
and regulations or their interpretation. As a result, there could be significant adjustments to the 
provisions established which would affect future financial results.

The carrying amount of decommissioning cost provisions as at 31 December 2016 was approximately 
HK$290,848,000 (2015: HK$287,276,000).
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5. Critical Judgements and Key Estimates (Continued)
Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(e) Allowance for trade and other receivables

The Group recognises allowance for trade and other receivables based on assessments of the 
recoverability of the trade and other receivables, including the current creditworthiness and the past 
collection history of each debtor. Impairments arise where events or changes in circumstances indicate 
that the balances may not be collectible. The identification of bad and doubtful debts requires the 
use of judgement and estimates. Where the actual result is different from the original estimate, 
such difference will impact the carrying value of the trade and other receivables and doubtful debt 
expenses in the year in which such estimate has been changed.

No allowance for trade and other receivables was made for the year ended 31 December 2016 (2015: 
approximately HK$19,326,000).

(f) Income tax

The Group is subject to income taxes in several jurisdictions. Significant estimates are required in 
determining the provision for income taxes. There are many transactions and calculations for which 
the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of business. Where the final tax 
outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences 
will impact the income tax and deferred tax provisions in the period in which such determination is 
made.

During the year, approximately HK$176,662,000 (2015: HK$117,429,000 (as restated)) of income tax 
was charged to profit or loss based on the estimated profit from continuing operations.

(g) Allowance for slow-moving inventories

Allowance for slow-moving inventories is made based on the ageing and estimated net realisable 
value of inventories. The assessment of the allowance amount involves judgement and estimates. 
Where the actual outcome in future is different from the original estimate, such difference will impact 
the carrying value of inventories and allowance charge/write-back in the period in which such estimate 
has been changed.

No allowance for slow-moving inventories was made for the year ended 31 December 2016 (2015: 
approximately HK$4,872,000).

(h) Estimation of future capital expenditure

Future capital expenditure represents the future development costs which will be incurred by 
the Group to access the undeveloped reserves. Such costs are considered for the amortisation 
of intangible assets and depreciation of oil and gas properties which are being amortised and 
depreciated using the unit-of-production method over the proved and probable reserves of 
petroleum. The ultimate future development costs are uncertain and cost estimates can vary in 
response to many factors including discount rates, inflation factor, changes in economic factors, 
including contract terms, evolution of technology or development plans. The expected timing and 
amount of expenditure can also change and as a result, there could be a significant change in the 
amortisation and depreciation which would affect future financial results.
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6. Financial Risk Management
The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: interest rate risk, liquidity risk, credit risk, 
price risk and foreign currency risk. The Group’s overall risk management programme focuses on the 
unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial 
performance.

(a) Interest rate risk

The Group’s exposure to interest rate risk arises from its bank deposits, pledged bank deposits and 
borrowings.

The Group’s pledged bank deposits, bear interests at fixed interest rates and therefore are subject to 
fair value interest rate risks.

The Group’s bank deposits and bank loans bear interests at variable rates varied with the then 
prevailing market condition and therefore are subject to cash flow interest rate risks.

At 31 December 2016, if interest rates at that date had been 50 basis points lower/higher with all 
other variables held constant, consolidated profit after tax for the year would have been approximately 
HK$10,857,000 higher/lower and accumulated losses as at 31 December 2016 would have been 
approximately HK$10,857,000 lower/higher, arising mainly as a result of lower/higher interest 
expenses on the bank loans bearing interest at variable rates.

At 31 December 2015, if interest rates at that date had been 50 basis points lower/higher with all 
other variables held constant, consolidated loss after tax for the year would have been approximately 
HK$12,314,000 lower/higher and accumulated losses as at 31 December 2015 would have been 
approximately HK$12,314,000 lower/higher, arising mainly as a result of lower/higher interest 
expenses on the bank loans bearing interest at variable rates.

(b) Liquidity risk

The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor current and expected liquidity requirements to ensure that 
it maintains sufficient reserves of cash to meet its liquidity requirements in the short and longer term.

The maturity analysis based on contractual undiscounted cash flows of the Group’s non-derivative 
financial liabilities is as follows:

Carrying
amount

Total
contractual

undiscounted
cash outflow

Less than
1 year or

on demand

Between
1 and

2 years

Between
2 and

5 years
Over

5 years
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 31 December 2016
Trade and other payables 873,309 873,309 873,309 – – –
Due to directors 9,558 9,558 9,558 – – –
Borrowings 3,269,268 3,802,168 961,038 761,976 2,079,154 –

       

At 31 December 2015
Trade and other payables 1,582,073 1,582,073 1,492,214 89,859 – –
Due to directors 8,324 8,324 8,324 – – –
Borrowings 4,580,224 5,254,899 1,684,743 773,997 2,142,160 653,999
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6. Financial Risk Management (Continued)
(c) Credit risk

As at 31 December 2016, approximately 92% (2015: 92%) of the Group’s trade receivables were due 
from the largest customer within exploration and production segment in Pakistan. The Group has 
policies and procedures to monitor the collection of the trade receivables to limit the exposure to 
non-recoverable of the receivables and there is no history of default for this Group’s largest customer.

The Group has no significant concentrations of credit risks on other receivables. The credit quality 
of the counterparties in respect of other receivables is assessed by taking into account their financial 
position, credit history and other factors. Given the constant repayment history, the directors are of 
the opinion that the risk of default by these counterparties is low.

The credit risk on bank and cash balances and pledged bank deposits is limited because the 
counterparties are banks with high credit-ratings assigned by international credit-rating agencies and 
PRC large state-controlled banks.

The credit risk on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are limited because the 
counterparty is a well-established securities broker firm and banks in Hong Kong and PRC respectively.

(d) Price risk

The Group’s financial assets at fair value through profit or loss is measured at fair value at the end of 
each reporting period. Therefore, the Group is exposed to equity price risk. The directors manage this 
exposure by maintaining a portfolio of investments with different risk profiles.

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on the exposure to equity price risk at the 
end of the reporting period.

At 31 December 2016, if equity prices had been 10% higher/lower, consolidated profit after tax for 
the year would have been higher/lower by approximately HK$25,977,000 and accumulated losses as 
at 31 December 2016 would have been lower/higher by approximately HK$25,977,000. This is mainly 
due to the changes in fair value of listed equity securities and unlisted investment funds.

At 31 December 2015, if equity prices had been 10% higher/lower, consolidated loss after tax for the 
year and accumulated loss as at 31 December 2015 would have been lower/higher by approximately 
HK$20,183,000. This is mainly due to the changes in fair value of listed equity securities and unlisted 
investment fund.

(e) Foreign currency risk

The Group has certain exposure to foreign currency risk as most of its business transactions, assets 
and liabilities are principally denominated in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”), United States dollars (“US$”), 
Renminbi (“RMB”), Pakistani Rupees (“PKR”) and British Pound (“GBP”), while the functional currencies 
of the principal operating Group entities are HK$, US$ and RMB. The Group currently does not have 
a foreign currency hedging policy in respect of foreign currency transactions, assets and liabilities. The 
Group monitors its foreign currency exposure closely and will consider hedging significant foreign 
currency exposure should the need arise.
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6. Financial Risk Management (Continued)
(e) Foreign currency risk (Continued)

At 31 December 2016, if the HK$ had weakened/strengthened by 5 per cent against the PKR with all 
other variables held constant, consolidated profit after tax for the year would have been approximately 
HK$2,377,000 lower/higher and accumulated losses as at 31 December 2016 would have been 
approximately HK$2,377,000 higher/lower, arising mainly as a result of the foreign exchange loss/gain 
on bank and cash balances, trade and other receivables and trade and other payables denominated in 
PKR.

At 31 December 2015, if the HK$ had weakened/strengthened by 5 per cent against the PKR with all 
other variables held constant, consolidated loss after tax for the year would have been approximately 
HK$9,422,000 higher/lower and accumulated losses as at 31 December 2015 would have been 
approximately HK$9,422,000 higher/lower, arising mainly as a result of the foreign exchange loss/gain 
on bank and cash balances, trade and other receivables and trade and other payables denominated in 
PKR.

The directors of the Company consider that the foreign currency exposure in respect of Singapore 
dollars (“S$”) for the year ended 31 December 2016 is insignificant to the Group and therefore no 
sensitivity analysis is presented thereon.

At 31 December 2015, if the HK$ had weakened/strengthened by 5 per cent against the S$ with all 
other variables held constant, consolidated loss after tax for the year would have been approximately 
HK$27,405,000 higher/lower and accumulated losses as at 31 December 2015 would have been 
approximately HK$27,405,000 higher/lower, arising mainly as a result of the foreign exchange loss/
gain on bank and cash balances, other receivables and medium term notes denominated in S$.

At 31 December 2016, if the HK$ had weakened/strengthened by 5 per cent against the RMB with all 
other variables held constant, consolidated profit after tax for the year would have been approximately 
HK$12,848,000 lower/higher and accumulated losses as at 31 December 2016 would have been 
approximately HK$12,848,000 higher/lower, arising mainly as a result of the foreign exchange loss/
gain on bank and cash balances, trade and other receivables, financial assets at fair value through 
profit or loss and trade and other payables denominated in RMB.

At 31 December 2015, if the HK$ had weakened/strengthened by 5 per cent against the RMB with all 
other variables held constant, consolidated loss after tax for the year would have been approximately 
HK$16,902,000 higher/lower and accumulated losses as at 31 December 2015 would have been 
approximately HK$16,902,000 higher/lower, arising mainly as a result of the foreign exchange 
loss/gain on bank and cash balances, trade and other receivables and trade and other payables 
denominated in RMB.

The directors of the Company consider that the foreign currency exposure in respect of US$ and GBP 
for the years ended 31 December 2016 and 2015 are insignificant to the Group and therefore no 
sensitivity analysis is presented thereon.
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6. Financial Risk Management (Continued)
(f) Categories of financial instruments at 31 December

2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$’000

Financial assets:
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss: 

Held for trading 259,771 201,831
Available-for-sale financial assets 4,914 –
Loans and receivables (including cash and cash equivalents) 6,499,242 4,450,647

   

Financial liabilities:
Financial liabilities at amortised cost 4,152,135 6,170,621

   

(g) Fair value

Except as disclosed in note 22 to the consolidated financial statements, the carrying amounts of the 
Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities as reflected in the consolidated statement of financial 
position approximate their respective fair values.

7. Fair Value Measurement
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 
transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The following disclosures of fair value 
measurements use a fair value hierarchy that categorises into three levels the inputs to valuation techniques 
used to measure fair value:

Level 1 inputs: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the 
Group can access at the measurement date.

Level 2 inputs: inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset 
or liability, either directly or indirectly.

Level 3 inputs: unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers into and transfers out of any of the three levels as of the date of 
the event or change in circumstances that caused the transfer.
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7. Fair Value Measurement (Continued)
(a) Disclosures of level in fair value hierarchy at 31 December 2016:

Fair value measurements using: Total
Description Level 1 Level 3 2016

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Recurring fair value measurements:
Financial assets
Financial assets at fair value through

profit or loss
Listed equity securities 2,646 – 2,646
Unlisted investment funds – 257,125 257,125

    

Total 2,646 257,125 259,771
    

Fair value measurements using: Total
Description Level 1 Level 3 2015

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Recurring fair value measurements:
Financial assets
Financial assets at fair value through

profit or loss
Listed equity securities 2,630 – 2,630
Unlisted investment funds – 199,201 199,201

    

Total 2,630 199,201 201,831
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7. Fair Value Measurement (Continued)
(b) Reconciliation of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss measured at fair 

value based on level 3:

Description

Unlisted
investment

funds
HK$’000

At 1 January 2016 199,201
Total gains or losses recognised in profit or loss 120
Purchases 57,804

  

At 31 December 2016 257,125
  

Include gains or losses for assets held at end of reporting period 120
  

Description

Unlisted
investment

funds
HK$’000

At 1 January 2015 –
Purchases 199,201

  

At 31 December 2015 199,201
  

Include gains or losses for assets held at end of reporting period –
  

The total gains or losses recognised in profit or loss including those for assets held at end of reporting 
period are presented in other income in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

(c) Disclosure of valuation process used by the Group and valuation techniques and inputs 
used in fair value measurements at 31 December 2016:

Fair values of the Group’s financial instruments which are categorised into Level 3 of the fair value 
hierarchy were valued by the directors with the reference to the redeemed price and discounted cash 
flows of the unlisted investment funds. The directors review the fair value measurements at least once 
a year.
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7. Fair Value Measurement (Continued)
(c) Disclosure of valuation process used by the Group and valuation techniques and inputs 

used in fair value measurements at 31 December 2016: (Continued)

Level 3 fair value measurements

Description
Valuation 
technique

Unobservable 
inputs Range

Effect on fair
value for increase
of inputs

Fair value
2016 2015

HK$’000 HK$’000

Unlisted investment fund
– overseas

Net asset value Net asset value
per unit

HK$780
(equivalent to US$100)

Increase 199,321 199,201

Unlisted investment fund
– PRC

Discounted
cash flows

Expected interest 
yield

5.1% Increase 57,804 –

Discount rate 3.55% Decrease

During the two years, there were no changes in the valuation techniques used.

8. Turnover
An analysis of the Group’s turnover for the years is as follows:

2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$’000

(Restated)

Continuing operations
Sales and production of crude oil, condensate, gas and liquefied 

petroleum gas 4,028,839 5,193,370
Provision of patented technology support services to oilfields 32,185 37,653

   

4,061,024 5,231,023
   

The turnover from sales and production of crude oil, condensate, gas and liquefied petroleum gas are net 
of sales tax, royalty to government and sales discounts amounting to approximately HK$674,319,000 (2015: 
HK$725,414,000), HK$559,022,000 (2015: HK$698,315,000) and HK$17,877,000 (2015: HK$16,106,000) 
respectively.
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9. Investment and Other Income

2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$’000

(Restated)

Continuing operations
Dividends income from listed equity investments 167 164
Interest income on bank deposits 18,035 15,364
Investment income from financial assets at fair value through

profit or loss 1,845 –
Investment income from held-to-maturity investments – 5,667
Liquefied petroleum gas processing fees charged to concessions, net 2,494 5,122
Management fees income 2,402 3,549
Others 6,078 3,363

   

31,021 33,229
   

10. Other Gains and Losses

2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$’000

(Restated)

Continuing operations
Allowance for trade and other receivables – (19,326)
Fair value gains/(losses) on financial assets at fair value through

profit or loss 135 (515)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries – 54,158
Impairment losses on intangible assets – (239,456)
Impairment losses on property, plant and equipment – (102,112)
(Loss)/gain on disposals of property, plant and equipment (3,441) 31,816
Net foreign exchange (losses)/gains (27,162) 31,167
Reversal of allowance for other receivables 2,136 –
Written off of intangible assets (3,383) (134,567)
Written off of property, plant and equipment (51,681) (262,557)

   

(83,396) (641,392)
   

11. Segment Information
The Group has two operating segments as follows:

1. Exploration and production – activities relating to the exploration and production of crude oil 
and natural gas in Pakistan.

2. Oilfield support services – activities relating to the provision of oilfield support services using 
patented technology.
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11. Segment Information (Continued)
The Group’s operating segments are strategic business units that offer different products and services. They 
are managed separately because each business requires different technology and marketing strategies.

An operating segment regarding the oil exploitation of crude oil in PRC was discontinued in the current year. 
The discontinued operation has resulted in a change in the Group’s structure and therefore its composition 
of reporting segment. The segment information reported below does not include any amounts for this 
discontinued operation, which is described in more details in note 16. The comparative figures of segment 
disclosure has been restated to conform to current year’s presentation.

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the same as those described in note 4 to the 
consolidated financial statements.

Segment profit or loss does not include the following items:

– unallocated investment and other income

– unallocated other gains and losses

– unallocated corporate expenses

– finance costs (except for provisions – unwinding of discounts included in the exploration and 
production segment)

Segment assets do not include the following items:

– investment in an associate

– available-for-sale financial assets

– deferred tax assets

– restricted deposits

– financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

– current tax assets

– pledged bank deposits

– bank and cash balances

– other unallocated assets
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11. Segment Information (Continued)
Segment liabilities do not include the following items:

– due to directors

– borrowings

– current tax liabilities

– provisions (except for provision for decommissioning costs included in the exploration and production 
segment)

– other unallocated liabilities

Information about operating segment profit or loss, assets and liabilities from continuing 
operations:

Exploration
and

production

Oilfield
support
services Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Year ended 31 December 2016

Turnover from external customers 4,028,839 32,185 4,061,024

Segment profit/(loss) 1,513,581 (17,794) 1,495,787

Interest revenue 5,371 470 5,841

Interest expenses 8,938 – 8,938

Depreciation and amortisation 1,393,176 26,363 1,419,539

Income tax expense 149,168 – 149,168

Other material non-cash items:

Reversal of allowance for other receivables 2,136 – 2,136

Written off of intangible assets 3,383 – 3,383

Written off of property, plant and equipment 184,122 – 184,122

Additions to segment non-current assets 1,220,451 5,435 1,225,886

As at 31 December 2016

Segment assets 8,715,284 41,919 8,757,203

Segment liabilities 1,582,081 13,461 1,595,542
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11. Segment Information (Continued)
Information about operating segment profit or loss, assets and liabilities from continuing 
operations: (Continued)

Exploration
and

production

Oilfield
support
services Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
(Restated)

Year ended 31 December 2015

Turnover from external customers 5,193,370 37,653 5,231,023

Segment profit/(loss) 906,245 (18,720) 887,525

Interest revenue 5,873 477 6,350

Interest expenses 8,792 – 8,792

Depreciation and amortisation 1,606,002 31,089 1,637,091

Income tax expense/(credit) 88,475 (2) 88,473

Other material non-cash items:

Allowance for trade and other receivables 16,610 2,716 19,326

Impairment losses on intangible assets 239,456 – 239,456

Impairment losses on property, plant and equipment 102,112 – 102,112

Written off of intangible assets 134,567 – 134,567

Written off of property, plant and equipment 1,129,075 – 1,129,075

Additions to segment non-current assets 2,606,673 22,089 2,628,762

As at 31 December 2015

Segment assets 10,125,530 68,489 10,194,019

Segment liabilities 2,014,310 17,948 2,032,258
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11. Segment Information (Continued)
Reconciliations of segment profit or loss from continuing operations, assets and liabilities:

2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$’000

(Restated)

Profit or loss
Total profit of reportable segments 1,495,787 887,525
Share of losses of an associate (3) –
Unallocated amounts:

Investment and other income 18,018 14,931
Other gains and losses (28,122) 81,017
Corporate expenses (237,258) (214,175)
Finance costs (except for provisions – unwinding of discounts

included in the exploration and production segment) (223,509) (245,023)
   

Consolidated profit from continuing operations 1,024,913 524,275
   

Assets
Total assets of reportable segments 8,757,203 10,194,019
Assets relating to discontinued operation 19,604 63,193
Unallocated amounts:

Other receivables and other assets 82,924 29,704
Investment in an associate 69,997 –
Available-for-sale financial assets 4,914 –
Deferred tax assets 113,891 168,621
Restricted deposits – 412,001
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 259,771 201,831
Current tax assets 337,114 305,215
Pledged bank deposits 1,123 177,596
Bank and cash balances 5,850,098 2,161,630

   

Consolidated total assets 15,496,639 13,713,810
   

Liabilities
Total liabilities of reportable segments 1,595,542 2,032,258
Liabilities relating to discontinued operation 66,937 162,522
Unallocated amounts:

Other liabilities 112,753 76,314
Due to directors 9,558 8,324
Borrowings 3,269,268 4,580,224
Current tax liabilities 18,617 12,139
Provisions (except for provision for decommissioning costs

included in the exploration and production segment) 420 420
   

Consolidated total liabilities 5,073,095 6,872,201
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11. Segment Information (Continued)
Geographical information:

The Group’s turnover from continuing operations from external customers by location of operations and 
information about its non-current assets (excluding available-for-sale financial assets and deferred tax assets) 
by location of assets are detailed below:

Turnover Non-current assets
2016 2015 2016 2015

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
(Restated)

Hong Kong – – 126,289 12,059
PRC except Hong Kong 32,185 37,653 33,853 217,279
Pakistan 4,028,839 5,193,370 7,837,205 8,275,866

     

Consolidated total 4,061,024 5,231,023 7,997,347 8,505,204
     

Turnover from major customers:

Turnover derived from major customers who contributed 10% or more of total turnover of the Group is as 
follows:

2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$’000

Exploration and production segment
Customer A 3,331,218 3,397,200
Customer B (note i) N/A 933,636

   

(i) Customer B did not contribute over 10% of the total turnover of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2016.

12. Finance Costs

2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$’000

Continuing operations
Interest on bank loans 187,538 198,979
Interest on medium term notes 35,971 46,044
Interest on other borrowings – 29,101
Provisions – unwinding of discounts (note 32) 8,938 8,792

   

232,447 282,916
Amount capitalised (note 19) – (29,101)

   

232,447 253,815
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13. Profit for the Year from Continuing Operations
The Group’s profit for the year from continuing operations is stated after charging/(crediting) the following:

2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$’000

(Restated)

Continuing operations
Depreciation and amortisation (note a) 1,420,862 1,639,071
Auditors’ remuneration

– Current 3,341 3,906
– Over-provision in prior year – (10)

3,341 3,896
Cost of inventories sold (note b) 1,889,332 2,228,069
Operating lease charges

– Hire of office equipment, machineries and motor vehicles 20,568 36,040
– Land and buildings 39,383 29,608

59,951 65,648
Staff costs excluding directors’ emoluments

– Salaries, bonuses and allowances 236,960 304,616
– Retirement benefits scheme contributions 31,406 36,446
– Share-based payments 13,695 13,573

282,061 354,635
Allowance for trade and other receivables – 19,326
Impairment losses on intangible assets – 239,456
Impairment losses on property, plant and equipment – 102,112
Reversal of allowance for other receivables (2,136) –
Written off of intangible assets 3,383 134,567
Written off of property, plant and equipment (included in other gains 

and losses of approximately HK$51,681,000 (2015: HK$262,557,000) 
and exploration expenses of approximately HK$132,441,000
(2015: HK$866,518,000)) 184,122 1,129,075

   

Note a: Depreciation and amortisation charges include the amortisation charges on intangible assets of approximately HK$264,146,000 
(2015: HK$410,878,000 (as restated)) which are included in the costs of sales and services rendered.

Note b: Cost of inventories sold includes staff costs, depreciation and amortisation and operating lease charges of approximately 
HK$1,558,418,000 (2015: HK$1,814,232,000 (as restated)) which are included in the amounts disclosed separately above.
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14. Income Tax Expense
Income tax relating to continuing operations has been recognised in profit or loss as following:

2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$’000

(Restated)

Continuing operations
Current tax – PRC Enterprise Income Tax

Provision for the year – 878
   

Current tax – Overseas
Provision for the year 139,284 28,752
(Over)/under-provision in prior years (24,545) 10,543

   

114,739 39,295
   

114,739 40,173
   

Deferred tax (note 33) 61,923 77,256
   

176,662 117,429
   

No provision for profits tax in Bermuda, British Virgin Islands, Republic of Panama, Mauritius, Singapore or 
Hong Kong is required as the Group has no assessable profit for the year arising in or derived from these 
jurisdictions for the years ended 31 December 2016 and 2015.

PRC Enterprise Income Tax and Pakistan Income Tax are calculated at 25% and 50% respectively on the 
estimated taxable income earned by the companies with certain tax preference, based on existing legislation, 
interpretation and practices in respect thereof.

During the year ended 31 December 2016, the Group’s subsidiary in the PRC was approved as a high 
technology enterprise pursuant to which a PRC subsidiary can enjoy a preferential income tax rate of 15% 
during the financial year (2015: the coming financial years).

Tax charge on profits assessable elsewhere have been calculated at the rates of tax prevailing in the countries 
in which the Group operates, based on existing legislation, interpretation and practices in respect thereof.



952016 ANNUAL REPORT

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2016

14. Income Tax Expense (Continued)
The reconciliation between the income tax expense and the product of profit before tax multiplied by the 
weighted average tax rate of the consolidated companies is as follows:

2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$’000 

(Restated)

Continuing operations
Profit before tax 1,201,575 641,704

   

Tax at the weighted average tax rate of 50% (2015: 49%) 605,493 313,092
Tax effect of income that is not taxable (222,326) (63,662)
Tax effect of expenses that are not deductible 195,793 63,672
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised 18,497 56,330
Tax effect of utilisation of tax losses not previously recognised (204) (44,784)
Tax effect of other temporary differences not recognised (256,389) (11,340)
Tax effect of tax preferential period 1,551 –
Tax effect of withholding tax at 10% on gain derived from the Group’s 

Mauritius subsidiary 27,493 28,078
Tax effect of depletion allowance (141,786) (172,989)
Tax effect of royalty deduction (26,915) (61,511)
(Over)/under-provision in prior years (24,545) 10,543

   

Income tax expense 176,662 117,429
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15. Benefits and Interests of Directors
(a) Directors’ emoluments

Pursuant to the Listing Rule and the disclosure requirement of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, 
the emoluments of each director were as follows:

Emoluments paid or receivable in respect of
a person’s services as a director, whether of
the Company or its subsidiaries undertaking 

Fees

Salaries
and other

benefits

Retirement
benefits
scheme

contributions Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Year ended 31 December 2016

Executive directors:
Mr. Zhang Hong Wei – 9,380 – 9,380
Mr. Zhu Jun 240 – – 240
Ms. Zhang Meiying 3,250 655 18 3,923

     

3,490 10,035 18 13,543
     

Independent non-executive directors:
Mr. Chau Siu Wai 120 – – 120
Mr. San Fung 120 – – 120
Mr. Zhu Chengwu 120 – – 120

     

360 – – 360
     

3,850 10,035 18 13,903
     

Year ended 31 December 2015

Executive directors:
Mr. Zhang Hong Wei – 5,072 – 5,072
Mr. Zhu Jun 240 – – 240
Ms. Zhang Meiying 3,250 – 18 3,268

     

3,490 5,072 18 8,580
     

Independent non-executive directors:
Mr. Chau Siu Wai 120 – – 120
Mr. San Fung 120 – – 120
Mr. Zhu Chengwu 120 – – 120

     

360 – – 360
     

3,850 5,072 18 8,940
     

None of the directors waived any emoluments during the year (2015: Nil).
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15. Benefits and Interests of Directors (Continued)
(b) Employees’ emoluments

The five highest paid individuals in the Group during the year included two (2015: one) directors 
whose emoluments are reflected in the analysis presented above. The emoluments of the remaining 
three (2015: four) individuals are set out below:

2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$’000

Salaries and other benefits 18,421 20,823
Share-based payments 5,611 5,925

   

24,032 26,748
   

The emoluments fell within the following bands:

Number of individuals
2016 2015

HK$3,500,001 to HK$4,000,000 – 2
HK$4,000,001 to HK$4,500,000 1 –
HK$8,500,001 to HK$9,000,000 1 1
HK$10,000,001 to HK$10,500,000 – 1
HK$11,000,001 to HK$11,500,000 1 –

   

3 4
   

No emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the directors or the highest paid individuals as an 
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office during the year 
(2015: Nil).

(c) Directors’ material interests in transactions, arrangements or contracts

No significant transactions, arrangements and contracts in relation to the Group’s business to which 
the Company was a party and in which a director of the Company and the director’s connected party 
had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time 
during the year.
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16. Discontinued Operation
On 23 February 2016, the Group issued a notice to China National Petroleum Corporation (“CNPC”), a 
joint venture partner of the Enhanced Oil Recovery (“EOR”) contract, to propose abandonment of the EOR 
contract (the “Abandonment”). Such Abandonment has been confirmed by CNPC on 20 May 2016.

As the business operation of EOR contract is considered as a separate major line of business which 
was previously classified as the oil exploitation business segment of the Group, it is accounted for as a 
discontinued operation for the year ended 31 December 2016. Details of the Abandonment were set out in 
the Company’s announcements dated 23 February 2016 and 20 May 2016 respectively.

Loss for the year from discontinued operation:

2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$’000

Turnover 23,432 186,862

Cost of sales and services rendered (36,690) (331,692)
   

Gross loss (13,258) (144,830)

Investment and other income 1,561 7,269
Other gains and losses (41,512) (4,258,416)
Administrative expenses (5,932) (15,902)
Other operating expenses (5,419) (4,348)

   

Loss before tax (64,560) (4,416,227)

Income tax credit – 941,332
   

Loss for the year from discontinued operation
(attributable to owners of the Company) (64,560) (3,474,895)
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16. Discontinued Operation (Continued)
Loss for the year from discontinued operation include the following:

2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$’000

Depreciation and amortisation (note a) – 166,175
Auditors’ remuneration

– Current 27 77
Cost of inventories sold (note b) 35,420 325,162
Operating lease charges

– Hire of office equipment, machineries and motor vehicles 89 603
– Land and buildings 3 22

92 625
Staff costs excluding directors’ emoluments

– Salaries, bonuses and allowances 2,215 7,485
– Retirement benefits scheme contributions 502 1,338

2,717 8,823
Allowance for inventories – 4,872
Impairment losses on advances, deposits and prepayments – 271
Impairment losses on intangible assets – 3,624,592
Impairment losses on property, plant and equipment (note c) – 591,211

   

Note a: Depreciation and amortisation includes the amortisation charges of intangible assets of HK$Nil (2015: approximately 
HK$139,544,000) which are included in the costs of sales.

Note b: Cost of inventories sold includes staff costs, depreciation and amortisation and allowance for inventories of approximately 
HK$289,000 (2015: HK$173,786,000) which are included in the amounts disclosed separately above.

Note c: Impairment losses on property, plant and equipment are presented net of reimbursement of HK$Nil (2015: approximately 
HK$231,546,000) from the joint operator under the joint venture agreement.

Cash flows from discontinued operation:

2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$’000

Net cash outflows from operating activities (112,807) (83,265)
Net cash inflows/(outflows) from investing activities 29,564 (8,897)
Net cash inflows from financing activities 8,913 108,576
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes 15,365 21,885

   

Net cash (outflows)/inflows (58,965) 38,299
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17. Earnings/(Loss) Per Share
(a) Basic earnings/(loss) per share from continuing and discontinued operations

The calculation of basic earnings/(loss) per share attributable to owners of the Company is based on 
the profit for the year attributable to owners of the Company of approximately HK$965,008,000 (2015: 
loss of HK$2,943,674,000) and the weighted average number of ordinary shares of 19,695,424,431 
(2015: 16,892,707,963 (as restated)) in issue during the year.

(b) Basic earnings per share from continuing operations

The calculation of basic earnings per share attributable to owners of the Company is based on the 
profit for the year attributable to owners of the Company of approximately HK$1,029,568,000 (2015: 
HK$531,221,000) and the weighted average number of ordinary shares of 19,695,424,431 (2015: 
16,892,707,963 (as restated)) in issue during the year.

(c) Basic loss per share from discontinued operation

Basic loss per share from the discontinued operation is HK$0.33 cent per share (2015: HK$20.57 cents 
per share) based on the loss for the year from discontinued operation attributable to owners of the 
Company of approximately HK$64,560,000 (2015: HK$3,474,895,000) and the denominator used is 
the same as the above for basic earnings per share.

(d) Diluted earnings/(loss) per share

No diluted earnings/(loss) per share are presented as the Company did not have any dilutive potential 
ordinary share for the years ended 31 December 2016 and 2015.

Note: The weighted average number of ordinary shares in 2015 has been retrospectively adjusted for the open offer which was 
completed on 30 August 2016.

18. Dividend
No dividend has been paid or declared by the Company during the years ended 31 December 2016 and 
2015.
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19. Property, Plant and Equipment

Freehold
land Buildings

Leasehold 
improvements

Motor
vehicles

Furniture, 
fixtures and 
equipment

Plant and 
machinery

Oil and gas 
properties

Construction 
in progress

Exploration
 and

Evaluation
 Expenditures

Spare 
parts Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Cost

At 1 January 2015 15,844 7,887 6,192 32,819 168,400 558,091 6,730,388 663,535 949,859 490,728 9,623,743
Additions – – 4,455 725 310 7,315 37,830 1,380,124 963,566 267,571 2,661,896
(Reversal)/addition 

due to revision in 
decommissioning costs 
estimate – – – – – 1,161 (13,733) – – – (12,572)

Disposals – – – (622) (4) – – – – – (626)
Written off – – – – – (10,335) (355,200) (86,544) (866,518) – (1,318,597)
Transfers – – – 29,537 55,615 345,045 2,064,800 (1,529,778) (668,831) (296,388) –
Exchange differences – (417) (452) (512) (852) (13,156) (46,895) (945) – – (63,229)

            

At 31 December 2015 and
1 January 2016 15,844 7,470 10,195 61,947 223,469 888,121 8,417,190 426,392 378,076 461,911 10,890,615

Additions – – – – 193 972 10,233 381,686 637,235 172,700 1,203,019
Addition due to revision in 

decommissioning costs 
estimate – – – – – 1,667 21,392 – – – 23,059

Disposals – – – (4,332) (2,602) (141,255) (819,678) (14,459) – – (982,326)
Written off – – – – – – (110,938) – (132,441) – (243,379)
Transfers – – – 1,136 63,024 51,429 1,150,683 (548,733) (506,794) (210,745) –
Exchange differences – (489) (606) (406) (893) (9,632) (18,918) (121) – – (31,065)

            

At 31 December 2016 15,844 6,981 9,589 58,345 283,191 791,302 8,649,964 244,765 376,076 423,866 10,859,923
            

Accumulated depreciation 
and impairment losses

At 1 January 2015 – 2,910 3,152 21,883 132,718 282,340 3,014,808 – – – 3,457,811
Charge for the year – 347 2,732 13,848 25,871 68,736 1,154,863 – – – 1,266,397
Disposals – – – (622) (3) – – – – – (625)
Written off – – – – – (134) (189,388) – – – (189,522)
Impairment losses – 2,476 2,769 115 643 2,559 901,122 15,185 – – 924,869
Exchange differences – (264) (333) (432) (377) (9,921) (35,505) (603) – – (47,435)

            

At 31 December 2015 and
1 January 2016 – 5,469 8,320 34,792 158,852 343,580 4,845,900 14,582 – – 5,411,495

Charge for the year – 137 838 10,862 38,729 104,711 1,002,550 – – – 1,157,827
Disposals – – – (4,284) (2,590) (132,050) (819,678) (14,459) – – (973,061)
Written off – – – – – – (59,257) – – – (59,257)
Exchange differences – (364) (521) (374) (432) (7,323) (18,919) (123) – – (28,056)

            

At 31 December 2016 – 5,242 8,637 40,996 194,559 308,918 4,950,596 – – – 5,508,948
            

Carrying amount

At 31 December 2016 15,844 1,739 952 17,349 88,632 482,384 3,699,368 244,765 376,076 423,866 5,350,975
            

At 31 December 2015 15,844 2,001 1,875 27,155 64,617 544,541 3,571,290 411,810 378,076 461,911 5,479,120
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19. Property, Plant and Equipment (Continued)
During the year, the Group assessed the recoverable amount of the property, plant and equipment in 
the exploration and production segment and as a result recognised impairment losses and written off of 
approximately HK$Nil (2015: HK$102,112,000) and HK$184,122,000 (2015: HK$1,129,075,000) respectively 
in respect of the plant and machinery and oil and gas properties attributable to that segment. Details of the 
impairment assessment are disclosed in note 20 to the consolidated financial statements.

As referred to note 16, the Group proposed to abandon the oil exploitation business in PRC and assessed 
the recoverable amount of the property, plant and equipment in the oil exploitation segment for the year 
ended 31 December 2015. As a result, impairment losses (after sharing of joint operator) of approximately 
HK$591,211,000 had been recognised for the year ended 31 December 2015. Details of the impairment 
assessment are disclosed in note 20 to the consolidated financial statements. During the year, the 
Abandonment had been completed and the impaired property, plant and equipment had been fully written 
off in accounts.

During the year ended 31 December 2016, the borrowings costs capitalised to oil and gas properties 
amounted to HK$Nil (2015: approximately HK$29,101,000).

For the year ended 31 December 2015, the directors reviewed the depreciation method of the oil and gas 
properties included in property, plant and equipment and considered that there had been a significant 
change in expected pattern of consumption of the future economic benefits embodied in such properties. 
Accordingly, the depreciation method of such oil and gas properties has been changed from the unit-of-
production method over the proved reserves of petroleum to the unit-of-production method over the proved 
and probable reserves of petroleum. Such a change is accounted for as a change in accounting estimate and 
applied prospectively in accordance with HKAS 8 “Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and 
Errors”. The depreciation charge had been decreased by approximately HK$416,777,000 for the year ended 
31 December 2015 pursuant to the change of the depreciation method.
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20. Intangible Assets

Oil
exploitation

rights

Concession
and lease

rights
Technical

know-how

Contractual
rights in oil

exploitation
projects Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Cost

At 1 January 2015 8,180,000 5,424,195 383,423 70,708 14,058,326
Written off – (178,585) – – (178,585)
Exchange differences – – (20,255) (3,735) (23,990)

      

At 31 December 2015 and 1 January 2016 8,180,000 5,245,610 363,168 66,973 13,855,751
Written off (8,180,000) (126,023) – – (8,306,023)
Exchange differences – – (23,783) (4,386) (28,169)

      

At 31 December 2016 – 5,119,587 339,385 62,587 5,521,559
      

Accumulated amortisation and
impairment losses

At 1 January 2015 4,415,822 1,857,462 383,423 70,708 6,727,415
Amortisation for the year 139,586 410,877 – – 550,463
Written off – (44,018) – – (44,018)
Impairment losses 3,624,592 239,456 – – 3,864,048
Exchange differences – – (20,255) (3,735) (23,990)

      

At 31 December 2015 and 1 January 2016 8,180,000 2,463,777 363,168 66,973 11,073,918
Amortisation for the year – 264,147 – – 264,147
Written off (8,180,000) (122,640) – – (8,302,640)
Exchange differences – – (23,783) (4,386) (28,169)

      

At 31 December 2016 – 2,605,284 339,385 62,587 3,007,256
      

Carrying amount 

At 31 December 2016 – 2,514,303 – – 2,514,303
      

At 31 December 2015 – 2,781,833 – – 2,781,833
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20. Intangible Assets (Continued)
Oil exploitation rights represent rights for oil exploitation in the location of Gaosheng Block, Bohai Bay Basin 
of the PRC. Pursuant to the enhancing oil recovery (“EOR”) contract entered into on 15 September 2006 
between United Petroleum & Natural Gas Investments Limited (“United Petroleum”), a subsidiary of the 
Company, and China National Petroleum Corporation (“CNPC”), United Petroleum agreed to provide funds 
and apply its appropriate and advanced technology, equipment and managerial experience to enhance, 
with the cooperation of CNPC, the oil recovery in the contract area. As referred to note 16, the EOR contract 
had been discontinued during the year. As such, the remaining term of the EOR contract is Nil year (2015: 
17 years). The amortisation of oil exploitation rights is determined using unit-of-production method over the 
proved and probable reserves of petroleum. The carrying amount of oil exploitation rights had been fully 
impaired for the year ended 31 December 2015. During the year, the Abandonment had been completed 
and the impaired intangible assets had been fully written off in accounts.

Concession and lease rights represent the rights for oil and gas exploration and production in the Badin, 
Mirpur Khas and Khipro areas in the Sindh Province of Pakistan which will expire on various dates, in 
accordance with the respective development and production leases, between years 2016 and 2021. The 
amortisation of concession and lease rights is determined using the unit-of-production method over the 
proved and probable reserves of petroleum.

Technical know-how represents the oil exploitation patented techniques for the Group’s production of crude 
oil and provision of patented technology support services business. The carrying amount of the technical 
know-how had been fully impaired.

Contractual rights in oil exploitation projects represent the contractual arrangement in relation to the 
production of crude oil and provision of patented technology support services to the oilfields in PRC. The 
carrying amount of contractual rights in oil exploitation projects had been fully impaired.

Due to the depletion of commercial oil and gas reserves and the results of technical evaluation, the 
management considered that future economic benefits of certain property, plant and equipment and 
intangible assets in the exploration and production segment are no longer expected. As such, the carrying 
amounts of property, plant and equipment (note 19) and intangible assets of approximately HK$184,122,000 
(2015: HK$1,129,075,000) and HK$3,383,000 (2015: HK$134,567,000) had been written off during the year 
respectively.

Having regard to the changes in market condition, the Group carried out reviews of the recoverable amounts 
of its intangible assets. In assessing whether impairment is required, the carrying value of the intangible asset 
is compared with its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of the intangible asset’s 
fair value less costs to disposal and value in use. Given the nature of the Group’s activities, information on 
the fair value of an asset is usually difficult to obtain unless negotiations with potential purchasers or similar 
transactions are taking place. Consequently, unless indicated otherwise, the recoverable amount used in 
assessing the impairment loss described below is value in use. The Group generally estimates value in use 
using a discounted cash flow method.
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20. Intangible Assets (Continued)
Impairment testing on the exploration and production segment

Concession and lease rights are used in the Group’s exploration and production segment. During the year 
ended 31 December 2015, certain oil and gas fields with marginal production were technically evaluated 
and found commercially unviable. Accordingly, impairment testing to identify the fields/wells, which do 
not have any oil and gas reserves and production or otherwise are not considered economical based 
on the evaluations, was performed by the management. During the year ended 31 December 2015, the 
management of the Group determined that there were impairments for the oil and gas assets related to five 
operating fields which had been allocated to individual cash generating units (“CGU”) in the exploration and 
production segment. As the recoverable amounts of these five operating fields were less than their carrying 
amounts at the end of the year, the management decided to fully impair the relevant assets included in these 
five operating fields. Therefore, impairment losses of approximately HK$102,112,000 for the property, plant 
and equipment (note 19) and HK$239,456,000 for the intangible assets have been recognised for the year 
ended 31 December 2015.

The recoverable amount of the relevant assets had been determined on the basis of its value in use using 
the discounted cash flow method. The future cash flows from the operating fields were discounted to their 
present values using a pre-tax discount rate of 10 per cent.

Impairment testing on the oil exploitation segment

Oil exploitation rights are used in the Group’s oil exploitation segment. As referred to note 16 of the 
consolidated financial statements, the Group discontinued the oil exploitation business in PRC and has 
conducted an impairment assessment of the relevant assets during the year ended 31 December 2015. 
For the purpose of impairment testing, intangible assets and property, plant and equipment related to 
EOR contract were allocated to the CGU in the oil exploitation segment. As the recoverable amount of 
the oil exploitation rights and the associated property, plant and equipment included in the EOR contract 
were less than their carrying amounts at the end of the year 2015, the management decided to fully impair 
the intangible assets and property, plant and equipment that related to the EOR contract. Therefore, 
impairment losses of approximately HK$591,211,000 (after sharing of joint operator) for the property, plant 
and equipment (note 19) and HK$3,624,592,000 for the intangible assets have been recognised for the year 
ended 31 December 2015.

The recoverable amount of the relevant assets had been determined on the basis of its value in use using the 
discounted cash flow method. The pre-tax discount rate used in measurement for the EOR contract is 16.27 
per cent.
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21. Investment in an Associate

2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$’000

Unlisted investment:
Investment during the year 70,000 –
Share of results of an associate (3) –

   

69,997 –
   

Details of the Group’s associate at 31 December 2016 are as follows:

Name

Place of
incorporation/
registration

Issued and
paid up capital

Percentage of
ownership

interest/
voting power/
profit sharing Principal activities

Orient Art Limited British Virgin Islands 350,000,000 ordinary shares 
of HK$1 each

20% Investment in artworks

The following table shows the Group’s share of the amounts of an immaterial associate that is accounted for 
using the equity method.

2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$’000

At 31 December:
Carrying amounts of the Group’s investments in an associate 69,997 –

Year ended 31 December:
Share of the associate’s loss for the year (3) –

Share of the associate’s other comprehensive loss – –

Share of the associate’s total comprehensive loss (3) –
   

22. Available-For-Sale Financial Assets

2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$’000

Unlisted equity securities 4,914 –
   

Unlisted equity securities were carried at cost as they do not have a quoted market price in an active market 
and their fair value cannot be reliably measured.

Available-for-sale financial assets are denominated in the US dollars.

None of these financial assets is either past due or impaired.
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23. Advances, Deposits and Prepayments

2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$’000

Advances to staff 1,567 1,753
Deposits and prepayments 3,974 3,733
Deposits paid for acquisition of property, plant and equipment 56,531 92,727

   

62,072 98,213
   

The carrying amounts of the Group’s advances, deposits and prepayments are denominated in the following 
currencies:

2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$’000

HK$ 1,365 –
RMB 613 3,864
GBP 54,553 11,489
US$ – 37,272
PKR 5,541 45,588

   

Total 62,072 98,213
   

24. Restricted Deposits
On 28 August 2015, United Energy International Trading Limited (“UEIT”), a wholly owned subsidiary of the 
Company entered into the consortium agreement (the “Consortium Agreement”) with CMBC International 
Holdings Limited (“CMBCI”) and other co-investors in relation to the proposed subscription of 2,908,584,000 
new ordinary share of Quam Limited (“the Subscription”) and the mandatory cash offer for the 190,587,055 
Quam shares, 5,597,575 Quam warrants and 504,051 Quam share options (the “Offer”) with an aggregate 
investment sum of approximately HK$1,913,052,000. The shares of Quam are listed on the Main Board of 
the Stock Exchange. Details of the Subscription and the Offer are set out in the Company’s circular dated 9 
October 2015.

Pursuant to the Consortium Agreement, the Group is required to place the deposits in the trust account 
of the independent financial institution as a proof of sufficient fund available. The deposits can only 
be drawdown by the joint instruction of CMBCI and the Company and solely for the settlement of the 
consideration of the Subscription and the Offer. The deposits are carrying fixed interest rate of 0.001% per 
annum and refundable in the event that the Subscription and the Offer are terminated.

On 29 February 2016, UEIT decided to cease the Subscription and the Offer as some conditions could not 
be fulfilled in accordance with the Consortium Agreement. As such, the deposits had be fully refunded on 9 
March 2016. Details of the cessation are set out in the Company’s announcement dated 29 February 2016.

The carrying amount of the deposit is denominated in Hong Kong dollars.
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25. Inventories

2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$’000

Finished goods 16,732 38,879
Spare parts and consumables 210,562 209,143
Less: allowance for inventories (19,500) (24,319)

   

207,794 223,703
   

26. Trade and Other Receivables

2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$’000

Trade receivables (note a) 882,101 1,743,325
Allowance for trade receivables – (2,165)
Allowance for price adjustments (note b) (402,815) (526,584)

   

479,286 1,214,576
   

Other receivables (note c) 247,740 506,553
Allowance for other receivables (2,439) (17,082)

   

245,301 489,471
   

Total trade and other receivables 724,587 1,704,047
   

(a) Trade receivables

The Group’s trading terms with customers are mainly on credit. The credit term generally ranges from 
30 to 45 days (2015: 30 to 45 days). The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding 
receivables. Overdue balances are reviewed regularly by the directors.

The aging analysis of trade receivables, based on the invoice date is as follows:

2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$’000

0 to 30 days 464,690 1,142,224
31 to 60 days 320,725 342,927
61 to 90 days 83,022 22,586
Over 90 days 13,664 235,588

   

882,101 1,743,325
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26. Trade and Other Receivables (Continued)
(a) Trade receivables (Continued)

As at 31 December 2016, no allowance was made for estimated irrecoverable trade receivables (2015: 
approximately HK$2,165,000).

2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 January 2,165 –
Allowance for the year – 2,165
Amounts written off (2,165) –

   

At 31 December – 2,165
   

As of 31 December 2016, trade receivables of approximately HK$417,411,000 (2015: HK$601,102,000) 
were past due but not impaired. These relate to a number of independent customers for whom there is 
no recent history of default. The aging analysis of these trade receivables is as follows:

2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$’000

0 to 30 days 320,725 342,927
31 to 60 days 83,022 22,586
61 to 90 days – 20,037
Over 90 days 13,664 215,552

   

417,411 601,102
   

The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade receivables are denominated in the following currencies:

2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$’000

RMB 12,414 23,478
US$ 854,836 1,343,324
PKR 14,851 376,523

   

Total 882,101 1,743,325
   

(b) Allowance for price adjustments

It represents the provision for the possible price adjustment in gas prices as per the draft gas price 
notifications submitted to the relevant regulatory authorities in Pakistan in respect of certain gas sales 
agreements. Since the final price notification has not yet been received from the regulatory authorities, 
the management had estimated the potential price differential based on the draft notifications and 
a possible price reduction (excluding royalty expenses) of approximately HK$402,815,000 (2015: 
HK$526,584,000) was provided.
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26. Trade and Other Receivables (Continued)
(c) Other receivables

The details of other receivables, and net of allowance, are as follows:

2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$’000

Due from joint operators 131,427 276,706
Advances to staff 9,027 9,958
Central excise duty receivables 10,123 12,052
Deposits and prepayments 22,079 18,538
Sales tax receivables 53,759 166,986
Others 18,886 5,231

   

245,301 489,471
   

As at 31 December 2016, no allowance was made for estimated irrecoverable other receivables (2015: 
approximately HK$17,161,000).

2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 January 17,082 –
Allowance for the year – 17,161
Amounts written off (12,337) –
Reversals (2,136) –
Exchange differences (170) (79)

   

At 31 December 2,439 17,082
   

As of 31 December 2016 and 2015, none of the other receivables were past due but not impaired.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s other receivables, and net of allowance, are denominated in the 
following currencies:

2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$’000

HK$ 4,812 6,126
RMB 21,508 36,731
US$ 73,685 265,318
S$ 12 2,258
PKR 145,284 179,038

   

Total 245,301 489,471
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27. Financial Assets at Fair Value through Profit or Loss

2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$’000

Equity securities, at fair value
Listed in Hong Kong at market value (note a) 2,646 2,630

Investment funds, at fair value
Unlisted in Overseas at market value (note b) 199,321 199,201
Unlisted in PRC at market value (note c) 57,804 –

   

259,771 201,831
   

The carrying amounts of the above financial assets are classified as held for trading.

(a) The investments represent investments in listed equity securities that offer the Group the opportunity 
for return through dividend income and fair value gains. They have no fixed maturity or coupon rate. 
The fair values of the listed securities are based on current bid prices (level 1 fair value measurements). 
The carrying amount of the investment is denominated in Hong Kong dollar.

(b) The fair value of the unlisted investment fund is determined based on statement issued by the 
independent financial institution, which reflect the Group’s share of the fair value of the net asset value 
of the fund (level 3 fair value measurement). It is the price that the financial institution is willing to pay 
to redeem the fund at 31 December 2016. The unlisted investment fund is pledged as security for 
certain of the Group’s borrowings (note 31(c)). The carrying amount of the investment is denominated 
in United States dollar.

(c) It represents investments in financial products issued by a PRC financial institution with no 
predetermined or guaranteed return. The fair value is determined based on discounted cash flow of 
the investments with future cash flows that are estimated based on expected recoverable amounts, 
discounted at a rate that reflect management’s best estimation of the expected risk level (level 3 
measurement). The carrying amount of the investment is denominated in RMB and has been fully 
redeemed subsequent to the reporting period.

In order to minimise credit risk, the directors have delegated a team to be responsible for the formulation 
of a credit policy governing the control of credit risk. In this regard, the directors consider that there is no 
concentration of credit risk in respect of the financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.



112 UNITED ENERGY GROUP LIMITED

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2016

28. Pledged Bank Deposits and Bank and Cash Balances
(a) Bank and cash balances

2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$’000

Cash at bank and on hand 516,928 1,302,178
Term deposits matured within 3 months 5,319,529 699,060

   

Cash and cash equivalents 5,836,457 2,001,238
Term deposits matured over 3 months but within 1 year 13,641 160,392

   

Total 5,850,098 2,161,630
   

At 31 December 2016, the bank and cash balances of the Group denominated in RMB amounted to 
approximately HK$253,367,000 (2015: HK$287,785,000). Conversion of RMB into foreign currencies 
is subject to the PRC’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale 
and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations.

(b) Pledged bank deposits

At 31 December 2016, the Group’s pledged bank deposits of approximately HK$1,123,000 (2015: 
HK$31,558,000) represent the term deposits in the bank matured within 1 year and were pledged as 
security for the Group’s bills payables (note 29(b)). At 31 December 2015, the Group’s pledged bank 
deposits of approximately HK$146,038,000 represent the term deposits in the bank matured over 1 
year and were pledged as security for the Group’s bank loans (note 31(a)). The pledged bank deposits 
were denominated in RMB and at fixed interest rate of 1.30% per annum (2015: ranging from 1.30% 
per annum to 3.90% per annum) and were therefore subject to foreign currency risk and fair value 
interest rate risk.
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29. Trade and Other Payables

2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$’000

Trade payables (note a) 136,508 271,363
Other payables (note b) 942,435 1,314,436

   

Total trade and other payables 1,078,943 1,585,799
   

Analysed as
– Current 1,078,943 1,495,940
– Non-current – 89,859

   

1,078,943 1,585,799
   

(a) Trade payables

The aging analysis of trade payables, based on the date of receipt of goods, is as follows:

2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$’000

0 to 30 days 80,781 223,457
31 to 45 days 38,711 39,205
Over 45 days 17,016 8,701

   

136,508 271,363
   

The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade payables are denominated in the following currencies:

2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$’000

RMB 15,771 62,345
US$ 84,520 141,055
PKR 36,217 67,963

   

Total 136,508 271,363
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29. Trade and Other Payables (Continued)
(b) Other payables

2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$’000

Accrual for operating expenses 543,221 599,446
Bills payables 46,474 31,558
Deposits received 5,300 9,697
Salaries and welfare payables 109,898 106,381
Other tax payables 200,459 553,162
Others 37,083 14,192

   

942,435 1,314,436
   

The carrying amounts of the Group’s other payables are denominated in the following currencies:

2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$’000

HK$ 2,160 3,411
RMB 78,679 130,492
US$ 667,125 625,977
S$ – 7,713
PKR 194,471 546,843

   

Total 942,435 1,314,436
   

30. Due to Directors
The amounts due to directors are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.
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31. Borrowings

2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$’000

Bank loans, secured (note a) 3,120,000 3,888,300
Medium term notes (note b) – 542,656
Other loans, secured (note c) 149,268 149,268

   

3,269,268 4,580,224
   

The borrowings are repayable as follows:

2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$’000

On demand or within one year 773,268 1,460,224
In the second year 624,000 624,000
In the third to fifth years, inclusive 1,872,000 1,872,000
After five years – 624,000

   

3,269,268 4,580,224
Less: Amount due for settlement within 12 months (shown under

current liabilities) (773,268) (1,460,224)
   

Amount due for settlement after 12 months 2,496,000 3,120,000
   

The carrying amounts of the Group’s borrowings are denominated in the following currencies:

HK$ US$ S$ Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

2016

Bank loans, secured – 3,120,000 – 3,120,000
Other loans, secured 149,268 – – 149,268

     

149,268 3,120,000 – 3,269,268
     

2015

Bank loans, secured – 3,888,300 – 3,888,300
Medium term notes – – 542,656 542,656
Other loans, secured 149,268 – – 149,268

     

149,268 3,888,300 542,656 4,580,224
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31. Borrowings (Continued)
(a) Bank loans, secured

The average effective interest rate of the secured bank loans as at 31 December 2016 was 5.35% (2015: 
4.74%).

Bank loans of approximately HK$3,120,000,000 (2015: HK$3,744,000,000) are arranged at floating 
rates, thus exposing the Group to cash flow interest rate risk. At 31 December 2015, bank loans of 
approximately HK$144,300,000 are arranged at fixed interest rates and expose the Group to fair value 
interest rate risk.

At 31 December 2016, bank loans with carrying amount of approximately HK$3,120,000,000 (2015: 
HK$3,744,000,000) are secured or guaranteed by the following:

(i) account charges over bank and cash balances held by United Energy Group (Hong Kong) 
Limited (“UEG (HK)”) and United Energy Pakistan Limited (“UEPL”) with a total carrying amount 
at the end of the reporting period of approximately HK$236,911,000 (2015: HK$547,605,000);

(ii) share charge over the entire equity interests of UEG (HK), UEPL, United Energy Pakistan 
Holdings Limited (“UEPHL”) and Gold Trade International Limited (“GTI”); and

(iii) a corporate guarantee executed by the China Development Bank Corporation, Beijing Branch 
which is counter guaranteed by a related company of the Group (note 39(b)), to the extent of 
approximately HK$3,169,142,000 (2015: HK$3,796,766,000).

At 31 December 2015, the bank loans of approximately HK$144,300,000 are secured by a charge over 
the Group’s non-current pledged bank deposits of approximately HK$146,038,000 (note 28(b)).

(b) Medium term notes

On 8 October 2014, United Energy Financing (Bermuda) Limited (“UEFBL”), a wholly-owned 
subsidiary of the Company, has established the S$1,000,000,000 (equivalent to approximately 
HK$6,090,630,000) medium term notes programme (the “Programme”). Under the Programme, 
medium term notes will be issued in series with different issue dates and terms, regulations and 
directives.

On 17 October 2014, UEFBL issued S$100,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$609,210,000) 
first medium term notes (the “First Drawdown Notes”) due on 17 October 2016. The First Drawdown 
Notes bear fixed interest rate of 6.85% per annum, payable semi-annually in arrears on 17 April and 
17 October. The net proceeds, after deduction of the related issuance costs and professional fees of 
approximately HK$13,909,000, were used for general corporate purposes. The First Drawdown Notes 
are secured by a corporate guarantee executed by the Company (note 40(c)) and are listed on the 
Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited.

The medium term notes are arranged at fixed interest rates and exposing the Group to fair value 
interest rate risk. The effective interest rate of the First Drawdown Notes as at 31 December 2015 
was 8.13%. The fair values of the First Drawdown Notes are approximately HK$512,361,000 and are 
determined based on its closing ask price as at 31 December 2015 and are within level 1 of the fair 
value hierarchy.

The medium term notes has been fully settled on 17 October 2016.
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31. Borrowings (Continued)
(c) Other loans, secured

In June 2015, the Group entered into a facility letter with an independent financial institution. Pursuant 
to the facility letter, the financial institution agreed to provide a loan facility of up to approximately 
HK$150,000,000 for the subscription of unlisted investment fund. The other loans are secured by the 
unlisted investment fund (note 27(b)) and repayable on demand. The interests are charged at (i) 5% 
per annum or (ii) the amount of the total redemption proceeds entitled by the Group in excess of the 
total subscription price of the unlisted investment fund subscribed, whichever is lower.

32. Provisions

Dismantling
costs in respect

of leasehold
improvements

Decommissioning
costs Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 January 2015 420 305,653 306,073

Less:
Reversal of provisions recognised

during the year – (12,572) (12,572)
Actual costs incurred during the year – (14,597) (14,597)

Add:
Unwinding of discounts – 8,792 8,792

    

At 31 December 2015 420 287,276 287,696
    

At 1 January 2016 420 287,276 287,696

Less:
Actual costs incurred during the year – (28,425) (28,425)

Add:
Provisions recognised during the year – 23,059 23,059
Unwinding of discounts – 8,938 8,938

    

At 31 December 2016 420 290,848 291,268
    

Oil and gas exploration and production activities may result in land subsidence and damage to the 
environment of the concession areas. Pursuant to the relevant rules and regulations, the Group is required to 
restore the concession areas back to acceptable conditions.

The decommissioning costs obligation has been determined by management based on future expenditure 
by discounting the expected expenditures to their net present value at market rate. The amounts provided in 
relation to the decommissioning costs are reviewed at least annually based upon the facts and circumstances 
available at the time and the provisions are updated accordingly.

The provision for dismantling costs in respect of leasehold improvements is calculated based on the net 
present value of costs to be incurred to remove leasehold improvements from the leased properties of the 
Group. The amounts are determined with reference to the quotations from external contractors and the 
management’s estimation.
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33. Deferred Tax
Deferred tax liabilities and assets

Accelerated
tax

depreciation
Intangible

assets

Allowance
for

inventories
Finance

costs
Tax

losses

Allowance
for price

adjustments Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 January 2015 653,905 816,791 (9,750) (322,739) (8,721) (27,300) 1,102,186
Charge/(credit) to profit or loss

for the year (note 14) 212,089 (793,782) – (60,061) 8,488 (230,523) (863,789)
Exchange differences (9,232) – – – 233 – (8,999)

        

At 31 December 2015 and
1 January 2016 856,762 23,009 (9,750) (382,800) – (257,823) 229,398

Charge/(credit) to profit or loss
for the year (note 14) 76,916 (92,894) – (13,294) – 91,195 61,923

Exchange differences 229 – – – – – 229
        

At 31 December 2016 933,907 (69,885) (9,750) (396,094) – (166,628) 291,550
        

The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances (after offset) for consolidated statement of financial 
position purposes:

2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$’000

Deferred tax liabilities 405,441 398,019
Deferred tax assets (113,891) (168,621)

   

291,550 229,398
   

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused tax losses and other deductible temporary 
differences of approximately HK$506,486,000 and HK$58,923,000 respectively (2015: HK$264,525,000 and 
HK$235,281,000 respectively) that are available for offsetting against future taxable profits. No deferred 
tax assets have been recognised to that effect due to unpredictability of future profit streams. Included in 
unrecognised tax losses are of approximately HK$399,445,000 (2015: HK$201,520,000) that will expire from 
2018 to 2021 (2015: from 2017 to 2020). Other tax losses and other deductible temporary differences may be 
carried forward indefinitely.

Temporary differences in connection with the interests in subsidiaries and associates are insignificant.
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34. Share Capital

2016 2015

Note
Number of

shares Amount
Number of

shares Amount
’000 HK$’000 ’000 HK$’000

Authorised:
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each 60,000,000 600,000 60,000,000 600,000

      

Issued and fully paid:
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each
At 1 January 13,085,721 130,857 13,068,128 130,681
Issue of shares under employees 

performance share schemes (a) 16,273 162 10,364 104
Issue of shares under share match 

scheme (b) 21,704 217 7,229 72
Issue of shares under open offer (c) 13,101,994 131,020 – –

      

At 31 December 26,225,692 262,256 13,085,721 130,857
      

Notes:

(a) During the year ended 31 December 2016, 16,272,730 (2015: 10,363,845) ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each pursuant to the 
employees performance share schemes of the Company were issued and allotted to the employees in Pakistan.

(b) During the year ended 31 December 2016, 21,703,384 (2015: 7,229,030) ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each pursuant to the share 
match scheme of the Company were issued and allotted to the employees in Pakistan.

(c) Pursuant to a resolution passed in the special general meeting held on 22 July 2016, the Board approved the proposed open 
offer issue on the basis of one offer share for every one existing share held by each qualifying shareholder on 4 August 2016 
at the subscription price of HK$0.20 per offer share (“Open Offer”). On 30 August 2016, the Open Offer was completed and 
13,101,994,107 new shares were issued and allotted, resulting in proceeds of approximately HK$2,620,399,000. On the same 
day, the premium on the issue of Open Offer shares amounted to approximately HK$2,453,078,000 (net of share issue expenses 
amounting to approximately HK$36,301,000) was credited to the Company’s share premium account.
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34. Share Capital (Continued)
The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going 
concern and to maximise the return to the shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity 
balance.

The Group monitors capital by maintaining a positive cash position throughout the year. The Group manages 
the capital structure and makes adjustments to it in the light of changes in economic conditions and the risk 
characteristics of the underlying assets. In order to maintain the capital structure, the Group may adjust the 
payment of dividends, issue new shares, buy back shares and raise new debts.

The Group’s strategy is to maintain a solid base to support the operations and development of its business 
in the long term. No changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes during the years ended 31 
December 2016 and 2015.

The Group monitors its capital structure with reference to its debt position. The Group’s strategy is to 
maintain the equity and debt in a balanced position and ensure there are adequate working capital to service 
its debt obligations. The Group’s debt to asset ratio, being the Group’s total liabilities over its total assets, at 
31 December 2016 was 33% (2015: 50%).

The externally imposed capital requirement for the Group are: (i) in order to maintain its listing on The Stock 
Exchange it has to have a public float of at least 25% of the issued shares; and (ii) to meet financial covenants 
attached to the interest-bearing borrowings.

The Group receives a report from the share registrars periodically on substantial share interests showing the 
non-public float and it demonstrates continuing compliance with the 25% limit throughout the year. As at 31 
December 2016, 28.49% (2015: 28.34%) of the shares were in public hands.

Breaches in meeting the financial covenants would permit the bank to immediately call borrowings. There 
have been no breaches in the financial covenants of any interest-bearing borrowing for the years ended 31 
December 2016 and 2015.
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35. Statement of Financial Position of the Company

2016 2015
Note HK$’000 HK$’000

Non-current assets

Investments in subsidiaries 66,965 87,509
Advances, deposits and prepayments – 11,489

    

66,965 98,998
    

Current assets

Trade and other receivables 1,829 3,832
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 2,646 2,630
Due from subsidiaries 1,924,832 1,266,858
Bank and cash balances 2,292,587 396,559

    

4,221,894 1,669,879
    

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 2,401 3,206
Financial guarantee contracts 21,480 26,952
Due to directors 9,558 8,324

    

33,439 38,482
    

Net current assets 4,188,455 1,631,397
    

Total assets less current liabilities 4,255,420 1,730,395
    

Capital and reserves

Share capital 262,256 130,857
Reserves 36(b) 3,993,164 1,599,538

    

TOTAL EQUITY 4,255,420 1,730,395
    

The Company’s statement of financial position was approved by the Board of Directors on 20 March 2017 
and signed on its behalf by:

Zhang Hong Wei Zhu Jun
Director Director
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36. Reserves
(a) Group

The amounts of Group’s reserves and the movements therein are presented in the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income and consolidated statement of changes in 
equity.

(b) Company

Share
premium
account

Contributed
surplus
reserve

Share-based
capital

reserve
Accumulated

losses Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 January 2015 13,312,566 – 14,258 (7,513,262) 5,813,562
Recognition of share-based payments – – 1,906 – 1,906
Expired of share-based payments – – (2,043) 2,043 –
Transfer (13,312,566) 13,312,566 – – –
Issue of shares under employees 

performance share schemes
(note 34(a)) 11,579 – – – 11,579

Issue of shares under share match 
scheme (note 34(b)) 6,361 – – – 6,361

Loss for the year – – – (4,233,870) (4,233,870)
      

At 31 December 2015 17,940 13,312,566 14,121 (11,745,089) 1,599,538
      

At 1 January 2016 17,940 13,312,566 14,121 (11,745,089) 1,599,538
Recognition of share-based payments – – 803 – 803
Issue of shares under employees 

performance share schemes
(note 34(a)) 10,903 – – – 10,903

Issue of shares under share match 
scheme (note 34(b)) 5,317 – – – 5,317

Issue of shares under open offer
(note 34(c)) 2,453,078 – – – 2,453,078

Loss for the year – – – (76,475) (76,475)
      

At 31 December 2016 2,487,238 13,312,566 14,924 (11,821,564) 3,993,164
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36. Reserves (Continued)
(c) Nature and purpose of reserves

(i) Share premium account

Share premium represents premium arising from the issue of shares at a price in excess of their 
par value per share and is not distributable but may be utilised in paying up unissued shares of 
the Company to be issued to the shareholders of the Company as fully paid bonus shares or in 
providing for the premiums payable on repurchase of shares.

(ii) Merger reserve

Merger reserve represents the difference between the nominal value of the shares of 
subsidiaries acquired and the market value of the shares issued by the Company as 
consideration for the acquisition.

(iii) Contributed surplus reserve

Contributed surplus reserve represents the amount available for distribution to the shareholders 
of the Company. It was transferred from share premium account pursuant to the special 
resolution passed at the annual general meeting held on 29 May 2015.

(iv) Capital reserve

Capital reserve represents the loan wavier made by the corporate shareholder, He Fu 
International Limited, to a former subsidiary, United Energy International Investments Limited.

(v) Foreign currency translation reserve

Foreign currency translation reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences arising from 
the translation of the financial statements of foreign operations. The reserve is dealt with in 
accordance with the accounting policies set out in note 4(d)(iii) to the consolidated financial 
statements.

(vi) Share-based capital reserve

The share-based capital reserve represents the fair value of the actual or estimated number of 
unexercised share options granted to employees of the Company recognised in accordance 
with the accounting policy adopted for share-based payments in note 4(w) to the consolidated 
financial statements.

37. Share-Based Payments
(a) Share option scheme

The Company’s share option scheme was adopted pursuant to the shareholders’ resolution passed 
on 11 May 2006 for the primary purpose of providing opportunity to directors, employees and 
consultants to acquire proprietary interests of the Group and was expired on 10 May 2016 (the “Old 
Scheme”).

On 27 May 2016, a new share option scheme (the “New Scheme”) was adopted by the shareholders 
of the Company pursuant to the shareholder’s resolution. Under the New Scheme, the Board of 
Directors of the Company may grant options to eligible person (including all directors, employees 
of the Group, consultants, advisors, agents, customers, service providers, contractors and business 
partners of any members of the Group).
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37. Share-Based Payments (Continued)
(a) Share option scheme (Continued)

The total number of shares in respect of which options may be granted under the New Scheme is 
not permitted to exceed 30% of the shares of the Company in issue from time to time. The number 
of shares issued and to be issued in respect of which options granted and may be granted to any 
individual is not permitted to exceed 10% of the shares of the Company in issue from time to time.

The exercise price is determined by the directors of the Company, and will not be less than the higher 
of (i) the closing price of the Company’s shares on the date of grant; (ii) the average closing price of 
the share for the five business dates immediately preceding the date of grant; and (iii) the nominal 
value of the Company’s shares.

Share options granted to any director, chief executive or substantial shareholder, or to any of their 
associates, are subject to approval in advance by the independent non-executive directors. In 
addition, any share options granted to substantial shareholders or an independent non-executive 
director of the Company, or to any of their associates, in excess of 0.1% of the shares of the Company 
in issue at any time or with an aggregate value (based on the price of the Company’s shares at the 
date of grant) in excess of HK$5 million, within 12 month period, are subject to shareholders’ approval 
in advance in general meeting.

During the year ended 31 December 2016, no share options were granted, exercised, lapsed or 
cancelled under the Old Scheme and New Scheme.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within 30 days from the date of offer, upon 
payment of a nominal consideration of HK$1 in total by the grantee.

As a result of the completion of the Open Offer and pursuant to (i) the Old Scheme; and (ii) the 
supplementary guidance issued by Stock Exchange on 5 September 2005 regarding adjustment 
of share options under Rule 17.03(13) of the Listing Rules, the exercise price of the outstanding 
share options granted by the Company (the “Share Options”) and the total number of shares of 
the Company comprised in the outstanding Share Options which may be allotted and issued upon 
exercise of all such Share Options there under were adjusted.
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37. Share-Based Payments (Continued)
(a) Share option scheme (Continued)

Details of the specific categories of options under the Old Scheme are as follows:

Number of share options
 

Grantee Date of grant Vesting period Exercise period
Adjusted

exercise price

Balance at
1 January 2016

before
open offer

Adjusted for
open offer

Outstanding
as at

31 December
2016

HK$

Employees 29.08.2012 29.08.2012 to 28.08.2013 29.08.2013 to 28.08.2022 0.93 5,400,000 1,576,991 6,976,991
29.08.2012 29.08.2012 to 28.08.2014 29.08.2014 to 28.08.2022 0.93 3,600,000 1,051,327 4,651,327
29.08.2012 29.08.2012 to 28.08.2015 29.08.2015 to 28.08.2022 0.93 3,600,000 1,051,327 4,651,327
29.08.2012 29.08.2012 to 28.08.2016 29.08.2016 to 28.08.2022 0.93 5,400,000 1,576,992 6,976,992

        

18,000,000 5,256,637 23,256,637
        

The options granted in 2012 had exercisable period of 10 years from the date of grant. If the options 
granted remain unexercised after the exercise period, the options expire. Options are forfeited if the 
employee leaves the Group.

Details of the share options outstanding during the year are as follows:

2016 2015

Number of
share options

Weighted
average

exercise price
Number of

share options

Weighted
average

exercise price
HK$ HK$

Outstanding at the beginning of
the year 18,000,000 1.200 20,000,000 1.235

Expired during the year – – (2,000,000) (1.550)
Adjustment for open offer 5,256,637 0.930 – –

     

Outstanding at the end of the year 23,256,637 0.930 18,000,000 1.200
     

Exercisable at the end of the year 23,256,637 0.930 12,600,000 1.200
     

The options outstanding at the end of the year have a weighted average remaining contractual 
life of 5.66 years (2015: 6.66 years) and the exercise price is HK$0.93 (2015: HK$1.20). The Group 
recognised the total expenses of approximately HK$803,000 (2015: HK$1,906,000) for the year ended 
31 December 2016 in relation to the Old Scheme.
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37. Share-Based Payments (Continued)
(a) Share option scheme (Continued)

The estimated fair values of the share options granted on 29 August 2012 is determined using the 
Binomial models. The respective fair value and significant inputs to the models were as follows:

Share option
grant date

29 August 2012

Model Binomial
Fair value at measurement date HK$14,924,000
Number of share options granted 18,000,000
Grant date share price HK$1.16
Exercise price HK$1.20
Expected volatility 97.91%
Risk free rate 0.676%
Expected life 10 years

Expected volatility was based on the historical volatility of the Company’s share price over the 
previous 10 years for the share options granted on 29 August 2012. The expected life used in the 
model has been adjusted, based on the Group’s best estimate, for the effects of non transferability, 
exercise restrictions and behavioural considerations.

(b) Employees performance shares schemes

Pursuant to the three separate announcements of the Company dated 28 December 2012, the 
Company introduced and adopted the performance share scheme, executive performance share 
scheme and deferred annual bonus scheme (collectively referred as the “Employees Performance 
Shares Schemes”) for the primary purpose of driving success and growth in the shareholder value 
of the Group and creating long-term value for the eligible employees of the Group. A trustee, as 
an independent third party, is appointed by the Company for the administration of the Employees 
Performance Share Schemes. The trustee shall purchase the shares (“Scheme Shares”) to be awarded 
to the eligible employees by way of either share allotment or acquisition from the market out of 
cash contributed by the Company. The trustee shall hold the Scheme Shares and the related income 
derived from the relevant Scheme Shares (the “Related Income”) in trust until they are vested to the 
eligible employees in accordance to the rules as set forth under the Employees Performance Shares 
Schemes and the trust deeds.

The Scheme Shares would be vested over a period of three years commencing from the first calendar 
day of the year in which the grant is made. The unvested Scheme Shares and the Related Income 
granted to the eligible employees shall automatically lapse upon the resignation of the employees.
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37. Share-Based Payments (Continued)
(b) Employees performance shares schemes (Continued)

The aggregate number of the Company’s shares which may be granted to the employees of the 
Group (including the eligible employees) under the Employee Performance Shares Schemes together 
with other share schemes is not permitted to exceed 10% of the total issued share capital of the 
Company from time to time. The maximum number of Company’s shares which may be vested in an 
employee of the Group (including the eligible employees) under the Employees Performance Shares 
Schemes together with other share schemes shall not exceed 1% of the total issued share capital of 
the Company from time to time.

The grant of the Scheme Shares and the number of Scheme Shares awarded or to be awarded to each 
eligible employee under the performance share scheme and executive performance share scheme 
shall be determined annually at the sole and absolute discretion of UEPL, considering inter alia but 
not exclusively the individual performance rating achieved by the eligible employees. The eligible 
employees will be assessed in each year starting from 1 January to 31 December (the “Assessment 
Year”) and if any Scheme Shares are to be granted under the performance share scheme and 
executive performance share scheme, the Scheme Shares will be granted in the following year.

The grant of the Scheme Shares under the deferred annual bonus scheme and the number of Scheme 
Shares awarded or to be awarded to each eligible employee shall be determined annually based 
on the results of the variable pay plan (the “VPP”) and the rewards of the performance unit in the 
corresponding Assessment Year. The VPP refers to an annual cash bonus scheme and rewards subject 
to the annual business of the UEPL and the individual performance of the eligible employees. Each 
eligible employee who is entitled to any cash bonus under the VPP in the Assessment Year shall 
automatically be entitled to a grant of the Scheme Shares under the deferred annual bonus scheme. 
The eligible employees will be assessed in each Assessment Year and if any Scheme Shares are to be 
granted under the deferred annual bonus scheme, the Scheme Shares will be granted in the following 
year.

Fair value of the Scheme Shares at the grant date is determined with reference to the closing market 
price of the Company’s ordinary share at the date of grant. The Group recognised the total expenses 
of approximately HK$9,977,000 (2015: HK$8,848,000) for the year ended 31 December 2016 in 
relation to the Employees Performance Share Schemes.

Subject to any early termination as may be determined by the board of the directors of the Company 
(the “Board”) pursuant to the scheme rules, the Employees Performance Shares Schemes shall be 
valid and effective for a term of ten years commencing from 28 December 2012.
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37. Share-Based Payments (Continued)
(b) Employees performance shares schemes (Continued)

Movements in the number of Scheme Shares granted under the Employees Performance Shares 
Schemes during the year are as follows:

Number of Scheme Shares 

Name of the scheme Date of grant
Fair value 
per share

Outstanding 
as at 

1 January  
2016

Granted 
during 

the year

Vested 
during 

the year

Lapsed
 during 

the year

Outstanding 
as at 

31 December 
2016 Vesting period

Performance share scheme 2 January 2013 HK$1.41 1,338,480 – (1,338,480) – – 2 January 2013 to
1 January 2016

Executive performance 
share scheme

2 January 2013 HK$1.41 1,232,317 – (1,232,317) – – 2 January 2013 to
1 January 2016

Deferred annual bonus 
scheme

2 January 2013 HK$1.41 1,310,452 – (1,310,452) – – 2 January 2013 to
1 January 2016

Performance share scheme 2 January 2014 HK$1.13 4,810,640 – (754,521) (91,457) 3,964,662 2 January 2014 to
1 January 2017

Executive performance 
share scheme

2 January 2014 HK$1.13 1,730,064 – – – 1,730,064 2 January 2014 to
1 January 2017

Deferred annual bonus 
scheme

2 January 2014 HK$1.13 2,122,932 – – – 2,122,932 2 January 2014 to
1 January 2017

Performance share scheme 2 January 2015 HK$1.12 5,484,541 – (913,392) – 4,571,149 2 January 2015 to
1 January 2018

Executive performance 
share scheme

2 January 2015 HK$1.12 1,727,835 – – – 1,727,835 2 January 2015 to
1 January 2018

Deferred annual bonus 
scheme

2 January 2015 HK$1.12 2,877,451 – – – 2,877,451 2 January 2015 to
1 January 2018

Performance share scheme 4 January 2016 HK$0.66 – 8,585,870 – – 8,585,870 4 January 2016 to
3 January 2019

Executive performance 
share scheme

4 January 2016 HK$0.66 – 2,845,845 – – 2,845,845 4 January 2016 to
3 January 2019

Deferred annual bonus 
scheme

4 January 2016 HK$0.66 – 4,841,015 – – 4,841,015 4 January 2016 to
3 January 2019

         

22,634,712 16,272,730 (5,549,162) (91,457) 33,266,823
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37. Share-Based Payments (Continued)
(c) Shares match scheme

Pursuant to the announcement of the Company dated 16 September 2011, the Company adopted the 
share match scheme with the objective to provide the employees in Pakistan with incentives in order 
to retain them for the continual operation and development of the Group in Pakistan and to attract 
suitable personnel for the growth and further development of the Group.

UEPL will issue an invitation letter to each of the eligible employees inviting them to enroll and 
participate in the share match scheme. Each eligible employee may indicate in the prescribed form 
to determine the sum of money contributing to the scheme (the “Employee Contribution Amount”) 
applicable to the coming scheme year starting from 1 September to 31 August (the “Scheme Year of 
Share Match Scheme”). The Company would also contribute its resources equivalent to the sum of the 
Employee Contribution Amount to the scheme (the “Employer Contribution Amount”).

For the purpose of the scheme, UEPL will refer to the closing price of the Company’s share as at the 
first calendar day of the Scheme Year of Share Match Scheme (the “Reference Date”) as reference 
price for ascertaining the number of the shares to which all the eligible employees are entitled (the 
“Ascertained Scheme Shares”) given the payment of the total sum of the Employee Contribution 
Amount and the Employer Contribution Amount (the “Ascertained Scheme Shares in Aggregate”).

The Company shall pay the aggregate sum of the Employee Contribution Amount and the Employer 
Contribution Amount of each of the eligible employee and the related acquisition expenses to 
the trustee for the acquisition of the Ascertained Scheme Shares in Aggregate. A trustee, as an 
independent third party, is appointed by the Company for the administration of the share match 
scheme. The trustee shall purchase the Ascertained Scheme Shares to be awarded to the eligible 
employees by way of share allotment or otherwise subject to and in accordance with the listing rule 
of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. The trustee shall hold the Ascertained Scheme Shares 
in trust until they are vested to the eligible employees in accordance to the rules of the share match 
scheme and the trust deed.

The Ascertained Scheme Shares from the Employer Contribution Amount would be vested over a 
period of three years in accordance with the timetable and conditions as imposed by the Board at its 
absolute direction, provided that the eligible employee remains under the employment of UEPL at all 
times after the Reference Date and on the relevant vesting date.

The aggregate number of the Company’s shares which may be granted to the employees of the 
Group (including the eligible employees) under the share match scheme together with other share 
schemes is not permitted to exceed 10% of the total issued share capital of the Company from time to 
time. The maximum number of Company’s shares which may be vested in an employee of the Group 
(including the eligible employees) under the share match scheme together with other share schemes 
shall not exceed 1% of the total issued share capital of the Company from time to time.

Subject to any early termination as may be determined by the Board pursuant to the scheme rules, 
the shares match scheme shall be valid and effective for a term of ten years commencing from 1 
September 2011.

Fair value of the Ascertained Scheme Shares at the grant date is determined with reference to the 
closing market price of the Company’s ordinary share as at the date of grant. The Group recognised 
the total expenses of approximately HK$2,914,000 (2015: HK$2,819,000) for the year ended 31 
December 2016 in relation to the share match scheme.
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37. Share-Based Payments (Continued)
(c) Shares match scheme (Continued)

Movements in the number of Ascertained Scheme Shares from the Employer Contribution Amount 
granted under the share match scheme during the year are as follows:

Number of Ascertained Scheme Shares from
the Employer Contribution Amount     

Date of grant
Fair value
per share

Outstanding 
as at 

1 January 
2016

Granted 
during 

the year

Vested 
during 

the year

Lapsed 
during 

the year

Outstanding 
as at 

31 December 
2016 Vesting period

2 September 2013 HK$1.17 2,249,637 – (2,226,435) (23,202) – 2 September 2013 to 
1 September 2016

2 September 2014 HK$1.15 2,755,584 – (73,503) (64,737) 2,617,344 2 September 2014 to 
1 September 2017

2 September 2015 HK$0.85 3,614,515 – (45,448) (68,172) 3,500,895 2 September 2015 to 
1 September 2018

1 September 2016 HK$0.26 – 10,851,692 – – 10,851,692 1 September 2016 to 
31 August 2019

        

8,619,736 10,851,692 (2,345,386) (156,111) 16,969,931
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38. Notes to the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
(a) Major non-cash transactions

For the year ended 31 December 2015, additions to unlisted investment fund of approximately 
HK$149,268,000 were financed by the facility provided by an independent financial institution.

(b) Disposal of subsidiaries

For year ended 31 December 2015, the Company entered into a share purchase agreement to 
disposal of its entire equity interest in its subsidiary, United Energy International Investments Limited 
(“UEIIL”) and its subsidiary to an independent third party at a consideration of approximately 
HK$113,160,000 (equivalent to approximately RMB89,462,000). The principal activities of UEIIL is 
investment holding.

Net assets at the date of disposal were as follows:

HK$’000

Bank and cash balances 131,160
  

Net assets disposed of 113,160
Release of foreign currency translation reserve (54,158)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries 54,158

  

Total consideration 113,160
  

Consideration satisfied by cash 113,160
  

Net cash inflow arising on disposal:
Cash consideration received 113,160
Cash and cash equivalents disposed of (113,160)

  

–
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39. Related Party Transactions
(a) Name and relationship with related parties:

Name of the related party Relationship

東方集團實業股份有限公司
(Orient Group Industrial Holdings Company Limited 

(“Orient Group Industrial”))#

Mr. Zhang Hong Wei is the ultimate 
controlling party and authorised 
representative of Orient Group Industrial

UEP Wind Power (PVT.) Limited (“UEP Wind Power”) Mr. Zhang Hong Wei has significant
influence over UEP Wind Power

東方集團股份有限公司 (Orient Group Co. Ltd.
(“Orient Group”))#

Mr. Zhang Hong Wei has significant
influence over the Orient Group

# The English translation of the company name is for reference only. The official name of the company is in Chinese.

(b) Orient Group Industrial has provided counter guarantees and corporate guarantees in favour of the 
Group against the bank loans made to the Group totalling approximately HK$3,169,142,000 at 31 
December 2016 (2015: HK$3,796,766,000).

(c) On 16 March 2015, UEPL entered into the short-term loan agreement with UEP Wind Power for short-
term financing the wind power project in Pakistan to be operated by UEP Wind Power. For the year 
ended 31 December 2015, UEPL received loan interest income of approximately HK$2,741,000 
(equivalent to approximately US$351,000) from UEP Wind Power.

(d) On 23 September 2016, the Company and Orient Group entered into a banking facility commitment 
letter with the amount up to approximately HK$9,828,000,000 (equivalent to US$1,260,000,000) 
(“Loan Facility”). The Loan Facility would be available upon the fulfilment of conditions as set out 
in the facility commitment letter. As at 31 December 2016, no withdrawal of the Loan Facility as the 
conditions for the availability of the Loan Facility have not yet fulfilled. Details of the Loan Facility are 
set out in the Company’s announcement dated 19 September 2016.

(e) The details of the remuneration paid to the key management personnel are set out in note 15 to the 
consolidated financial statements.
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40. Contingent Liabilities
(a) For the years ended 31 December 2016 and 2015, the Company issued various unlimited corporate 

guarantees in favour of the President of the Islamic Republic of Pakistan and certain joint operators of 
the Group, as guarantee to provide UEPL with all necessary financial and other means to enable UEPL 
to fully perform its obligations as stipulated in the concession agreements.

(b) At the end of the reporting period, the Company has issued an unlimited cross guarantee to a bank 
in respect of a banking facility granted to a subsidiary of the Company, UEG (HK). At the end of 
the reporting period, the directors do not consider it probable that a claim will be made against 
the Company under the above guarantee. The maximum liability of the Company at the end of 
the reporting period is the amount of bank loans drawn under the cross guarantee at that date of 
approximately HK$3,169,142,000 (2015: HK$3,796,766,000).

(c) As at 31 December 2015, the Company has issued a corporate guarantee in respect of the First 
Drawdown Notes issued by UEFBL under the Programme (note 31(b)). As at 31 December 2015, the 
directors do not consider it probable that a claim will be made against the Company under the above 
guarantee. The maximum liability of the Company as at 31 December 2015 is the amount of First 
Drawdown Note drawn under the corporate guarantee at that date of approximately HK$542,656,000. 
Such corporate guarantee has been released during the year.

(d) For the years ended 31 December 2016 and 2015, the Group had issued corporate guarantees 
granted to the collector of customs of Pakistan in case of any dispute arising on claim of exemptions of 
levies including custom duties and sales tax on import of machinery, equipment, materials, specialised 
vehicles, spares, chemicals and consumables under the petroleum concession agreement amounting 
to approximately HK$3,857,000 (2015: HK$243,000).

(e) During the year, certain subsidiaries of the Group have dispute with the Pakistan government on the 
applicability of windfall levy on its production of oil and condensate. The execution of windfall levy is 
subject to series of government’s approval process and is still not effective at the end of the reporting 
period. The management believes that the likelihood of the execution and applicability of windfall 
levy to oil and gas industry is low. If the Group is found liable upon the approval and effective of the 
windfall levy, the contingent liability as at 31 December 2016 was approximately HK$179,229,000 
(2015: HK$Nil).
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41. Capital Commitments
The Group’s capital commitments at the end of reporting periods are as follows:

(a)
2016 2015

HK$’000 HK$’000

Contracted but not provided for:
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment 509 61,637
Commitments for capital expenditure 367,656 297,500
Acquisition of financial instruments (note i) – 1,913,052
Acquisition of working interest in concession 125,580 –

   

493,745 2,272,189
   

(i) As referred to note 24, it represents the aggregate investment sum in relation to the 
Subscription and the Offer.

(b) On 20 October 2014, the Group established a wholly owned subsidiary, United Energy (Beijing) 
Limited (“UEBL”) in the PRC with registered capital of approximately HK$111,590,000 (equivalent 
to approximately RMB100,000,000) (2015: HK$119,410,000 (equivalent to approximately 
RMB100,000,000)). At 31 December 2016, the Group has contributed approximately HK$13,665,000 
(equivalent to approximately RMB12,246,000) (2015: HK$14,623,000 (equivalent to approximately 
RMB12,246,000)) to UEBL. In accordance with the memorandum of association of UEBL, the remaining 
balance of approximately HK$97,925,000 (equivalent to approximately RMB87,754,000) (2015: 
HK$104,787,000 (equivalent to approximately RMB87,754,000)) shall be contributed to UEBL within 
twenty years from the date of its establishment.

(c) Pursuant to the shareholder agreement dated 25 November 2016, the Company, Orient Group 
Investment Holding Limited and Orient Group agreed to jointly incorporate a company, 東方藝
術品有限公司 in the PRC with registered capital of approximately HK$111,590,000 (equivalent 
to RMB100,000,000). According to the agreement, the Company is committed to contribute 
approximately HK$22,318,000 (equivalent to approximately RMB20,000,000) as 20% registered share 
capital of 東方藝術品有限公司. At 31 December 2016, the incorporation was still under process and 
the Company has yet to make the contribution. Details of the transaction are set out in the Company’s 
announcement dated 25 November 2016.
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42. Operating Lease Commitments
At the end of reporting periods the total future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating 
leases are payable as follows:

2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$’000

Within one year 17,447 23,691
In the second to fifth years inclusive 18,925 23,538

   

36,372 47,229
   

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the Group for certain of its offices, staff quarters, 
motor vehicles and plant and machinery. Leases are negotiated for an average term of 2.7 years (2015: 3.05 
years) and rentals are fixed over the lease terms and do not include contingent rentals.

43. Retirement Benefits Scheme
Hong Kong

The Group participates in the mandatory provident fund scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) established under 
the MPF Scheme Ordinance. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the Group in 
funds under the control of an independent trustee. Under the rules of the MPF Scheme, the employer and 
its employees are each required to make contributions to the scheme at rates specified in the rules. The only 
obligation of the Group with respect to the MPF Scheme is to make the required contributions under the 
scheme. No forfeited contributions are available to reduce contributions payable in future years.

The Group’s contribution under the MPF Scheme for the year ended 31 December 2016 amounted to 
approximately HK$144,000 (2015: HK$114,000).

PRC

According to the relevant laws and regulations in the PRC, the Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC are required 
to contribute a specified percentage of the payroll of their employees to the retirement benefits schemes 
to fund the retirement benefits of their employees. The only obligation of the Group with respect to the 
retirement benefits schemes is to make the required contributions under the respective schemes.

The Group’s contribution under the respective schemes for the year ended 31 December 2016 amounted to 
approximately HK$10,434,000 (2015: HK$11,259,000).
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43. Retirement Benefits Scheme (Continued)
Pakistan

(a) Funded Gratuity Scheme

According to the Income Tax Ordinance in Pakistan, a defined contribution gratuity fund is being 
maintained for all permanent employees, established under a Trust Deed. Contributions to the fund 
are as per Trust Deed, based on each individual employee’s salary, number of years of service and 
contribution rate applicable to the employee’s level or grade.

The Group’s contribution under the scheme for the year ended 31 December 2016 amounted to 
approximately HK$17,585,000 (2015: HK$26,859,000).

(b) Contributory Provident Fund

A defined contribution provident fund is being maintained for all permanent employees in Pakistan. 
Monthly contributions are made to the fund both by the Group and the employees at the rate of 10% 
of basic salary. The only obligation of the Group with respect to the contributory provident fund is to 
make the required contributions under the scheme.

The Group’s contribution under the scheme for the year ended 31 December 2016 amounted to 
approximately HK$11,248,000 (2015: HK$12,230,000).

44. Subsidiaries
Particulars of the subsidiaries as at 31 December 2016 are as follows:

Name

Place of
incorporation/
registration

Issued and fully 
paid share capital/
registration capital

Proportion of ownership interest

Principal activities

 

Group’s 
effective
interest 

Held by 
the 

Company
Held by

subsidiaries

Fine Profit Corporation
Limited

Hong Kong HK$10,000 100% 100% – Provision of administrative 
services

United Energy Group (HK) 
Limited

Hong Kong HK$100 100% 100% – Investment holding

United Energy International 
Finance Limited

Hong Kong HK$1 100% 100% – Provision of group financing 
supporting services

Universe Oil & Gas (China), 
LLC (note a)

PRC US$10,000,000 70% – 100% Engaged in provision of 
patented technology 
support services to 
oilfields

United Petroleum & Natural 
Gas (Panjin) Limited#

(note a)

PRC RMB100,000,000 100% – 100% Provision of group financing 
supporting services

United Energy (Beijing)
Limited# (note a)

PRC RMB12,246,200 100% – 100% Provision of administrative 
services



1372016 ANNUAL REPORT

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2016

Name

Place of
incorporation/
registration

Issued and fully 
paid share capital/
registration capital

Proportion of ownership interest

Principal activities

 

Group’s 
effective
interest 

Held by 
the 

Company
Held by

subsidiaries

United Petroleum & Natural 
Gas Investments Limited

British Virgin 
Islands

US$50,000 100% 100% – Investment holding

Merry Year Investments 
Limited

British Virgin 
Islands

US$100 100% 100% – Investment holding

Universe Energy International 
Investment Limited

British Virgin 
Islands

US$100 70% – 70% Investment holding

Gold Trade Group Limited British Virgin 
Islands

US$10 100% 100% – Investment holding

Classic Trade Holdings
Limited

British Virgin 
Islands

US$100 100% 100% – Investment holding

United Energy International 
Trading Limited

British Virgin 
Islands

US$100 100% – 100% Investment holding

Vision Peak Investments 
Limited

British Virgin 
Islands

US$10 100% 100% – Investment holding

United Energy (China)
Limited

British Virgin 
Islands

US$1,000 100% 100% – Investment holding

United Energy International 
Finance Limited

British Virgin 
Islands

US$1,000 100% 100% – Dormant

Oasis Natural Energy Inc Republic of 
Panama

US$10,000 100% – 100% Investment holding

BowEnergy Resources 
(Pakistan) SRL

Barbados US$9,775,568 100% – 100% Engaged in activities 
relating to the exploration 
and production of crude 
oil and natural gas in 
Pakistan

United Energy Financing 
(Bermuda) Limited

Bermuda US$100 100% 100% – Provision of group financing 
supporting services

United Energy Pakistan 
Holdings Limited

Mauritius US$1 100% 100% – Investment holding

44. Subsidiaries (Continued)
Particulars of the subsidiaries as at 31 December 2016 are as follows:  (Continued)
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Name

Place of
incorporation/
registration

Issued and fully 
paid share capital/
registration capital

Proportion of ownership interest

Principal activities

 

Group’s 
effective
interest 

Held by 
the 

Company
Held by

subsidiaries

United Energy Pakistan
Limited

Mauritius US$1 100% – 100% Engaged in activities 
relating to the exploration 
and production of crude 
oil and natural gas in 
Pakistan

Gold Trade International 
Limited

Mauritius US$1 100% – 100% Provision of group financing 
supporting services

Super Success International 
Holdings Limited

Mauritius US$1 100% 100% – Investment holding

United Energy Global
Trading Limited

Mauritius US$1 100% 100% – Dormant

United Energy (Singapore) 
Resources Pte. Limited

Singapore S$10,000,000 100% – 100% Not yet commenced 
business

Note a: Wholly foreign owned enterprise established in the PRC in accordance with relevant laws and regulations.

# The English translation of the company names is for reference only. The official names of these companies are in Chinese.

44. Subsidiaries (Continued)
Particulars of the subsidiaries as at 31 December 2016 are as follows:  (Continued)
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45. Joint Operations
As at 31 December 2016, the particulars of the joint arrangements of the Group, all of which are not 
structured through separate vehicles, are set out as follows:

Concession/project name
Place of
business

Proportion of
participating

interest held by
the Group Principal activities

2016 2015

Badin II Pakistan 51% 51% Exploration and production of 
crude oil and natural gas

Badin II Revised Pakistan 76% 76% Exploration and production of 
crude oil and natural gas

Badin III Pakistan 60% 60% Exploration and production of 
crude oil and natural gas

Mehran Pakistan 75% 75% Exploration and production of 
crude oil and natural gas

Mirpurkhas Pakistan Exploration and production of 
crude oil and natural gas– exploration 95% 95%

– development and production 75% 75%
Khipro Pakistan Exploration and production of 

crude oil and natural gas– exploration 95% 95%
– development and production 75%  75%

Offshore Block “U” Pakistan 72.5% 72.5% Exploration of crude oil and 
natural gas

Offshore Block “S” Pakistan 50% 50% Exploration of crude oil and 
natural gas

Digri Pakistan 75% 75% Exploration of crude oil and 
natural gas

Gaosheng Block PRC Production of incremental 
crude oil– development capital 

expenditure share
– 70%

– incremental operating 
expenditure share

– 60%

– incremental oil share – 60%

46. Comparative Figures
Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to conform to the current year’s presentation. The new 
classification of the accounting items was considered to provide more appropriate presentation of the state 
of affairs of the Group. The comparative loss and cash flows from discontinued operation have been re-
presented to include those operations classified as discontinued in the current year.
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Results

Year ended 31 December
2016 2015 2014 2013 2012

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
(Restated)

Turnover 4,061,024 5,231,023 6,120,229 4,787,556 3,213,793
      

Profit before tax 1,201,575 641,704 2,118,457 1,200,318 683,647
Income tax credit/(expenses) (176,662) (117,429) (304,011) (27,128) 109,864

      

Profit for the year from 
continuing operations 1,024,913 524,275 1,814,446 1,173,190 793,511

      

Loss for the year from 
discontinued operation (64,560) (3,474,895) – – –

      

Attributable to:
Owners of the Company 965,008 (2,943,674) 1,827,887 1,215,211 786,412
Non-controlling interests (4,655) (6,946) (13,441) (42,021) 7,099

      

960,353 (2,950,620) 1,814,446 1,173,190 793,511
      

As at 31 December
2016 2015 2014 2013 2012

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Total Assets 15,496,639 13,713,810 18,540,265 16,756,548 14,811,860
Total Liabilities (5,073,095) (6,872,201) (8,722,893) (8,773,617) (8,035,047)

      

Net Assets 10,423,544 6,841,609 9,817,372 7,982,931 6,776,813
      

Equity attributable to owners of 
the Company 10,400,217 6,811,894 9,778,958 7,930,771 6,685,135

Non-controlling interests 23,327 29,715 38,414 52,160 91,678
      

Total equity 10,423,544 6,841,609 9,817,372 7,982,931 6,776,813
      

Note:

The 2015 comparative figures have been restated and reclassified to conform to the current year’s presentation. The comparative loss from 
discontinued operation has been re-presented under discontinued operation separately in the current year.
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